

Contents

Foreword		
Executive summary	6	
Introduction	14	
Evidence gathering	16	
Chapter 1:The findings from the Interim Report	17	
- Positives	17	
- Limitations	17	
Chapter 2: Our vision	20	
Chapter 3: Better strategy, policy and delivery	23	
- Rough Sleeping Strategy	23	
- Delivery and implementation	25	
- Monitoring and data	29	
- Commissioning	31	
Chapter 4: Roles of accommodation and service models	35	
- Prevention services	35	
- Street outreach and emergency accommodation	38	
Street outreach	38	
Emergency accommodation	40	
- Supported housing	43	
- Housing First	45	
- Social housing	46	
- Private rented sector	49	

Chapter 5: Addressing unfairness and inequalities	50
- Non-UK nationals	50
- Wider equality issues	53
Women	53
Young people	56
LGBTQ+	59
BAME	59
Vaccination	61
- Criminal Justice System	62
Vagrancy Act	62
Immigration rules	64
Conclusion	65
Recommendations	66
Appendices	75
- Appendix A: Glossary	75
- Appendix B: Bilateral meetings	78
References	79
Acknowledgements	87

Foreword

Street homelessness, or 'rough sleeping' as it is commonly called, is deeply damaging to those experiencing it and to society at large. The health consequences of prolonged street homelessness are known to be severe and the costs of treatment and support escalate sharply the longer people are on the streets. For homeless young women, the risks of exploitation are high.

There is a shared and laudable ambition across the political parties to end rough sleeping and homelessness for good.

The Covid-19 pandemic might have been a reason for that ambition to have faltered. That it did not was in good part due to the success of the Everyone In campaign, which had one simple but powerful aim — to help people sleeping rough off the streets and into Covid-secure accommodation to allow them to protect themselves from the virus.

Everyone In was an emergency response to a health crisis. Enormous credit goes to the Government and Dame (now Baroness) Louise Casey for leading the initiative, and to local government, health and homelessness charities and providers for the way that they responded.

By almost any measure, the initiative was a resounding success. Some 37,000 people were brought in off the streets according to Government estimates. An article in The Lancet calculated that at least 260 deaths had been avoided. So why did it succeed when other pandemic initiatives clearly did not? And how can that success be embedded in the future?

As we move into a new phase of responding to the pandemic, however, the key question is how can we learn the lessons of Everyone In and harness them to find permanent solutions to rough sleeping. This is the question that the independent Commission I have chaired has sought to address and the conclusions of which are set out in this Final Report. This report also covers the recommendations that we made in my interim report on the longer term funding that will be needed to make the solutions a reality.

Perhaps inevitably, there is not one single answer but a series of actions covering prevention, early response, and new provision. Taken together, they add up to a substantial system change from the way things have been done up until now. All are practical and deliverable. At its heart is stronger cross-government planning and coordination, sufficient funding, and embedding a new level of collaboration and partnership across local government, health, and housing and homelessness providers.

The starting point must be responding rapidly to the individual needs of those who are rough sleeping or at risk of doing so. We must not let the institutional barriers that so rapidly came down during the pandemic creep up again.

A crucial insight from the work of the Commission is that rough sleeping and homelessness must be seen as **both** a housing **and** a health issue. Poor health is both a cause and a consequence of homelessness. Early action can prevent much greater health issues later on.

Another key issue that came through was the importance of recognising the different and specific needs of people who are homeless, particularly women, young people and those without confirmed settled status in the UK and who have no recourse to public funds.

There are tricky and sometimes conflicting issues for everyone involved. We have worked hard through the Commission, and with its 21-member Advisory Board, to find the points of common ground whilst at the same time not shying away from those issues where radical change is needed. I thank all members for their insight, expertise and willingness to think about their own contributions, as well as those of others. There are challenges in delivering the recommendations for all parties, not just Government. But I'm convinced that without clear and positive action on these recommendations, the goal of ending rough sleeping will not be met and we will lose the gains that have been achieved.

Whilst the report is in my name, it is the product of a huge amount of work by others. I owe a huge debt of gratitude to all those who submitted evidence and participated in the Advisory Board and bilateral meetings. We received in excess of 100 submissions of evidence and had meetings, focus groups and workshops with organisations across the country. I hope that the Final Report does justice to your contributions. My particular thanks go to the St Mungo's team who have provided absolutely terrific support throughout the review. St Mungo's is very fortunate to have them!

There is a choice now for Government and all those involved in preventing and tackling rough sleeping. We can build on the success of Everyone In and use it as a spur to change and improve or we can slip backwards and miss the opportunity. This, in my view, would be a dereliction of duty to protect some of society's most vulnerable people.

Chairing this Commission has been a great privilege for me. I have seen for myself the passion and commitment of those who are working on these challenging and complex issues. It is only right that the last word is saved for the people who had the most profound effect on me and the Commission; those with direct experience of sleeping on the streets. We are honoured and grateful that they chose and felt able to share their stories with us and their experiences alone should give us all the determination to not let this pivotal moment pass.

Lord Bob Kerslake, Chair of the Kerslake Commission



Executive summary

In its 2019 General Election manifesto, the Conservative Party committed to ending rough sleeping by 2024. The monumental effort during the pandemic to get 'everyone in' has shown that this is possible and has redefined what can be achieved when all partners work together towards a singular shared goal. It is pivotal that the good work during this period is embedded into the system, so that this is not confined to a crisis response, but creates long term lasting change.

According to Government estimates, 37,000 individuals were brought inside during the emergency response, with more than 26,000 already moved on into longer-term accommodation. The response saved at least 226 lives, prevented 21,092 infections, and avoided 1,164 hospital and 338 Intensive Care Unit admissions.

In many cases, the response also connected people sleeping rough to the care, support and treatment they desperately need. This is a result of a burgeoning recognition that rough sleeping is not just a housing problem, but a whole system problem, and therefore needs a fully collaborative response between every part of the supporting framework, from housing to health to welfare to the criminal justice system.

However, the virus has not gone away and continues to damage lives, with those sleeping rough disproportionately at risk. A transition from the pandemic emergency response and the reduction and withdrawal of some emergency measures must not mean an increased flow of people onto the streets. A response to this immediate issue must be maintained, alongside a long-term and sustainable plan for recovery.

Addressing rough sleeping is vital, not just for the human toll – which is vast – but also the financial cost. The cost of a single person sleeping rough in the UK for 12 months is estimated at £20,128. Rough sleeping has a huge cost on health care systems, including mental health services and emergency services at hospitals; on criminal justice systems; and on social care services, to name but a few. As a whole systems problem, it has a whole systems cost, with the ripple effect felt throughout

public expenditure. The cost of intervening early on to prevent people from sleeping rough in the first place, saves far more expensive interventions further along the line.

The Kerslake Commission Interim Report

The Kerslake Commission Interim Report gave an authoritative overview of what had happened during this incredible public health emergency response to rough sleeping, and what lessons can be learnt. It also set out a series of recommendations targeted at the forthcoming Spending Review.

Positives

The Interim Report summarised that the clear messaging and hands on support from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG), since renamed as the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities, helped galvanise local authorities in the early stages of the pandemic; and crucially was held up through existing and additional funding, and the investment in long term accommodation which supported sustainable recovery. At the heart of the response was clear direction to local authorities – at least initially – to help 'everyone' at risk of rough sleeping, effectively derogating rules on priority need, local connection and No Recourse to Public Funds. This improved knowledge of, engagement with and outcomes among groups that had previously fallen through the gaps of support.

By treating rough sleeping as a public health issue, rather than just a housing issue, the response also saw a substantial and increased engagement from

the health sector with rough sleeping. Clinical cohorting of clients by health needs shone a light on clinical vulnerabilities and allowed for a better understanding and treatment of clients. The public health approach also led to an increase in innovation and creativity, which was solution focused and facilitated the delivery of personcentred support.

Crucially, the provision of food and good quality, self-contained accommodation was key in encouraging people to come inside and facilitated the in-reach of multi-agency services, particularly health. By providing nutrition and a safe and comfortable environment, it gave clients the headspace to improve their health and housing situation.

These changes were also underpinned by preventative measures taken by the Government in the form of welfare changes which raised income and increased housing options. This makes both humanitarian and financial sense. These changes should be continued to stop people from ever sleeping rough in the first place. Ending them will threaten any progress made in terms of preventing rough sleeping during the last 18 months. Although the primary focus of the Kerslake Commission is on rough sleeping – the most visible and dangerous form of homelessness – there is a body of work that must be looked to on preventing the wider problem of homelessness. Homelessness in any form is hugely damaging to the individual and to wider society.

Limitations

There were also limitations in the pandemic response. The short-term and piecemeal nature of funding was highlighted as a crucial issue, as it caused anxiety among clients about when offers of support would end and hampered local authorities' ability to commission effectively, strategically plan or revise existing initiatives. It also created additional difficulties for frontline providers, as services would face a rapid turnover of staff towards the contract end and struggle to retain skilled workers.

Some services moved online, making them harder to access for those who experience digital exclusion. The emergency response was less effective at meeting the needs of women and young people, where the lack of

tailored provision meant these groups did not come inside or were placed at risk in mixed environments. There was also a significant degree of local variation in response: first, areas without pooled resources and connections struggled to meet the mark; second, when the Government reminded local authorities in May 2020 that there were legal restrictions on offering support to those who had no recourse to public funds, this created confusion as to whom was eligible for support.

The Kerslake Commission Final Report

The Kerslake Commission's Final Report has examined what system change is needed to embed the lessons learnt from the emergency response to rough sleeping, addressing both the positives and the problems exacerbated by the pandemic. Importantly, the report also highlights recommendations called for prior to the pandemic, which remain fundamental to the goal of ending rough sleeping. In many ways, the pandemic has acted as a platform to take forward lessons previously learnt. These must not be forgotten.

Vision

Crucially, to end rough sleeping by 2024, the system has to prevent people from arriving at a crisis point. When rough sleeping does occur, it should be brief and with a sustained and long-term recovery.

The approach must be person-centred, and the services and systems which support a person to prevent or recover from rough sleeping must be co-designed. Prevention, not cure, must be the driving force. It requires a whole systems approach, with all agencies and bodies working together in a fully integrated way. The core service offer must be traumainformed and psychologically informed, with a workforce which is trained to respond to the needs of the individual.

When people do reach crisis point, there needs to be help for them to recover quickly and be equipped with the tools to maintain their recovery. This requires appropriate accommodation, which is good quality and gives the person dignity, alongside the right level of support. There must be an increase in tailored

provision for people who face additional distinct barriers. There will be additional costs involved, but preventing rough sleeping and homelessness, and responding to it quickly and effectively when it does occur, is a moral imperative and will bring with it substantial savings in the future.

Better strategy, policy and delivery

The Everyone In initiative was an emergency response and a longer-term strategy is vital to ensure any gains made and lessons learnt, during this period, are not lost. One of the core aspects of this Rough Sleeping Strategy must be partnership working across central, regional and local government and its various delivery agencies.

Delivery and implementation of this strategy is also key. However, prior to the pandemic, and during the emergency response, there has been significant local variation between local authorities which stems from issues surrounding capacity and resources and the ability of local authorities or their partners to prevent and address homelessness and rough sleeping. This difference in provision, as well as funding limitations, can then result in authorities which do offer a service having to ration provision to prevent being overwhelmed.

The aspiration should be that gatekeeping policies become less relevant, by reducing the number of people coming onto the street in the first place and ensuring all areas have the capacity to respond to the needs of the people sleeping rough in their local communities.

Accurate monitoring and data recording is essential to achieving this, alongside understanding and measuring the scale of the problem and what resources are needed. However, currently there is incoherence in what data is captured across the country, making it difficult to measure activity and impact and share information.

Commissioning is key and currently all too often hinders partnership working. For commissioners, pressure on budgets prompts strict and rigid service access criteria, and focus on narrow outcomes as opposed to addressing the wider set of issues which contribute to rough sleeping. For providers, competing budget constraints

caused by having separate funding pots can create incentives to reduce provision and push people onto other service caseloads. Current practice, where people are identified as having a 'primary presenting need' and pushed into rigid single focus pathways, can compound these problems. As discussed in the Interim Report, partnership working has been the defining characteristic of the pandemic response and can – and should – be maintained through joined up commissioning processes.

With limited capacity and funding, local authorities have also been understandably reluctant to commission more tailored services – for those with extreme clinical vulnerability for example – if there is only a small number of individuals who require it within their area. In addition to increased capacity and funding, this could also be addressed through changes in commissioning to look further at pan-regional and sub-regional models. The pandemic further demonstrated this model through the hotel provision, where people could be referred into these from any local authority, with the referral based on need rather than geographical location.

Roles of accommodation and service models

The right accommodation with the right support at the right time plays a huge part in both preventing homelessness and supporting an individual to recover from it. The fundamental challenge of the availability and quality of housing and support continues to have a huge impact on what any service can do.

The Everyone In initiative demonstrated that it is possible to implement targeted interventions on a national scale to prevent people at the sharp end of homelessness from sleeping rough. These interventions can provide a final safety net for those people who have not been helped earlier. The next step is to maintain these targeted interventions at a crucial point before they sleep rough.

However, a significant barrier to delivering rough sleeping prevention is the need for verification – the requirement for people to be seen and recorded as rough sleeping by outreach workers in order to access the many services and accommodation. As highlighted in the Interim Report, during the Everyone

In initiative some local authorities effectively derogated rules on verification, allowing local authorities and frontline services to quickly provide shelter at the point of need and without having to check eligibility. This helped improve engagement and outcomes among groups that had previously fallen through the gaps of support. Going forward, verification should be a part of the assessment, rather than a requirement for accessing help.

Assertive outreach — which played a key role during in Everyone In — is also vital in any approach to ending rough sleeping. However, due to the lack of embedded mental health or drug and alcohol support in outreach teams, (a result of funding constraints due to decreases in the public health grant I), outreach workers are left to fulfil too many specialist roles which they are not equipped or trained to do.

In regards to accommodation, there was a broad agreement within the evidence submissions that emergency accommodation should only ever be for short term use, to offer immediate protection from the dangers of sleeping rough. In instances outside of emergency assessments, dormitory style accommodation was criticised for not being psychologically informed, for eroding dignity and wellbeing, and for being a public health risk. Yet many local authorities are reliant on communal night shelters, particularly during severe weather protocols, and lack long term preventative planning.

There are also issues in the quality of homelessness accommodation, including exempt accommodation, which varies dramatically. It is important that over time the sector works with the Government and local authorities so that the overall balance of provision is shifted away from short term accommodation, such as hostels, towards longer term alternatives.

Housing First is one such longer term alternative which provides a tenancy as a platform for change, with intensive and flexible support to help clients address their needs at their pace. What came through strongly in the Commission's evidence submissions was that Housing First, and the principles that put the individual and the support they want and need at the forefront, should be a key component in the approach to ending rough sleeping. This will require investment from Government, as well

as an adequate supply of social housing. A starting point would be to extend the Housing First pilots.

Social housing is often the best route for those with a history of rough sleeping. Unfortunately for those in desperate need, social housing has become scarce due to a decline in new supply and a depletion of existing stock. Local authorities therefore ration their social housing by restricting who can qualify to go onto housing waiting lists. The restrictions have a disproportionate impact on people with experience of homelessness and rough sleeping. There is a further challenge of housing associations – which own 60% of social housing – having understandable concerns about their own expertise in supporting tenants with high or complex needs. This could be assisted by greater dialogue between housing associations and local authorities. However, the core of the problem is insufficient suitable homes. A crucial step in ending rough sleeping is therefore increasing the supply of social housing.

As highlighted in evidence submissions, the private rented sector (PRS) is housing an increasing number of people who are moving on from rough sleeping. The main challenges associated with PRS include: high rental costs, insecurity of tenure, low quality of accommodation, and the reluctance of landlords to let to individuals on benefits and/or with a homeless history. The PRS has a role to play in supporting people's recovery from homelessness, but the Government must urgently bring in its proposed reforms to ensure that tenants are protected from the risk of homelessness.

Addressing unfairness and inequalities

Since single white men who are UK nationals are the most represented in homelessness services, support is generally geared to meet their needs.

One particular group who need tailored support are non-UK nationals who may, due to their immigration status, have no or limited access to public funds. Resolving immigration matters is difficult technically and almost always requires professional support, yet independent immigration advice has been cut following the Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012 (LASPO).² For some individuals, having restricted access to support



causes destitution, which was exacerbated during the pandemic despite emergency accommodation being made available for those sleeping rough.

It is important that people who are homeless are not treated as one homogenous group. Rather, a tailored, informed and inclusive offer of support is needed to address homelessness. Being young, LGBTQ+, BAME, or a woman, for example, all shape someone's experience of homelessness. Many women or young people are hidden homeless, meaning they are hidden from help, missing from homelessness services and rendered statistically invisible.

The Government is now following a policy response of 'living with Covid-19.' This raises significant concerns around the impact this will have on a population who are generally more clinically vulnerable, with lower rates of vaccination, in comparison with the general population. Given the potential for further outbreaks, it is critical that steps are taken to prevent Covid-19 from becoming a permanent health crisis for people who are experiencing homelessness, and exacerbating health inequalities further:

The criminal justice system also has a significant relationship with homelessness and rough sleeping, as spending time in prison increases the risk of homelessness, and a lack of stable accommodation then increases the risk of (re-)offending. Despite this, ex-offenders and those leaving prison do not always receive the support they need, with some people provided with no more than tents and sleeping bags on release from prison.

The self-perpetuating cycle of homelessness and experience of the criminal justice system is further exacerbated by the criminalisation of rough sleeping. This is through both the existence of the Vagrancy Act 1824, as well as the potential impact of the recent changes to the immigration rules which introduce rough sleeping as a new basis on which the Home Office can refuse or cancel permission to stay in the UK.

Headline recommendations:

Everyone has a responsibility to adopt a consistent and collaborative approach to support people in need to live their best life. Preventing, addressing and supporting recovery from homelessness and rough sleeping should be a shared ambition that cuts across all agencies, and cannot fall on one sector. When we work together it is remarkable what can be achieved.

This is very much a collective effort. Although the following recommendations name specific actors, this is to highlight a leading role, not an exclusive one. Every one of these recommendations requires supporting actors to fully engage as ending rough sleeping requires an integrated, system-wide approach.

The full list of recommendations can be found on page 66 of the report.

Central government

The Everyone In initiative showed the difference it makes when central government embraces its leadership role and provides clear direction to delivery partners. The Government must continue to take ownership of rough sleeping and homelessness.

- A longer term rough sleeping strategy is needed if the Government is to achieve and sustain its goal to end rough sleeping by 2024. Building on the success of Everyone In and the lessons learnt, the new Inter-Ministerial Group on rough sleeping, led by the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC), should set out the overarching vision of the Government, publishing a cross-Government national strategy with clear expectations and strategic engagement with key agencies, and an explicit focus on prevention. The strategy should be accompanied by a published annual review of performance, no later than three months after the annual count. This annual performance review should be carried out by DLUHC, working with regional and local government, and be used to analyse national trends and identify gaps in provision and strategy. A key responsibility for the Inter-Ministerial Group in its terms of reference must be to push for cross government investment to enable delivery of the strategy.
- To support a whole systems approach to street homelessness, the Government should extend the Homelessness Reduction Act's Duty to Refer³ to a Duty to Collaborate with relevant public agencies to both prevent and respond to homelessness. This should include the Department of Health and Care (DHSC) and health services, Department of Work and Pensions and its agencies, the Home Office, the Ministry of Justice and its agencies and other government agencies with an involvement in homelessness and rough sleeping services. An example of this collaboration would be the sharing of data within Caldicott Principles.
- The challenge of local variation, where this leads to differences in performance, can be addressed through the Government commissioning tripartite reviews of performance in homelessness services, including prevention and long term provision and support. Driving this system requires joined up performance management involving (1) local authorities, (2) local delivery partners, and (3) cross Governmental departments and bodies, namely DLUHC, DHSC, the NHS and the Office for Health Improvement and Disparities. The aim should be to find what has and has not worked for partner agencies, where there are issues of resourcing, and support improvement using examples of good practice. This should build on the successful DLUHC advisers model and be supplemented by direct offers of support, including the option of peer review. The Local Government Association has a role in supporting the development of good practice.

- To prevent an increased flow of people onto the streets, the Government must retain the welfare changes that have kept people afloat during the pandemic, whereby Local Housing Allowance rates were raised to the 30th percentile of local rents and Universal Credit received an uplift of £20 per week. In addition, the Government should review the benefit cap and seek to increase it in areas with high affordability pressure, and provide a financial package of support for people in arrears due to the pandemic.
- The Government must establish a clear policy position that limiting access to benefits for non-UK nationals should stop short of causing destitution. Destitution can be prevented through investing in good quality independent immigration and welfare advice and employment support, clear guidance on access to benefits for non-UK nationals whose status is yet to be determined and simpler and faster processes to clarify people's immigration status. Local authorities should be provided with guidance on what it means to 'exhaust all options within the law' to support those who are sleeping rough and are not eligible for statutory homelessness assistance, due to their immigration status. Local authorities should be provided with financial compensation where all other options have been exhausted to prevent destitution. Further, local authorities with a high number of non-UK nationals with unclear immigration status on the streets should look to funding immigration advice as part of their rough sleeping and homelessness prevention services. Collecting data on the number of individuals with no or limited access to public funds experiencing destitution will help to identify what resources are needed to assist this group out of homelessness.
- Everyone In should continue to be financed through the Rough Sleeping Initiative (RSI), delivered through a minimum three year funding settlement and with an annual spend of £335.5m. The RSI spend should have a focus on rough sleeping prevention, outreach, accommodation and support, and should pay for an increased supply of self-contained, good quality emergency accommodation, with tailored options for women and young people.
- The Rough Sleeping Accommodation Programme should be continued for the duration of the Rough Sleeping Initiative. The viability of this model can be improved, and take up increased, by aligning capital and revenue funding, allowing capital funding to roll over into subsequent years and drawing on continuous market engagement approaches. Strategic partnership working should be built into the programme and there should be flexibility to increase the maximum length of stay beyond two years.

Local authorities

- To prevent homelessness, and respond to it quickly where it does occur, local authorities should be expected to produce long term, integrated homelessness and health strategies, and rapid rehousing plans. This work should require a local assessment of need, conducted using local homelessness partnerships and based on a standardised methodology set by DLUHC. This assessment of need would aim to quantify the level of central government funding needed to ensure the most appropriate accommodation is available for the individual, and that there are sustainable long term recovery options, with wraparound support where needed.
- Winter comes around every year but preparedness for its implications on rough sleeping varies amongst local authorities. Local authorities, in partnership with homelessness organisations, should conduct long term, strategic planning for peaks in weather, including extreme cold or severe heat, and other contingencies. This strategy should be grounded in prevention, to ensure that people supported through severe weather emergency protocol (SWEP) are kept to a minimum, and should be supported through long-term funding. The aim should be to reduce reliance on communal night shelters.

Homelessness organisations

• Staff in the homelessness sector support very vulnerable people, often with complex needs, and it essential that they have the right competencies to do this job. To recognise the challenging job that they do, it is recommended that Homeless Link convene a consultation on professional accreditation. This should cover all areas of the workforce and include understanding the integration of specialist support, such as mental health and immigration advice.

Housing providers

• Housing associations are not public bodies, and therefore do not have a legal duty to address homelessness. However, housing associations do have a social responsibility, and an important role to play in the provision of secure and safe accommodation and support for people who are homeless or at risk of homelessness. The Commission recommends that the National Housing Federation, working with Homes for Cathy, continues to promote the positive work done by housing associations and drives forward this commitment to collaborate with their members to prevent and relieve homelessness. The Commission also recommends that the LGA continues to promote the benefits of local authorities and housing associations working together to develop solutions and longer-term strategies. To incentivise housing associations to prevent and contribute to homelessness solutions, the Regulator of Social Housing should monitor performance in this area.

Health organisations

• The forthcoming integrated care systems will play a crucial role in embedding health within local delivery agencies. Guidance for the integrated care systems should stipulate that Integrated Care Boards, Integrated Care Partnerships and Health and Wellbeing Boards have a dedicated focus on tackling health inequalities for inclusion health populations, including people experiencing homelessness and rough sleeping, and ensure that both mainstream and inclusion health services deliver trauma informed and psychologically informed services for this cohort, who may struggle to engage. This focus must also be shared by the new Office on Health Promotion. There should be an assessment of need and capacity within inclusion health services to ensure that people are able to access care and support. As part of the Care Quality Commission's (CQC) system review framework, there should be a specific focus on whether integrated care systems explicitly reference homelessness and rough sleeping as part of their health inequality strategy. This should be used as a litmus test for the quality of integrated care systems' population health plans.

Introduction

The Kerslake Commission was created to examine the lessons from the unprecedented public emergency response to rough sleeping, which has become known as the Everyone In initiative.

At the outset of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Government sought to ensure that anyone at risk of rough sleeping was immediately provided with safe and secure accommodation. By common consensus, the Everyone In initiative saw a remarkable increase in partnership working, with the overarching objective to save lives leading to a step change collaboration.

The 'preservation of life' principle also prompted an increase in innovation and creativity in approach, which was solution-focused and facilitated the delivery of person-centred support.

Fundamentally, the provision of food and good quality, self-contained accommodation was key to encouraging people to come inside and improving people's housing situation and their health. It also allowed partner agencies to take their support offer directly to those in need, further removing potential barriers.

But the sharp focus also exposed the cracks in the system; the sheer number of those who were sleeping rough or in unsafe emergency accommodation, the limited resettlement options for people with restricted, or no, access to public funds which locks them out of many services and the lack of provision for people who have complex needs or require tailored provision. All too often these are the people who fall through those gaps in provision and support.

These are issues the system was already grappling with, but which have come to a head during the last 18 months. What's more, there is wide-spread concern that without the impetus provided by the public health crisis, the significant progress made will begin to slip back. The Kerslake Commission's mission was to understand the lessons from the emergency response, and what systemic changes are needed to embed them in the long term.

In July, the Kerslake Commission released its Interim Report, which provided an authoritative overview of the lessons learnt from the emergency response and made recommendations, targeted at the 202 I Comprehensive Spending Review, advising what should be the priorities and approaches to achieve the Conservative Government's 2019 General Election manifesto commitment to end rough sleeping.

The key recommendation of the Interim Report was that rough sleeping must continue to be treated as a public health priority. It called on the Government to maintain the investment in rough sleeping that was seen during the pandemic, but with longer-term, joined up funding, and crucially investment in prevention, particularly in welfare support and affordable housing.

However, funding on its own is not sufficient to embed the important learning and success from the last 18 months. There is also a requirement for the different way of working, exemplified by all parties during this period, to become the norm.



The purpose of this final report is to examine the systematic changes that are needed to embed this way of working, bringing forward both new recommendations developed as a result of lessons learnt during the pandemic, as well as reiterating recommendations developed prior to the pandemic which remain vital to ending rough sleeping.

As can be seen in the recommendations for change, everyone has a role to play. From the Government's need to have an integrated, centrally shared strategic plan, to the core challenge for local authorities to exemplify the best and tackle local variation in provision and performance, to the need for homelessness to be embedded in all health policies — taking advantage of the new integrated care systems across England — and the need for the housing and homelessness sector to ensure that their services meet the needs of those they are trying to help, and to collaborate with other services to ensure that the universal approach puts the individual at its heart.

Although the Kerslake Commission's primary focus is on rough sleeping, it is vital that decision makers and actors across the system look to the wider body of work on preventing homelessness more broadly. Homelessness in any form is hugely damaging to the individual and to wider society. Not having a safe and reliable place to call home prevents people building a better life for themselves, and does long term damage to physical and mental health and wellbeing.

Chapter I summarises the findings and recommendations, particularly on funding, from the Kerslake Commission's Interim Report.

Chapter 2 sets out the vision of what an effective system to end rough sleeping should look like, incorporating the crucial lessons learnt during the pandemic and building on the knowledge and experience that came before.

Chapter 3 then looks at what is needed to deliver this system: a long-term, joined up strategy, complete alignment of policy across different institutions, effective delivery of services and support and a constructive monitoring system to ensure that all of these aspects are working as they should.

The focus of **Chapter 4** is the various types of accommodation and service models at different points in a person's recovery journey, and the barriers to effective delivery.

The **final chapter** addresses the unfairness and inequalities faced by different groups – such as non-UK nationals, women, people who are LGBTQ+, people with a BAME background and young people – all of whom have distinct experiences of homelessness, often requiring different support.

Evidence gathering

The Kerslake Commission's evidence gathering has been approached through a major call for submissions of evidence. In total, I I 2 organisations and individuals contributed through surveys, focus groups and bi-laterals. In addition, there were two literature reviews conducted by Crisis and the London School of Economics and Political Science (LSE).

This final report has been drawn from the Commission's initial evidence gathering, which has then been further refined and tested at 21 bilateral meetings that took place between July and September 2021. Bilateral contributors included representatives from health, housing, homelessness, criminal justice, local authorities

and crucially, those with personal experience of homelessness and rough sleeping. The full list of bilateral contributors can be found in Appendix B.

A 21-member Advisory Board was tasked with providing expert advice to the Commission, particularly with regards to the analysis and recommendations, and met four times over the course of the Commission. These meetings were used as opportunities to provide feedback and to develop a consensus, wherever possible.

All conclusions and recommendations are those of the Commission's chair, Lord Kerslake.

Chapter I:The findings from the Interim Report

The Kerslake Commission Interim Report gave an authoritative overview of what had happened during this incredible response to the public health emergency to help rough sleepers and what lessons could be learnt. It also set out a series of recommendations targeted at the forthcoming Spending Review.

Positives

It summarised that the clear messaging and hands-on support from the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) helped galvanise local authorities in the early stages of the pandemic and crucially was held up through existing and additional funding, and the investment in long term accommodation. The Government also demonstrated a continued investment in homelessness and rough sleeping through a 60% in increase in revenue funding in 2021-22, compared to the 2020-21 Spending Review base budget.⁵

At the heart of the response was clearly directing local authorities – at least initially – to help 'everyone' at risk of rough sleeping, effectively derogating rules on priority need, local connection and No Recourse to Public Funds. This improved knowledge, engagement and outcomes among groups that had previously fallen through the gaps of support.

By treating rough sleeping as a public health issue, rather than just a housing issue, the response also saw a substantial and increased engagement from the health sector with rough sleeping. Cohorting of clients by health needs shone a light on clinical vulnerabilities and allowed for a better understanding and treatment of clients. The public health approach also led to an increase in innovation and creativity in approach, which was solution focused and facilitated the delivery of person-centred support. Examples included: key services being delivered on-site or easily reached, swift and accessible assessment processes, and easier and more flexible access to drug treatment prescriptions.

Crucially, the provision of food and good quality, self-contained accommodation was key to encouraging people to come inside and facilitated the in-reach of multi-agency services, particularly health. By providing nutrition and a safe and comfortable environment, it gave clients the headspace to improve their health and housing situation.

These changes were also underpinned by preventative measures taken by the Government in the form of welfare changes which raised income and increased housing options. This makes both humanitarian and financial sense. These changes should be continued to stop people from ever sleeping rough in the first place.

Limitations

There were also limitations in the response. Some services moved online made them harder to access for those who experience digital exclusion. The emergency response was less effective at meeting the needs of women and young people, where the lack of tailored provision meant these groups did not come inside or were placed at risk in mixed environments. There was also a significant degree of local variation in response: first, as areas without pooled resources and connections struggled to meet the mark; second when the Government reminded local authorities in May 2020 that there were legal restrictions on offering support to those who had no recourse to public funds, which created confusion as to whom was eligible for support.



The short-term funding was also highlighted as a crucial difficulty. Services and local authorities found constant bidding for different funding, and the multiple and lengthy monitoring requirements attached to them, were resource intensive and prevented strategic service delivery. Services struggled to retain skilled workers and relied on agency staff. In total, 13 different governmental funding sources were allocated to rough sleeping during the pandemic. The Next Steps Accommodation Programme (NSAP) and Rough Sleeping Accommodation Programme (RSAP), which provide funding for longer term accommodation and support, were welcomed but this report has concluded that they would be more viable funding models if there was greater flexibility over when the capital funding needed to be spent, and better alignment between the capital and revenue funds.

	2020-21	2021-22 (planned spend)	2022-23 -2024-25 (recom- mended annual spend)
Rough Sleeping Initiative	£112m	£254m	£335.5
Additional expenditure on rough sleeping due to Covid-19, used to provide accom- modation and support	£223.5m		
Total	£335.5	£254	£335.5

Recommendations:

Spending Review 2021

- To deliver the sector recommended target of building 90,000 social rented homes a year, the Government must increase grant funding delivered through the Affordable Homes Programme. The Government should increase the supply of supported housing through the continuation of the Affordable Homes Programme, but ensure capital funding is linked to multi-year revenue funding for support services.
- Everyone In should continue to be financed through the Rough Sleeping Initiative (RSI), delivered through a minimum three-year funding settlement and with an annual spend of £335.5m. The RSI spend should focus on rough sleeping prevention, outreach, accommodation and support, and should pay for an increased supply of self-contained, good quality emergency accommodation, with tailored options for women and young people.
- The Rough Sleeping Accommodation Programme should be continued for the duration of the Rough Sleeping Initiative. The viability of this model can be improved, and take up increased, by aligning capital and revenue funding, allowing capital funding to roll over into subsequent years and drawing on continuous market engagement approaches. Strategic partnership working should be built into the programme and there should be flexibility to increase the maximum length of stay beyond two years.
- The Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) should reverse the disinvestment
 in drug treatment and wider recovery services, increasing funding by up to £552 million
 annually over the next five years, on top of the baseline annual expenditure from the public
 health grant, as recommended in the Dame Carol Black Review.⁶

Chapter 2: Our vision

During the pandemic, the Government rightly recognised the significant threat to health posed by sleeping on the streets and in communal shelters. Through focusing on getting 'everyone in' and providing safe accommodation, many lives were saved. Furthermore, it connected people sleeping rough to the health, care, support and treatment they desperately need. The Kerslake Commission Interim Report highlighted the many lessons to learn from the success of the Everyone In initiative. However, many of those who submitted evidence stressed that Everyone In was a success in spite of the system, not because of it. This Commission's final report sets a vision for what this system should look like, at best to prevent, or help people recover from, sleeping rough, incorporating the lessons learnt during the pandemic. Crucially, the system has to prevent people from reaching this crisis point, and, where rough sleeping does occur, it should be brief and with a sustained and long-term recovery.

The system that does this best is one which has the individual, whom it is designed to support, at the centre. Sleeping rough is a state not a trait: all parts of the system which support people need to recognise this to help them recover effectively. An important step change, therefore, is for person-centred care and for services to be co-designed by those with lived experience, to ensure that they are accessible and inclusive.

Further, what has been made clear during the Commission's evidence gathering, is that prevention has to be the driving force behind strategy and delivery. Prevention has both a human and financial cost saving. Stopping someone from sleeping rough in the first place means many of the potential consequences poor physical health; increased substance use; deteriorated mental health and wellbeing;8 an increased engagement with the criminal justice system⁹ – are pre-empted, or at least lessened, resulting in savings for the taxpayer. 10 Rough sleeping prevention is an aim that crosses Government departments, bringing with it social and financial returns outside of DLUHC's remit. In the 2015 Hard Edges report, the costs of rough sleeping to the public purse were calculated to be between £14,300 and £21,200 per person

per year. This is three to four times the average cost to public services of an average adult (approximately £4,600). When designing a system to meet its commitment to end rough sleeping by 2024, the Government must therefore lead the way with looking to prevent, rather than cure.

"We need to recognise that prevention needs to be intentional and perpetual, part of business as usual. We need a Housing and Wellbeing Strategy, not just an Ending Rough Sleeping ambition." (Homelessness/S17)

Key to upstream prevention are general housing policy (supply, access and affordability), and the welfare system (including the availability and level of benefits and employment protection). During the pandemic, the Government put in place preventative measures such as the £20 uplift in Universal Credit, changes to the Local Housing Allowance, and exemptions to the Shared Accommodation Rate for those under 25. In the Interim Report the Commission strongly recommended that these preventative changes be maintained. Unfortunately the current Government position is that the Universal Credit uplift will be rescinded, and that Local

Housing Allowance will be frozen at the same level in cash terms for 2021-22, which the Commission fears will undermine the prospect to end rough sleeping by 2024. In addition to housing policy and welfare support, addressing long standing issues, such as the supply of genuinely affordable homes, and the approach of landlords to supporting residential tenants and avoiding evictions are equally important, as is employment support. These steps would look to prevent rough sleeping, but also the broader problem of homelessness.

Stopping people from falling into homelessness and sleeping rough, and responding quickly where it does occur, requires a whole systems approach, where all agencies and bodies work together in a fully integrated way. A person's problems are not siloed: they experience them in an overlapping and oftenmutually enforcing way. It is the responsibility of the Government to create a strategy which encourages and enables an integrated response that reflects this experience.

There are multiple aspects to integrated working. First, it needs a fully coherent and joined-up Government approach. Central leadership must involve all the relevant departments in its plans — supported by one funding stream and a shared set of data — so that homelessness is not seen as solely the responsibility of one department, but as a shared mission in which each department fully understands and commits to the joint vision. This is not just at a ministerial level but must be reflected at civil service level. This can be done through the creation of a joint unit.

"Increasing national leadership through a detailed call to action with a long term, cross departmental strategy in place to bring together the departments with dependencies identified across each area..." (Homelessness/S54)

This principle should flow down to local systems, with local authorities and the health and care sector – through the new integrated care systems in England – empowered to

deliver an integrated approach which best meets the needs of people sleeping rough in their area, working in close partnership with the commissioned services. Local leadership is vital to crafting an approach that is relevant to a local population. Providers of all services which help a person recover from homelessness, from housing, to health, to welfare, should be encouraged to see their roles as helping the person as a whole, and sharing information and practice which helps other agencies to meet co-occurring needs.

Whilst services in different areas will be tailored to local needs, there should be a core service offer availablenationally. The framework for all agencies involved in delivering these care and support services must be person-centred, trauma-informed and psychologically informed. These should form the base principles for all services — be they housing, health, or welfare — underpinning a multiagency, multidisciplinary workforce that fully understands and adopts common ways of working to respond to the needs of the individual.

Another part of a whole systems preventative approach is the central role of health in homelessness. Poor health is both a cause and consequence of homelessness, and those experiencing homelessness have some of the highest health inequalities in the population. As highlighted in the Kerslake Commission Interim Report, the Everyone In initiative has shown that treating rough sleeping as a public health issue, rather than just a housing issue saves lives and also supports people to recover from homelessness. What is needed is a system with fully joined up working between health and homelessness, both in terms of vision and delivery. It is part of a population health approach, moving "away from a system just focused on diagnosing and treating illness towards one that is based on promoting wellbeing and preventing ill health." 12

"A recognition that a health led/informed response to homelessness is needed." (Local Authority/ S53)

"National recognition of responsibility of health and social care to this cohort with resourcing, capacity and (possibly statutory) guidance developed, to drive multiple systems change."

(Local Authority/S68)

Where people do reach crisis point, there needs to be help for them to quickly recover and be equipped with the tools to maintain their recovery. This requires appropriate accommodation alongside the right level of support. Where emergency or temporary accommodation is used, it must be brief, with the primary purpose being to move someone off the street and ensure their safety and health whilst more sustainable options are found.

To ensure there are affordable, longer-term options available, there needs to be a greater supply of social housing allocated to people with experience, or at risk, of homelessness. I3 For the private rented sector to be an appropriate part of the system, it must be reformed to address problems such as high rental costs, I4, I5 insecurity of tenure, I6, I7 low quality, I8, I9 and the reluctance of landlords to let to individuals on benefits and/or with a homeless history. 20, 21

"We will not solve homelessness without truly affordable homes or enough longterm funded support to help people keep them." (Homelessness/S57)

Irrespective of the type of accommodation, it must be good quality, suitable for an individual's needs at that point in their recovery journey, whether health or care related, and it must allow the person dignity. Many of those provided with hotel accommodation during the Everyone In initiative said that the dignity they felt as a result of having their own front door was important to their wellbeing.

Although all support and accommodation should meet this standard, the system must include tailored options for groups who face additional distinct barriers and therefore require a different type of service. There should be provision suitable for all needs, be it accommodation and support for those who are highly clinically vulnerable, who have extremely complex needs, who need it to be gender-informed, or LGBTQ+-informed.

Depending on the causes of a person's homelessness, prevention and recovery may also require employment advice and training; tenancy sustainment support; welfare advice; or specialised immigration advice. The system must be able to adequately provide these at an early stage to ensure that recovery is sustainable and long-term. Specialist employment and immigration advice is a vital tool to help those with unclear immigration status who otherwise find it very difficult to move on from homelessness. Regardless of immigration status, no one should have to face destitution, yet in our current system, this is an increasing reality for far too many.

"A bold long-term shift in approach is needed between services, local and national government to support people who currently face NRPF, so many of whom face destitution and will continue to fall through the cracks of the system." (Complex Needs/S39)

The following chapters examine how we can work together to embed this real system change and fulfil the Government's commitment to ending rough sleeping by 2024.

Chapter 3: Better strategy, policy and delivery

To deliver the system necessary – namely, one which prevents people from becoming homeless, and quickly and effectively supports those who do experience it to recover – it requires a long-term, joined up strategy, complete alignment of policy across different institutions, effective delivery of services and support and a constructive monitoring system to ensure that all of these aspects are working as they should.

Rough Sleeping Strategy

As set out in the Kerslake Commission's Interim Report, the Everyone In initiative was commendable in both aim and often in execution. However, this was an emergency response, pulled together rapidly during a public health emergency. A longer term strategy should draw on the vital lessons learnt from this crisis, and the knowledge and experience developed previously, to meet the Government goal to end rough sleeping by 2024.

In early 2020, the Prime Minister appointed Dame Louise Casey (now Baroness Casey) to lead a review into rough sleeping, which would renew and adapt the Rough Sleeping Initiative and other pilots and programmes initiated as part of the 2018 Rough Sleeping Strategy. However, in mid-March her role changed to focus on the emergency response and the Government has not yet demonstrated a renewed commitment to review and renew its Rough Sleeping Strategy.

One of the core aspects of the Rough Sleeping Strategy must be partnership working across central, regional and local government and its various delivery agencies. This was a key theme which emerged in the submissions to the Kerslake Commission.

"It is vital that somehow we maintain the partnership working across agencies." (Homeless/S14)

The Government should own the national strategy and provide centralised strategic thinking and support to deliver it. The funding that flows from the national strategy must be long term, joined up and flexible, so that it is applicable to different individual and local circumstances.

For this to be effective, government departments must work seamlessly together. It is not simply a housing problem within the remit of the DLUHC. It is also a health problem, with poor health being both a cause and consequence of homelessness. Dame Carol Black's independent report into drugs, for example, demonstrated the interwoven nature of drug use and homelessness that many experience,²² and recommended joint work between DLUHC and the Department for Health and Social Care (DHSC). Similarly, immigration policies under the Home Office have a significant impact on people becoming homeless and their ability to end it (as will be further explained on pages 50-53); as do welfare policies sitting in the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP). Ministers across government need to be able to offer solutions, and be held accountable for the Government's goal to end rough sleeping by 2024.

In addition to integrated working in central government, the only way to effectively develop and deliver the Government's Rough Sleeping Strategy is to work in partnership with regional and local government and delivery agencies. There should be ownership at different levels, involving key delivery partners who are responsible for the delivery of strategy in their local area.

"A recognition that public services at a local and regional level have the insight and capability to work effectively where they have the permission and resource to do so – leading to de-centralising decisions and increasing the length and control over funding settlements." (Local Authority/S53)

A shared ownership of the strategy also goes some way towards recognising different localities and capacities across local authorities. Local leadership is vital to crafting an approach that is relevant to a local place and population.



Rough Sleeping Strategy Group

Tackling rough sleeping in London is a priority for national government, the Mayor of London, London local authorities, the NHS, and a wide range of voluntary and community sector charities and service providers. While partners share a common aim and work together in a spirit of positive collaboration, responsibilities, governance and activity can sometimes overlap or appear disjointed.

A Rough Sleeping Strategy Group for London was established in response to the Covid-19 outbreak to bring together key partners to ensure the safety of rough sleepers during the pandemic. Its role subsequently evolved to provide a space for partners to come together to join up conversations, drive activity to end rough sleeping and monitor risks, issues, and outcomes. The Rough Sleeping Strategy Group is a system leadership body, which facilitates partnership working, problem solving and information sharing. It is not a formal commissioning body, and it does not have formal control or accountability with such responsibilities sitting with other

formally constituted, often democratically accountable, groups.

The key actors involved in the work to end rough sleeping in the capital are reviewing the role of the Rough Sleeping Strategy Group — alongside that of other important bodies like the Mayor's Life Off The Streets Task Force. The intention being to consider the wider structures, oversight arrangements and shared initiatives around rough sleeping and bring governance and shared programmes under a single leadership structure with clearly defined roles and responsibilities for all involved.

The changes to governance should provide a welcome opportunity to review and reset London's strategic work programme to end rough sleeping as we move out of the pandemic, and a new Rough Sleeping Programme Director role (based within London Councils) has been established and recruited to so as to make sure that the programme is delivered, focus is maintained, and shared work remains properly coordinated.

Recommendations:

- A longer term rough sleeping strategy is needed if the Government is to achieve and sustain its goal to end rough sleeping by 2024. Building on the success of Everyone In and the lessons learnt, a new Inter-Ministerial Group on rough sleeping, led by the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC), should set out the overarching vison of the Government, publishing a cross-Government national strategy with clear expectations and strategic engagement with key agencies, and an explicit focus on prevention. The strategy should be accompanied by a published annual review of performance, no later than three months after the annual count. This annual performance review should be carried out by DLUHC, working with regional and local government, and be used to analyse national trends, and identify gaps in provision and strategy. A key responsibility for the Inter-Ministerial group in its terms of reference must be to push for cross government investment, to enable delivery of the strategy.
- A joint Health and Homelessness Unit, akin to the Joint Work and Health Unit, 23 should be established to ensure that cross-departmental working is carried through at a civil service level. The unit should have joint priorities and shared data to support the removal of barriers to effective working.
- To support a whole systems approach to street homelessness, the Government should extend the Homelessness Reduction Act's Duty to Refer, 24 to a Duty to Collaborate with relevant public agencies to both prevent and respond to homelessness. This should include health services; Department of Work and Pensions and its agencies; the Home Office; and Ministry of Justice and its agencies; and other government agencies with an involvement in homelessness and rough sleeping services. An example of this would be the sharing of data.

Delivery and implementation

During the Everyone In initiative, there was widespread engagement from local authorities in responding to rough sleeping. This was largely due to the presence – but importantly not intervention – of central leadership, allowing areas to tailor responses to suit their population.

Throughout this report are examples and case studies of where local authorities and commissioners have exemplified the best of local government in its response.

However, as discussed in the Interim Report, there was local variation in response. The degree of success that areas had in mobilising and meeting the needs of their rough sleeping populations was largely determined by pre-existing services and infrastructure; areas without these pooled resources and connections struggled.

Success was also affected by the funding that was available for local government. This stems from the current situation where rough sleeping provision is concentrated in major cities, whereas in other areas authorities may not offer a service, due to a lack of available funding, the perception that rough sleeping does not exist in the area, prioritising other policy, or concerns that providing a service will attract or keep rough sleeping in the areas. This disparity in provision then results in authorities which do offer a service gatekeeping to prevent being overwhelmed on local connection.

Verification is the requirement for people to be seen and recorded as rough sleeping by outreach workers to enable access many services and accommodation. The 'local connection' test looks at an individual's residency, employment, and family connections in the area to determine whether they are eligible for support. Both of these create an additional barrier for people sleeping rough to access help

at an earlier point. The Commission was told by homelessness organisations that the requirement to be verified has led to people being advised by some of their local authority partners to sleep rough to access support.

The aspiration ought to be that local connection and verification become less relevant, by reducing the number of people coming on to the street in the first place and ensuring all areas have capacity to respond to the needs of the people sleeping rough in their local communities. A 'no wrong door' approach would ensure that everyone who is in need is able to access help quickly and effectively.

Though there should be different provisions and joint working arrangements to reflect local areas, there needs to be a minimum standard of service for people at risk or who are experiencing rough sleeping.

There is currently a LGA sector-led improvement (SLI) programme on homelessness for local authorities, which aims to support and improve performance, where needed, through support and challenge from peers; benchmarking performance; using comparable data and sharing good practice. An independent evaluation of the SLI found a high level of satisfaction with this model, and found a significant majority of respondents saying that it "had a positive impact on their council to a great or significant extent." ²⁷

However, local authorities do not work in isolation, and the lack of engagement from partner agencies creates significant barriers in preventing and addressing homelessness and rough sleeping. Evidence submissions to the Commission emphasised that local agencies have a significant role to play in supporting the local authority with delivery and implementation of the Rough Sleeping Strategy.

"There must be firm involvement from mental health services in tackling disadvantage and ensuring mental health services are fundamental to local partnerships. Agencies such as police, probation and courts, as well as prisons and the secure estate and voluntary sector organisations need to be key partners in shaping local responses."

(Complex Needs/S39)

Lewisham health and homelessness partnership working

Prior to the pandemic, Lewisham had a number of contracts in place to support the healthcare of the homeless population. Before the South East London CCGs merged, Lewisham CCG had commissioned GP inreach contracts and there was also a Health Inclusion Team (HIT), which went into the larger hostels, as well as the 999 Day Centre.

A priority for Lewisham was shared living, including hostels. There were concerns about the spread of infection, depleted workforce through self-isolation and clients with very high support needs having to self-isolate in self-contained accommodation, without the 24-hour support of a hostel. As part of this response, a Lewisham public health consultant reviewed risk assessments for each building and commissioners worked with providers to put risk management strategies in place.

The Council and the CCG worked with GPs, the Health Inclusion Team (HIT) and the Lewisham Public Health team to develop plans to deliver a self-isolation service in a 24 self-contained hostel managed by St Mungo's. This service would offer ongoing support to the vulnerable cohort in a self-contained setting who would not otherwise manage in unsupported temporary accommodation. There was a recognition that the good practice in the 'Covid Care Hotels' could be replicated in hostels and so the HIT team did temperature checks, and supported new residents with self-assessments, to ensure that the risk to others was minimised as much as possible.

Having access to the pan-London Find and Treat service also led to incredible results – it enabled the council to pick up any outbreaks via testing in large hostels, and had good take up and provided specialised support.

The protocols developed with health partners, including clinicians, the CCG and Public Health, helped to establish excellent working relationships which has benefited the vaccine rollout. Health colleagues have gone into services to work with clients on vaccine hesitancy to understand their concerns and what else could be done. Lewisham Council also developed vaccination passes

for those sleeping rough or in supported accommodation – people are able to ring up on the day and be vaccinated anywhere with availability, including at a number of pop-up clinics in the area. At the time of writing (July 2021), there was a 57% vaccination take up amongst vulnerable adults.

Funding from DLUHC's RSI programme and co-production with DLUHC advisors also proved invaluable when approaching winter provision. As night shelters were not a viable option, Lewisham worked with two 'noncommissioned' providers in the borough and set up a rough sleeping supported housing pathway, based on single rooms rather than shared sleep sites. This provision was funded through housing benefit and top-up funding from Lewisham Council (via Rough Sleeping Initiative 4). The service offered accommodation via high quality properties and was cheaper than night shelter provision. Supported housing services were also further supported by the Lewisham public health team who developed local guidance for managing shared services, supported providers to implement 'bubbles' in shared services, attended residents' house meetings via Zoom to clarify guidance and risks directly with service users and offered one-to-one support for services to ensure any suspected cases were responded to swiftly.

A longer term outcome of the health partnerships developed is that a strategic group has now been set up to oversee the approach to rough sleeping in Lewisham. This is attended by those commissioning health, mental health, drug and alcohol, housing, rough sleeping and community safety services and sets and reviews the strategic direction for the borough's approach. Alongside this, Lewisham received funding through the RSI 4 grant for health inclusion nurses — helping to ensure that they are at the centre of service delivery. Nurses are now firmly embedded in the outreach team, helping to increase engagement with services amongst those sleeping rough and offering them an opportunity for support with their health needs on the street.

Recommendations:

- The challenge of local variation, where this leads to differences in performance, can be addressed through the Government commissioning tripartite reviews of performance in homelessness services, including prevention and long term provision and support. Driving this system requires joined up performance management involving (I) local authorities, (2) local delivery partners, and (3) cross Governmental departments and bodies, namely the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC), Department for Health and Social Care (DHSC), the NHS and the Office for Health Improvement and Disparities. The aim should be to find what has and has not worked for partner agencies, where there are issues of resourcing, and support improvement using examples of good practice. This should build on the successful DLUHC advisers model and be supplemented by direct offers of support, including the option of peer review. The Local Government Association has a role in supporting the development of good practice.
- To prevent homelessness, and respond to it quickly where it does occur, local authorities should be expected to produce long term, integrated homelessness and health strategies, and rapid rehousing plans. This work should require a local assessment of need, conducted using local homelessness partnerships and based on a standardised methodology set by DLUHC. This assessment of need would aim to quantify the level of central Government funding needed to ensure the most appropriate accommodation is available for the individual, and there are sustainable long term recovery options, with wraparound support where needed.
- Housing associations are not public bodies, and therefore do not have a legal duty to address homelessness. However, housing associations do have a social responsibility, and an important role to play in the provision of secure and safe accommodation, and support for people who are homeless or at risk of homelessness. The Commission recommends that the National Housing Federation, working with Homes for Cathy, continues to promote the positive work done by housing associations and drives forward this commitment to collaborate with their members to prevent and relieve homelessness. The Commission also recommends that the LGA continues to promote the benefits of local authorities and housing associations working together to develop solutions and longer-term strategies. To incentivise housing associations to prevent and contribute to homelessness solutions, the Regulator of Social Housing should monitor performance in this area.
- It is crucial that the healthcare organisations at a local and neighbourhood level prioritise the needs of people experiencing homelessness and rough sleeping. NHS England has released service requirements asking Primary Care Networks (PCNs) to "work from October 2021 to identify and engage a population experiencing health inequalities within their area, and to co-design an intervention to address the unmet needs of this population. Delivery of this intervention will commence from March 2022. As people experiencing homelessness and rough sleeping experience some of the worst health inequalities in society, PCNs should identify them as a population to engage with as part of these service requirements.
- Health organisations should ensure that mainstream services are accessible to people
 experiencing homelessness and rough sleeping. This can be improved upon by providing
 flexible appointment times and training for staff to increase understanding of issues related
 to homelessness.

Monitoring and data

Accurate monitoring and data recording is central to ensuring that all aspects of the strategy and its delivery are functioning effectively, and to understand and measure the scale of the problem and what resources are needed.

The purpose of capturing data should be to help an area identify the gaps in the system to make sure they have the most effective pathways to ending rough sleeping. Evidence submissions raised concerns that there is a lack of data on the support needs of people helped during Everyone In, stressing that this data would have been beneficial in helping understand the level of need and plan responses accordingly. One homelessness provider said that Everyone In meant that they were able to review and revise data to tell a better story of the barriers in move-on.

An independent review of Greater Manchester's A Bed Every Night programme ²⁹ highlighted that an improvement would be to refine data collection on the immediate triggers of rough sleeping to develop preventative methods. ³⁰ A homelessness service provider told the Commission that ensuring all areas capture the different cohorts of people sleeping rough – for example people newly sleeping rough and people living on the streets – would be beneficial as a person who is newly sleeping rough requires different interventions and solutions to someone who has been living on the streets.

The problems expand to the recording of health service support for people experiencing homelessness. One submission called attention to the fact that there is "no systematic way to record interventions for inclusion health populations that are recognised as such." (Health/S22)

The second problem raised in evidence submissions was the incoherence of what data is captured across the country.

"Data collection in relation to health and homelessness is fragmented. It uses many different definitions, data is often not collected at all and there is a lack of accurate and consistent data on all forms of homelessness." 3 I

The flaws in data recording have made it difficult to fully analyse the impact of Everyone In, with evidence submissions pointing to a lack of central recording systems earlier on in the pandemic, resulting in large variations in measuring activity and impact.

A comprehensive data set on rough sleeping is the Combined Homelessness and Information Network (CHAIN) dataset in London, funded by the GLA and managed by St Mungo's. This database is able to collect trends of people sleeping rough, rather than snapshot annual counts. It was raised in one submission that it would be beneficial to have a country wide joined up CHAIN database:

"Developing a national CHAIN database will support far more effective working across the country and provide a more seamless approach to supporting people." (Homeless/S54)

In wider consultation with the homelessness sector, there was agreement that this would take too long for every area to complete, would not reflect the different circumstances of each area and would have data protection implications. However, comparable data sets would be beneficial in larger cities, and collaboration on data sets between major cities would be hugely valuable for measuring activity and impact.

Shared definitions, and the shared principles which come with them, are an essential piece of data architecture that are currently missing. Most parts of the system are not aligned in what 'cohorts' of people should be monitored, and how to define them. Providers said that different terminology is often used across the country and do not necessarily overlap, so it is difficult to compare what is happening in different areas. For example, in the London CHAIN database, the terms 'flow' (people newly sleeping rough who have not been seen

before), 'stock' (people seen across a minimum of two consecutive years) and 'returner' (those who have had a gap in their rough sleeping histories) are used to delineate between the cohort of people sleeping rough, to achieve a more granular picture. These terms are not used in other areas, or where they are used they can have a slightly different meaning, making it difficult to build a coherent picture to design the best solutions. It also creates barriers to sharing information if an individual moves area.

The integration of data is another issue. As the Greater Manchester Homelessness Strategy stated, there is the "need to balance privacy with telling your story just once to trusted people." This means data collection in itself needs to support integrated working by ensuring that all partners are collecting and sharing data in a collaborative way, leading to an increase in positive outcomes.

"There is no system in place that effectively shares information across services to better support people and provide a multi-agency response. One is needed to provide a more joined up response and reduce duplication of presentations to services."

(Local Authority/S77)

As noted in a report on data released by the NHS Strategy Unit, having coherent provision requires "integrated systems for data capture and sharing." ³⁴

An example of good practice which emerged during the pandemic was the Covid-19 Homeless Rapid Integrated Screening Protocol (CHRISP).³⁵ This was a health needs assessment tool, used to screen the health and social care needs of people who were street homeless, accommodated in Greater London Authority (GLA) hotels. A modified Mini-CHRISP PLUS tool was also developed in July 2020 to allow non-clinical outreach workers to quickly identify those at increased risk of Covid-19 who needed to be shielded in appropriate accommodation. This both recognised and acted on the high level of vulnerability faced by those experiencing homelessness. It also encouraged communication between the health and housing teams and a local multidisciplinary team process to ensure that health needs fed in to individuals' move on plans.

A data and monitoring system which faces difficulties due to a lack of integration is Streetlink. Streetlink is a website, app and phone line system which allows people to alert the relevant services in their local area that there is someone sleeping rough, to assist local services to make contact with them. In discussions with homelessness service providers, however, it was highlighted that the service is only fully functioning and effective in London. Although outreach service providers in London stressed that it is an integral part of their service delivery – for example StreetLink alerts are used by commissioned street outreach services to plan and organise their shifts – the experience outside of London is much more mixed. Amongst other issues such as the lack of team capacity to filter alerts a predominant reason is the lack of wellestablished working relationships with services operating outside the London area. This means that the feedback loops that lead to joinedup working and continuous improvement for Streetlink in London do not exist elsewhere.

Recommendations:

- There should be a national review of how an individual's needs, strengths and aspirations are assessed and what data is collected. This should use an outcomes-based approach, and work with people with experience of homelessness, providers, and commissioners. This will ensure assessments and data collection have a clear purpose. This will be crucial in helping identify what action, support and resources are required to end rough sleeping, and enable successful outcomes to be measured by genuinely useful data.
- Improving consistency and comparability of datasets will improve integrated working between
 local authorities and their delivery partners. local authorities should collaborate with their
 partners, to maximise the potential of what data is collected and how it is then used.
- To effectively meet people's heath and housing needs, there must be robust and effective cross sector data sharing. NHS England should put support and guidance in place to enable local systems to share data successfully, including vaccination uptake amongst people experiencing rough sleeping and homelessness. This should include providing examples of good practice, for example, the sample Data Protection Impact Assessments (DPIAs) and Data Sharing Agreements (DSAs) that have been developed to support data linkage around homelessness. This should then be supported at the local level through the duty to collaborate.
- Members of the public have a role to play in ending rough sleeping and have been able
 to help by using StreetLink, an innovative and effective referral mechanism that connects
 people sleeping rough with the local services that can support them. This system should be
 recommissioned at a national level.

Commissioning

Addressing homelessness requires all agencies to work together. However, the systems supporting people experiencing homelessness are designed and funded as if people fit into one box, rather than the reality that people's problems are complex and interwoven and need to be approached holistically.

These problems can be broadly delineated into two groups. On the commissioners' side, a pressure on budgets leads to setting strict criteria as to who can access a service — restricting entitlement or not recognising practical challenges (for instance, the practical difficulties of transport or timekeeping for someone who is sleeping rough.)³⁶ Evidence submissions also pointed to the tendency for commissioners to focus on narrow outcomes rather than on the wider set of issues that contribute to rough sleeping.

Second, as set out in the Commission's consultation with providers, the competing budget constraints caused by providers having separate funding sources can create incentives to reduce provision and push people onto other service caseloads. This can spiral into a

race-to-the-bottom, where services erect their own barriers, which is met in kind by similar responses from other services. Current practice, where people are identified as having a 'primary presenting need' and pushed into rigid single focus pathways, can compound these problems.

"Competitive tendering for short term contracts does not facilitate supportive relationships between organisations who are required to work closely together." Health/S70

As discussed in the Interim Report, there was a significant increase in partnership working during the Everyone In initiative, largely driven by the central Government directive, the funding to match, and the shared overarching objective of saving lives. Fitzpatrick et al. notes in its examination of the response that collaboration between sectors and organisations has been a defining characteristic of the crisis response, particularly at the local level.³⁷ This increased sense of shared responsibility and impetus to act (supported by additional funding³⁸) meant that complex needs organisations saw agencies take responsibility for people beyond their remit, with fewer services gatekeeping in order to protect

oversubscribed caseloads. This coordinated approach meant that stakeholders were more effective at responding to need, and people were supported from the streets without delays through bureaucracy or process. Evidence submissions did stress though that this was largely in spite of, rather than because of, the system.

An important way to enact an integrated approach through system change is joint commissioning: bringing all the parts of the system around the table to discuss the desired

outcome, and collaborating and sharing responsibility for achieving it. This builds strong relationships across different parts of the local 'system' and ensures that commissioners are well-placed to help improve service pathways, making sure that they are person-centred and not focused on trying to address a single problem. However, as limited service criteria and siloed thinking is often a feature of systems with inbuilt scarcity of resources, appropriate resourcing will be required to support it.

Changing Futures in Bristol

After a successful bid to Government, Bristol secured a £3.3 million grant to help adults in the city facing disadvantages such as homelessness, mental health problems, substance issues, domestic abuse and being in the criminal justice system.

Building on a shared appetite to tackle multiple disadvantage, commissioners from Adult Social Care, Children and Young People's services collaborated with key partners in Golden Key, lived experience representatives and the Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (BNSSG CCG) to develop the successful bid. The team drew on local evidence of what was needed, what worked and successful models elsewhere, and worked at pace to involve as many voices and agencies as possible.

It was envisaged that the grant would support development of the partnership's 'My Team Around Me' multi-agency team concept, to provide long-term wraparound support to a person with multiple needs to ensure consistent relationships and better, sustainable outcomes.

Hugh Evans, Executive Director for People commented that the National Lottery and DLUHC funding they received would further enable them to meet their vision – to ensure people with multiple disadvantages are valued and empowered, and that they inspire and are inspired to have a life beyond service.

Working directly with people with lived experience was, and would continue to be, at the heart of Bristol's approach. The bid

had been co-designed with lived experience groups and included deep listening exercises to fully understand the system change needed.

The team selected three main groups to work with in Bristol with the view that learning from these would be applied to wider populations with multiple disadvantages. The cohorts included:

- young people from minority ethnic communities experiencing multiple disadvantages compounded by discrimination
- women experiencing domestic abuse
- people experiencing complex/compound trauma, behavioural challenges and chronic homelessness

In the spirit of reflective practice the bid team fed back that trust was paramount to the whole process; creating the right environment to challenge one another, to be creative and innovative was crucial. On a more practical basis working collaboratively was helped by having the right IT in place to update documents and communicate in real time, something which the pandemic paved the way for. The team also welcomed the opportunity to focus on something positive and inspirational whilst continuing to deal with the impact of the pandemic.

Katherine Williams, Strategic Commissioning Manager – Mental Health said: "Having a positive opportunity on the horizon is a marvellous motivator and we are looking forward to evolving our existing partnerships and governance structures to give the programme the multi-agency focus that is needed."

Although there is a need to join up the interconnected services which contribute to relieving homelessness through joint commissioning, the new integrated care systems³⁹ – set out as a key component of the NHS Long Term Plan – provide a specific opportunity to join up health and homelessness further. This is crucial, both due to the poor health faced by this group, but also the barriers faced in accessing timely healthcare, which then exacerbates health problems further. Groundswell's 'More than a Statistic' research revealed that one of the key barriers that people who are homeless face to accessing healthcare is registering and making use of a GP practice.⁴⁰ This is very important as primary care is a gateway to other health services, as well as a preventative measure to avert increased A&E visits. A persisting problem with GP registration is that people are refused on the grounds of

lacking ID, having no fixed address or not being able to prove their immigration status. This is despite NHS guidelines. This demonstrates the lack of understanding of complex needs in mainstream services, and the need to join up health and homelessness further to ensure that health services are not creating further barriers to access. Research by SOLACE has highlighted the value of partnership working between the NHS and local authorities.

The two primary aims for integrated care systems are, first, to push forward integration across health and social care, alongside other partner agencies; second, using this to achieve improvements in population health and a reduction in inequalities. However, they do not currently have an explicit focus on inclusion health populations such as those experiencing homelessness and rough sleeping.⁴³

Recommendations:

- To encourage partnership working, local authorities and integrated care systems should put in place joint processes for commissioning services. This should include exploring longer contracts to give time to build practice and a culture of integrated working, where needed, whilst maintaining the ability to test and pilot initiatives to respond to changing circumstances. This must be supported through longer-term funding settlements.
- The forthcoming integrated care systems will play a crucial role in embedding health within local delivery agencies. Guidance for the integrated care systems (ICS) should stipulate that Integrated Care Boards, Integrated Care Partnerships and Health and Wellbeing Boards have a dedicated focus on tackling health inequalities for inclusion health populations, including people experiencing homelessness and rough sleeping, and ensure that both mainstream and inclusion health services deliver trauma informed and psychologically informed services for this cohort, who may struggle to engage. This focus must also be shared by the new Office on Health Promotion. There should be an assessment of need and capacity within inclusion health services, to ensure that people are able to access care and support. As part of the Care Quality Commission's (CQC) system review framework, there should be a specific focus on whether ICSs explicitly reference homelessness and rough sleeping as part of their health inequality strategy. This should be used as a litmus test for the quality of integrated care systems' population health plans.
- The existing specialist rough sleeping programme within NHS England and Improvement should continue to be delivered. The wider Long Term Plan mental health transformation must be inclusive of people experiencing rough sleeping and homelessness in line with the NHS Mental Health Implementation Plan. This should have a continued focus on reducing barriers to access and quality of care. Future expansion of existing programmes should be funded beyond the Long Term Plan so that services can reach people in every part of the country.



Geographical commissioning
More specialist services are also needed. These should provide a more individualised approach and create the ability to cohort people by

clinical vulnerability, or by specific need – for instance women-only accommodation.

All services must provide a baseline of personcentred, trauma-informed and psychologically informed support and accommodation. However, in addition to that, some individuals face additional barriers such as high clinical vulnerability or specific trauma which means that they need a specialist type of accommodation and support.

"Local commissioners should ensure they commission a mix of safe accommodation...including wholly funded places available for women with no recourse to public funds and funding allocations for immigration support and intensive resettlement support as provided in the emergency refuge." (Women/S34)

However, with limited capacity and funding, local authorities will be understandably reluctant to commission separate services if there are only a small number of individuals who require it within their area.

There are, however, examples of alternative models. During the pandemic there was a pan-London response through the hotel provision. GLA categorised hotels based on health needs, distinguished as: the Covid-19 Care hotels (people with Covid-19); Covid-19 Protect hotels (people with underlying health conditions) and then the more generic hotel provision. People could be referred into these from any Local Authority, with the referral based on need rather than geographical location.

The pan-London and sub-region models outlined here would also address issues with standardising pathways, whereby many individuals experience difficulties of fragmentation, and improve communication across local authorities.

It was made clear during consultation with the homelessness sector that regional and sub-regional offers must ensure that risk assessments are undertaken so that people are not moved from support networks, with the individual's personal risk and wellbeing at the forefront.

Recommendations:

• To ensure that an appropriate offer of support is always available, local authorities should make greater use of pan-regional commissioning of specialised services.

Chapter 4: Roles of accommodation and service models

The right accommodation with the right support at the right time plays a huge part in both preventing homelessness and supporting an individual to recover from it. It is far broader than simply a roof over someone's head. It can help improve health outcomes, enhance wellbeing, and support someone to sustain a job and contribute to the community, which in turn creates a positive feedback loop.⁴⁷

The fundamental challenge of the availability and quality of housing and support continues to have a huge impact on what any service can do.

As recommended in one evidence submission, the Government has an opportunity to "reimagine the homelessness system and should build on Everyone In by working with local authorities and the third sector to provide and commission a range of accommodation and support to both prevent homelessness and address it quickly when it occurs," (Housing/S26)

This chapter examines the various types of accommodation and service models at different points along a person's recovery journey. It brings together the different views from across the sector on the efficacy of various service and accommodation types and how to overcome barriers to effective delivery.

Prevention services

The first step should always be preventing people from rough sleeping in the first place. Every case of rough sleeping is an emergency. People who sleep on the streets are at immediate serious risk of assault. The average age of death of someone who dies while sleeping rough or in emergency accommodation is only 45.9 years for men, and even lower for women. 48 The longer

people spend on the streets the more they are exposed to the risk of assault, violence, and physical and mental health problems.⁴⁹ The human and social costs of rough sleeping are extensive, and much of it borne out in the health and criminal justice system, and within communities. Furthermore, it makes financial sense by preventing even larger costs associated with rough sleeping to public services – A&E visits for example 50 – as well as the wider economic costs. Analysis of public spending has shown that the average cost for quickly resolving an episode of rough sleeping is just £1,426, but would rise to £20,128 if rough sleeping were to persist for 12 months.⁵¹ Research by SOLACE showed a "conservative" estimated annual cost to the public purse of £1 million" in Doncaster, based on 57 people with complex needs. When scaled to the estimated 4,200 people experiencing complex needs in Doncaster this was estimated to be £50 million a year in reactive cost.52

Many experiences of rough sleeping have their roots much further back in someone's life than the immediate trigger. Adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) are bound up with poverty and complex trauma, and make individuals less equipped to cope when housing problems emerge. In a similar way, more general housing insecurity and unaffordability will be experienced before an individual is at risk of rough sleeping.

Evidence submissions to the Commission highlighted the significant value of tenancy sustainment in preventing homelessness and rough sleeping. This can include a range of support, such as practical help with money management; submitting benefits claims; securing suitable work; or intensive support with complex problems such as hoarding. A crucial part of tenancy sustainment is equipping people with life skills and building on their personal strengths and confidence to stop problems from reoccurring or escalating. A lived experience organisation advised the Commission that training and guidance whilst someone is in a homeless accommodation setting, such as a hostel, is imperative in preventing homelessness once they are in longer term accommodation. This can be as practical as teaching someone to cook. Some people may also struggle with moving away from the street because they lack other support networks, are unable to occupy their time, or do not want to spend extended periods of time in their new accommodation. Employment, volunteering, peer support networks, and courses or activities can all play a valuable role in supporting people to recover.

However, once an individual is at risk of homelessness or sleeping rough, they should be able to go to their local authority and obtain a high level of support which addresses their housing problems and other relevant support needs. This is a critical stage.

There is already a greater focus on prevention than before (thanks to new and amended duties in the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 which recognised that there is a role for local authorities to act in a preventative way), and initiatives exist to support people off the streets (such as the Rough Sleeping Initiative). Yet people who are at immediate risk of sleeping rough remain vulnerable. Current gaps in the protections provided by homelessness legislation – for example priority need or intentionality criteria - still leaves many single homeless people at risk of rough sleeping. These gaps are highlighted in a survey by Crisis which found that nearly four in ten respondents' housing circumstances either

stayed the same or worsened after presenting at a housing options service since the Act came into force, with some people going from being housed to sleeping rough or sofa surfing.⁵³ In addition, there is the wider context of resourcing difficulties for local authorities to support preventative measures.

In some areas, the Everyone In initiative meant those at immediate risk of sleeping rough with nowhere safe to stay – not just those who were already sleeping rough – were provided with suitable emergency accommodation. The Everyone In initiative demonstrated that it is possible to implement targeted interventions on a national scale to prevent people at the sharp end of homelessness from sleeping rough. These interventions can provide a final safety net for those people who have not been helped earlier. The next step is to maintain these targeted interventions at a crucial point before they sleep rough.

A small number of the Somewhere Safe to Stay (SStS) services, funded by central government and local authorities, are already focussed on this tipping point. These were at first proposed by the Government's Rough Sleeping Advisory Panel as a way of preventing rough sleeping for people at immediate risk of doing so, by offering a safe place to stay, a rapid assessment of their needs and support to find a longer-term solution to their homelessness.⁵⁴

Rapid assessment is key, as this determines the appropriate pathway. A poor assessment may result in people being offered interventions which are inadequate for their needs, resulting in a revolving door of homelessness and rough sleeping. The SStS services are important in this, as they have the specialist knowledge to help someone with their particular needs – for example, knowing the steps needed to support someone who is a non-UK migrant and has limited access to public funds. A national survey of street outreach professionals carried out by St Mungo's in 2018 showed that 70% of areas which had avoided an increase in numbers had a rough sleeping prevention service in their locality.55

However, a significant barrier to delivering rough sleeping prevention is the need for verification. As highlighted in the Kerslake Commission's Interim Report, during the Everyone In initiative, some local authorities effectively derogated rules on verification, allowing them and frontline services to quickly provide shelter at the point of need and without having to check eligibility. This helped improve engagement and outcomes among groups that had previously fallen through the gaps of support.

"If someone is statutorily homeless they should be offered support, the initial stages of Everyone In offered support unconditionally and this really helped people. In contrast, the normal prepandemic verification rules associated with initiatives...such as Streetlink can often make the offer of support harder. We think the criteria needs to be much less strict to ensure a more effective response. During the pandemic, we had instances where verification could not happen for several days due to bank holiday periods..." (\$44)

Preventing homelessness through early intervention - Porchlight, Kent

Live Well Kent and Medway, a network of voluntary sector services supporting people with a range of mental health needs, from mental wellbeing through to severe mental illness and focusing on early intervention and prevention, as well as longer term recovery.

Live Well Kent and Medway's services targeteded the most socially and economically deprived areas of Kent where risks around mental health issues are higher.

The services provided a mix of practical and emotional support and advice that is focused on the individual and often meets a range of complex needs all in one place. It might be answering questions about benefits or housing, help with paperwork or form-filling finding education or work opportunities, or connecting people with others or with specialist services so that they can address any problems early, stay well and better manage their own lives.

A number of services within the network provide support around the social factors impacting on mental health, providing direct advice and support as well as referrals to specialist help when it's needed.

An independent evaluation of Live Well Kent found that:

- 71.9% of people who accessed the service said their mental health and wellbeing had improved
- 78% of clients were from the most socially and economically deprived areas of Kent.

Porchlight is one of two strategic partners delivering as well as managing Live Well Kent & Medway on behalf of Kent County Council and Kent & Medway Clinical Commissioning Group.

Porchlight's Community Housing service works with individuals whose mental health is impacting on their housing such as Mike who was struggling with his mental health following the death of his partner. He was desperate to move from his local authority property which held too many painful memories and his finances were being impacted by the bedroom tax.

The death of his partner had also affected Mike's income, leaving him without enough money to live on. He didn't know how to navigate the benefits system and because he was grieving, didn't feel strong enough to deal with his financial situation. Mike was struggling to buy food and other basic necessities and was falling into debt.

Mike's support worker helped him to apply for the correct benefits and to create a profile on a housing exchange website and the local housing register. They connected him with professional mental health support and helped him to access foodbanks and temporary financial support. A grant from the Tenant Welfare Fund helped to pay for removal of some items of rubbish in Mike's garden which were becoming a health hazard.

Mike was eventually offered a move to a one-bedroom flat with a housing association, escaping the financial burden of the bedroom tax and gaining the fresh start he needed following the loss of his partner.

Case study provided in partnership with Homeless Link

Recommendations:

- To prevent an increased flow of people onto the streets, the Government must retain the welfare changes that have kept people afloat during the pandemic, whereby Local Housing Allowance rates were raised to the 30th percentile of local rents and Universal Credit received an uplift of £20 per week. In addition, the Government should review the benefit cap and seek to increase it in areas with high affordability pressure, and provide a financial package of support for people in arrears due to the pandemic.
- There should be a cross-departmental focus on homelessness prevention. By investing in preventative measures such as arrears/debt recovery, employment support, training on budgeting and knowledge of tenancy rights and responsibilities the resilience of families and individuals will improve. This should be supported by a similar approach to early mental health support which would further underpin a prevention culture and would result in fewer households in crisis. These measures would reduce the number of people rough sleeping in the future.
- Local authorities must ensure that all commissioning, services and support from health, to housing, to benefits advice – are person centred, trauma informed and psychologically informed, where the individual is supported to make their own choices and supported to identify what is important to them.

Street outreach and emergency accommodation

Prior to the pandemic, London CHAIN statistics for April 2019-March 2020 showed a 21% increase compared to the number of people seen sleeping rough in 2018-19, and followed an 18% increase between 2017-18 and 2018-19. It was 170% higher than 2010-11. Though the package of financial support brought in by the Government during the pandemic did help to stem the tide of homelessness, it did not succeed in preventing a rise in cases, particularly among single, young men.⁵⁶ Towards the second wave of the pandemic, there were bigger increases in people experiencing homelessness for the first time, including people who had been furloughed or become newly unemployed.⁵⁷ For many of these individuals, street outreach and emergency accommodation were vital tools in addressing rough sleeping.

Street outreach

Evidence from the frontline strongly backed that assertive outreach is vital in any approach to ending rough sleeping. Street outreach models involve teams going out late at night and in the early hours of the morning to identify those who find themselves rough sleeping and provide urgent assistance.

The models will vary but the principle remains the same: no one should be left to sleep rough and through a persistent and determined approach any individual can be supported off the street.

A core component of outreach is going to people where they are, and establishing trusting relationships, rather than waiting for them to approach traditional place-based services. This is important as many of the individuals for whom this model is designed for have historically experienced a distinct lack of trusting relationships, causing a suspicion of services and institutions.⁵⁸

Outreach played a crucial role during Everyone In. A literature review by Crisis noted that "the need for agility and quick responsiveness was identified as key to successful outcomes." Evidence submitted to the Commission showed that the extent to which an area invested in outreach and had strong partnerships in place, influenced how effectively people could come off the street. Vaccination delivery was also dependent on effective outreach delivery.

"Outreach teams were effective at building on their relationships with rough sleepers, this highlights how often the best relationship that a rough sleeper forms is with the first professional that encountered them and built trust hence they were essential to enable people to settle into hotels." Homelessness/S7

A problem highlighted with outreach as it currently stands is that due to fewer specialist workers able to engage with people where they are, teams are left to fulfil too many specialist roles which they are not equipped or trained to do. In St Mungo's national survey of street outreach professionals in 2018, 70% of respondents said that access to mental health support for people sleeping rough had become harder in their area during the last five years, and 42% said the same for alcohol and drugs services. In the survey only a minority of respondents said important mental health services were in practice available to people sleeping rough in their area. 60 The Independent Review of Drugs highlights that significant cuts have been made to drug and alcohol outreach.61 This was exacerbated during the pandemic, as difficulties in accessing some services, due to them closing or moving online, meant that there was an even greater burden placed on outreach workers to deliver this support. 62 Yet outreach is not currently accredited or effectively audited. Many workers do not have clinical or specialist knowledge around mental health or drug and alcohol use but are expected to manage complex cases where people are experiencing drug problems, rough sleeping and mental ill health. It has been recommended to the Commission that there should be either be

generic teams with embedded specialist workers (such as drug and alcohol and mental health workers); and/or accreditation for outreach workers who might specialise in specific areas. This would align with the model of outreach as a specialised service that works with a distinct and targeted cohort.

Another difficulty for outreach, as with prevention, is the way that verification currently works. Needing to be verified by outreach teams as sleeping rough before being able to access many types of support means that far more people require intervention via outreach. Frontline providers highlighted to the Commission that outreach should not be a gatekeeping service, but rather a targeted intervention for a specific cohort of people who cannot or will not come off streets, or who are unable to seek help elsewhere: everyone else should be signposted to places of safety rather than helped on the street. This is where the crucial step of prevention — in this context, particularly the crisis prevention through emergency assessment hubs – is key. Verification should be a part of the assessment, rather than a requirement to accessing help.

For any type of outreach to succeed, however, it must be matched with available accommodation, personal budgets and guaranteed support. The Commission was told that the main problem currently is the lack of viable offers and pathways. Due to the generic nature of provision, there are many individuals whose needs cannot be adequately met, meaning they remain on the street, compounding their support needs.

Recommendations:

- Requiring verification that a person is sleeping rough before they can access a service, inhibits efforts to prevent rough sleeping. Local authorities should remove verification as a necessary step for accessing services, and instead incorporate it as part of the assessment process, in order to determine the appropriate offer of support and pathway.
- Staff in the homelessness sector support very vulnerable people, often with complex needs, and it essential that they have the right competencies to do this job. To recognise the challenging job that they do, it is recommended that Homeless Link convene a consultation on professional accreditation. This should cover all areas of the workforce and include understanding the integration of specialist support, such as mental health and immigration advice.

Continued over...

To maximise resources, capacity and expertise in outreach services, local authorities should either embed specialist workers – such as drug and alcohol and mental health workers – in generic outreach teams; and/or develop specific accreditation for outreach workers who might specialise in particular areas. This should include working with the new integrated care systems in England to commission and coordinate effective specialist services, which are embedded into outreach teams. This may require additional and designated resourcing from public health grants.

Emergency accommodation

Once someone sleeping rough has been approached by an outreach team, the most common next step is an assessment hub and emergency accommodation.

Some people remain in emergency accommodation until resettlement in more permanent accommodation, while others may be referred to interim accommodation or specialist schemes. 64 There was a broad agreement within the evidence submissions that emergency accommodation should only ever be for short term use, to offer immediate protection from the dangers of sleeping rough.

One example of an emergency accommodation and assessment model prepandemic was the No Second Night Out (NSNO) service commissioned by the GLA. This helped move people newly sleeping rough off the streets as quickly as possible often using a single service offer.⁶⁵ The aim was that no one sleeping rough should spend more than 72 hours at a NSNO hub, where they could access emergency accommodation along with washing facilities and food. Outreach services, to help identify people on the streets, was one of the key elements of the approach. DLUHC has rolled out NSNO across England since 201166 with examples of the service in Greater Manchester 67 and Oxford 68

Communal sleeping spaces – alternatively known as 'night shelters' – are a common form of emergency accommodation which aim to provide a safe place away from the street. These are usually provided and managed by faith groups, or by national or local charities. 69 Just over half of local authorities (52%) in England reported at least some dormitory-style homelessness accommodation in their area pre-pandemic. 70 Prior to Covid-19, communal space was the main delivery mechanism for Severe Weather Emergency Protocol (SWEP), enabling lifesaving interventions for individuals rough sleeping during extreme weather.

Providers in the homelessness sector highlighted to the Kerslake Commission that communal spaces can have a role to play during short period emergency assessments, to allow staff to observe behaviour and assess needs. Further, providers highlight that they are on the whole far more cost effective to run.

"The shelter model, with free space provided by churches, would allow for a greater number of people to find support than a model that relies on single-rooms. Our data shows that with wrap-around support, shelters can be effective, safe, humane forms of accommodation that can act as a springboard out of homelessness. We believe a mixed model that provides safe environments and allows people to move from shelter to hostels to independence, all buttressed with crucial support from trained support workers, would be the right combination moving forward." (Lived Experience/S32)

In instances outside of emergency assessments, however, dormitory style accommodation was criticised for not being psychologically informed: contributors from the homelessness sector raised concerns that communal spaces are stressful environments with limited privacy for people who have experienced rough sleeping, many of whom have trauma-induced mental health and substance use which can be exacerbated by these conditions.⁷¹ They are also a public health risk, putting people at high risk of contracting Covid-19. In one study, it was found that the mortality rate from Covid-19 for people staying in homeless shelters in New York City was 61% higher than the rate among the general population.⁷²

Independent research commissioned by Housing Justice found that:

'Almost everyone interviewed – guests, volunteers, coordinators and partners including local authorities – strongly believed that 24-hour access, self-contained or single room accommodation was more desirable than the communal, night-time-only model. It provided privacy and stability for guests, and made it easier for them to access support and employment. It was also more accessible for women. Even where 24-hour site access was not possible – for example, in some pod accommodation – the privacy afforded was considered beneficial compared with communal sleeping spaces.'⁷³

Research also shows that the provision of self-contained accommodation during Everyone In and the dignity people felt from having their own front door was a strong force for good in improving wellbeing. Further, the vulnerability that many felt when using shared spaces in night shelters was eased. Homelessness providers gave evidence to the Commission that many individuals who had previously rejected shared sleeping spaces have accessed, sustained and successfully moved on from hotel accommodation. In the City of London, one hotel manager said that they had long-term clients come into the hotel who, cumulatively, had been sleeping rough for 200 years. 75

On 16 August 2021 the Government published its updated Operating Principles for Commissioners and Providers of Night Shelter Projects. The guidance encourages the use of self-contained models but falls short of specifically discouraging or ruling out shared sleeping models. It emphasises that final decisions need to be taken locally with public health and local authorities.

Health experts at the Healthy London Partnership (a partnership of health bodies, GLA and local government to improve health) have stressed that single room accommodation is the safest option: "communal night shelter accommodation in the context of a poorly vaccinated population remains a high risk."⁷⁷ The lack of clear direction from Government guidance has resulted in confusion amongst both providers and people sleeping rough, with both parties telling the Commission of dual worries for this winter that people may be left stranded outside – and concurrently that there may be large outbreaks amongst vulnerable populations if night shelters are to open. Currently, many night shelters are uncertain whether or not they will open, which will have implications particularly during winter – for people with no, or limited, access to public funds and those whom the council have determined do not have priority need. Night shelters are generally the last safety net for these groups.

It is essential that all emergency accommodation protects people from sleeping rough and the huge health risks that it poses, as well as the significant health threats which Covid-19 poses to a vulnerable cohort.

Research has found that some local authorities intend to make a decisive shift away from communal accommodation. However, other areas worry that financial and legal constraints make the use of this accommodation unavoidable, particularly during winter. For areas to move away from communal accommodation outside of emergency assessments, the Government must therefore recognise that self-contained accommodation is more expensive, and provide adequate funding to make it feasible, particularly during periods of greater need such as winter.

Recommendations:

- Homelessness service providers, charities and agencies have a responsibility to make sure that any accommodation model is safe and Covid secure using the following principles:
 - a. Operated from buildings that can be made Covid secure, for example can be well ventilated and are able to test temperature on entry.
 - b. If communal spaces, they are part of an established pathway that allows for people to be given self-contained emergency accommodation if they need to isolate or test Covid positive.
 - c. If providing a shelter or communal space, the accommodation must have in place a testing regime where people are tested on entry and then are regularly tested when in the building.
 - d. Have a continuity plan that allows for managing an outbreak and decanting the space.
 - e. Where shelters are not reopening, ways of harnessing the community response to homelessness and other forms of disadvantage should be considered; these range from floating support to large-scale food provision to smaller contributions.
 - f. Regardless of shelter models, space to store possessions and access to showers should be provided where possible.
- Winter comes round every year but preparedness for its implications on rough sleeping amongst local authorities varies. Local authorities, in partnership with homelessness organisations, should conduct long term, strategic planning for peaks in weather, including extreme cold or severe heat, and other contingencies. This strategy should be grounded in prevention, to ensure that people supported through severe weather emergency protocol (SWEP) are kept to a minimum, and supported through long-term funding. The aim should be to reduce reliance on communal night shelters.

Supported housing

Supported housing is any housing scheme where housing, support and sometimes care services are provided as an integrated package. Some schemes are long-term, designed for people who need ongoing support to live independently due to complex needs, others are short-term — for example some hostels. The way accommodation and support services are delivered also varies between schemes; some organisations own properties, some provide support, and some do both. Housing associations deliver over 70% of England's supported housing.

The combination of secure housing and highquality support can transform lives, helping people settle into a new home, maintain tenancies and improve life chances. For many, the only viable alternative to supported housing would be residential care, hospital or another secure institution. This is a poor use of limited hospital resources and is detrimental to the individual who could live independently with the right support. Supported housing helps ease the pressure on the NHS and care services with the National Housing Federation (NHF) estimating that it saves the public purse around £940 per resident per year.

However, the supply of supported housing is decreasing while need is increasing. Research in 2015 calculated that by 2024-25, there will be a national shortfall of 46,771 supported, sheltered and extra care housing places. Recent report found that long-term uncertainty over capital investment, revenue funding for support, and funding for housing costs through the Housing Benefit system have all been barriers to housing associations developing new supported housing schemes.

Hostels are one type of supported accommodation. For some people experiencing homelessness, hostels can act as a meaningful and appropriate pathway to permanent accommodation after the immediate emergency has been dealt with. However, for others, hostels have been a place without adequate support, too many rules and restrictions, and difficult to move on from.

More than 90% of all homeless accommodation projects in England consist of temporary accommodation, including hostels, with a maximum two year stay. The term 'hostel' can cover a spectrum of accommodation options. Some take hostel to include emergency settings without support, whilst others in the homelessness sector look to hostels as the longer-term generic provisions and specialised services offering tailored support to specific cohorts. Services vary in the size of accommodation, as well as the level and nature of support offered. The absence of an agreed definition of a hostel causes some difficulties amongst the sector.

There are then issues surrounding the level of quality of hostels, which varies dramatically. 85, 86 A report into the experiences of single people experiencing homelessness with mental health needs in the London Borough of Hackney found that 'Many said their hostel accommodation made them feel 'unsafe' and 'highly anxious' 7 With some, although they purported to have staff onsite at all hours, lack of funding can mean this is just security staff who are not appropriately trained to ensure the welfare of residents, creating dangerous environments for residents' health and wellbeing. 88 Further, as discussed in Chapter 4, there is a lack of specialist accommodation available.

It was reported to the Commission that this lack of oversight on what hostels are and what their purpose is, makes it is difficult to assess their effectiveness and hold them to account.⁸⁹

Contributors made the case that if there was a defined set of standards which all provision should meet, irrespective of whether it would fall under the definition of hostel or emergency accommodation, this would hold hostels to account.



People accessing hostels also face significant structural barriers in moving on to more permanent accommodation options. The Homeless Link 2019 survey showed that 24% of those in hostels were ready to move on but were unable to. Of this, 36% had been waiting six months or longer. Respondents identified the lack of accommodation available at the Local Housing Allowance rate (72%) and being excluded from housing providers due to 'previous debt, or rent arrears' (70%) as significant barriers. 90

There is evidence that the right type of hostel can bring positive outcomes for residents and can support people to progress towards independent living, as well as protecting residents from many of the risks and health impacts associated with sleeping on the street. Hostels should maintain their role as interim accommodation and support, helping people improve their health and wellbeing and move towards independence and permanent accommodation. To do this however, the baseline level of accommodation and service delivery must be improved. 92

Wherever possible, the solution to homelessness should focus on providing permanent homes rather than temporary accommodation. It is also important that over time the sector works with Government so that the overall balance of provision is shifted away from short-term accommodation, such as hostels, towards longer-term alternatives particularly for people who have high complex needs and therefore much of the current short-term offer is not suitable for them. It is important that temporary means temporary, and people are not stuck in the hostel system, or caught in a cycle of returning to sleeping rough. To do so, an increase in availability of longer-term accommodation is needed, but as highlighted in the Interim Report, a better alignment between the capital and revenue funds is also key.

Much like with hostels, the quality of provision in other supported housing is also inconsistent, particularly for 'exempt accommodation.' 'Exempt accommodation' – non-commissioned leased supported housing — is supported accommodation provided by non-profit making organisations where the rules that normally limit the amount of rent covered by a benefit award - such as the benefit cap - do not apply. It was introduced to account for the higher operating costs of providing certain types of supported or supervised accommodation.⁹³ However, there is little regulation of care, support or supervision provided, merely a requirement for it to be 'more than minimal'.94 In recent years, it has come to light that this has been abused by some providers who can claim high rental yields in exchange for, sometimes, relatively minimal input. 95 There is a high concentration of this issue in Birmingham. 96

This can be hugely detrimental to those stuck in substandard exempt accommodation. This is a very vulnerable group with few other options, who have often come to exempt accommodation through mental health trusts, care, or the criminal justice system. Some are young people. Programment Research published by Commonweal, Spring Housing Association and the Housing and Communities Research Group found they then have "common experiences of isolation, insecurity and lack of privacy for residents, and the corresponding negative effects

on mental health and wellbeing." This ties into the challenges with non-commissioned services more generally, and the need to ensure that all homelessness accommodation meets a good standard. There is a role for all the actors — local authorities, housing associations, homelessness organisations, etc. in understanding and managing the local market, including need, quality, and funding.

In October 2020, DLUHC launched five pilots to try and improve oversight in supported housing. The purpose was to test new approaches to drive up standards, including strengthening enforcement in the sector, such as accommodation inspections, ⁹⁹ and gather findings to inform future national policy. Four of them – in Birmingham, Hull, Blackpool and Blackburn – have been extended and will run until September 2021.

Outside of these pilot areas, there are concerns across housing associations, local authorities and the homelessness sector that there is a dearth of regulation in this sector. The National Housing Federation, for instance, has stated that from September it will remove membership from exempt accommodation providers if they do not meet new requirements being written into the organisation's new membership policy. ¹⁰⁰ There is a need for a national standard of expectations alongside the outcome of the pilots. Whilst there is a transition to a better offer of self-contained accommodation, it is also important that supply is maintained to ensure that needs are adequately met.

In addition to the wider need for improved quality of both support and accommodation, there is also a specific point on the relationship between homeless organisations and drug and alcohol support teams. Despite there being a strong reciprocal relationship between rough sleeping and drug and alcohol problems (footnote with knocked back research), the Commission has been advised that there is a lack of clinical governance experience in homelessness providers. There is a need for homelessness organisations to have stronger partnerships with voluntary sector providers around single clinical governance frameworks to ensure that people experiencing homelessness get the right level of clinical safety.

Recommendations:

- Quality accommodation, provided with the right levels of support, has a material impact upon
 a person's recovery journey. Poor accommodation, and inadequate support has the opposite
 impact. The Government should introduce a quality assurance framework for homelessness
 accommodation, with a national register that requires evidence that providers are meeting
 minimum standards set by the framework as a condition of registration. This is to ensure
 that accommodation is safe, decent and appropriate, and creates a better definition of the
 standard of care, support and supervision required. The work to regulate must be supported
 by funding for local authority teams to enforce homelessness standards.
- Meaningful employment can play a crucial role in a person's recovery from rough sleeping, but only if it does not destabilise other parts of it. The Department of Work and Pensions should allow people living in supported housing to experience the positive effects of work without putting their benefits at risk, by re-introducing a 'work allowance' for people living in this type of accommodation.

Housing First

Housing First is an internationally recognised and effective health, care and housing intervention for people with the most complex needs. It provides a tenancy first as a platform for change, with intensive and flexible support to help clients address their needs at their pace. There are no conditions attached to being 'housing ready' - such as engaging in treatment for substance use – before someone is provided a home. It provides stable accommodation and flexible. consistent support that meets each individual's needs. However, although many point to its success in helping people who have extremely complex needs, homelessness exists in many forms, only some of which Housing First is designed to end. Further, while there are strong arguments for exploring Housing First as research shows it is a cost-effective approach to long term homelessness, [0] Housing First is a comparably high investment as it is a relatively intensive service offering open-ended support. There is also increasingly limited access to the private rented sector and insecure tenancies which are potential barriers to upscaling the Housing First approach.

In the 2017 Autumn Budget, the Government provided £28m to fund three regional pilots in the West Midlands, Liverpool and Manchester. Evidence from these pilots has shown that the Housing First approach works. As of September 2020, the pilots had housed 450 people with tenancy sustainment rates

of between 86% and 89%, putting them in line with the international evidence. ¹⁰² The pilots also report wider system benefits, with improved joint-working and person-centred, strengths-based approaches being embedded across local housing and health services.

As well as improving quality of life for individuals, research shows Housing First to be cost effective. The Centre for Social Justice estimated $\pounds 9,683$ is spent annually on average per Housing First client; but $\pounds 15,073$ is saved on other bills including homelessness services, the criminal justice system, NHS and mental health services, as well as drug and alcohol support. 103

Homeless Link's 2020 report on Housing First estimated an almost six-fold increase in the capacity of Housing First services across the country since 2017. 104 The organisation did, however, find services are unevenly geographically distributed, with a concentration of services in the South East (23% of services) and London (20%). 105

In submissions to the Commission, local authorities and homelessness providers advised that cost is the primary barrier to rolling Housing First out further, as it demands relatively high investment, although there are significant long term returns. Further, that it is best provided in social housing, of which there is limited supply. These are barriers which should be addressed to enact the necessary upscaling of the Housing First approach.

The funding for the Housing First pilots is due to end in 2022, and there is currently a cliff-edge in funding and a potential disruption to service delivery whilst a longer-term decision is made. It was strongly recommended in submissions that, first, the pilots should be extended or alternatively, that bridge funding should be made available to allow time for evaluation. The three Metro Mayors of the pilot areas recently joined forces to call for an extension, arguing that the pilots had been unquestionably successful and that this was an approach which "puts the

individual and the support they want and need at the forefront." ¹⁰⁶

What came through strongly in the Commission's evidence submissions, is that Housing First can, and should be, an integral part of the approach to ending rough sleeping in England. It demonstrates the strengths of an approach which looks to homelessness as a health issue as well as a housing issue. However, to see its potential requires cross-departmental investment and leadership.

Recommendations:

• In its vision for scaling up Housing First provision for people with complex needs, Government must drive cross-departmental collaboration and should establish a joint ministerial funding stream, as well as cementing a shared understanding of what Housing First is in practice.

Social housing

For people with a history of rough sleeping, social housing can offer a new start, providing a bedrock for accessing prevention and maintaining support through long term recovery services. 107

At its best, social housing is affordable, safe, long term and allocated on the basis of need. Although social housing tenancies are no longer always for life, they still provide significantly more stability than the private rented sector (PRS).

Social rents have also remained consistently affordable for people on low incomes as they are pegged to local incomes, and increases are controlled by central Government. 108

Between 2016 and 2020, rents were reduced by 1% a year. 109

Research suggests that people living in the PRS were also less likely than those living in social housing to have received on-going support following homelessness, 110 and it is also more difficult to deliver innovative wraparound support, such as Housing First, in the PRS. 111

Supply

Unfortunately, social housing has become scarcer to those in desperate need. There were 1.15 million households on local authority waiting lists on 31 March 2020. Research

by the NHF on the number of people in need of social housing in England in 2020 found the number to be 1.6 million households – nearly 500,000 more. II3 In the year to March 2020, there were only 306,000 new social housing lettings, a decrease of 2.5% or 8,000 lets from the previous year. II4 The vast majority of these homes were old stock, which came up for rent as people moved out of their homes. In 2019-20, only 6,566 newly built properties were available at social rent. II5 This is far below the 90,000 new homes at social rents that are needed every year. II6

"Lack of social housing remains an acute difficulty that has kept women in abusive environments or in emergency accommodation spaces due to the lack of affordable and appropriate accommodation to move onto." (Women/S34)

The decline in social housing is both due to a decline in new supply and a depletion of existing stock, including through Right to Buy. 17 A report by the Housing, Communities and Local Government Committee sets out that the decline in supply is due to: the cost of land, the need for increased capital grant funding and a primary focus on home ownership interventions rather than affordable and social housing. 118 It is crucial that an increased amount of social housing is looked to as one of the primary solutions for ending rough sleeping longer term, as it is fundamental to effective move-on solutions.

Homelessness prevention

During the pandemic, intensive partnership working between housing associations and local authorities also helped accommodate and rehouse people, with support where needed. It was reported to the Commission how local authorities worked with housing

associations to provide direct allocations to homeless households into social housing. The suspension of choice-based lettings and move to direct lets opened up routes for people housed in emergency accommodation and reduced dependence on supported housing and the private rented sector.

Onward Homes

Liverpool City Council, the Liverpool
City Region Housing Association group
and partner charities, together helped
more than 1,000 households threatened
with homelessness during the pandemic
into sustainable new homes. The project
was launched before the pandemic but
accelerated during lockdown to make sure
that 'Everyone in' did not become 'Everyone
back out' when the funding stopped.

Following the breakdown of his marriage, Derek – 52, from Liverpool – found himself at rock bottom. With no home, no job, no money, he began sofa-surfing with family and friends. Life continued to spiral and Derek found himself living on the streets of Liverpool. The dangers of rough sleeping brought Derek mental and physical pain. In and out of hostels, he would often sleep in parks. Then one day he was beaten so severely by a stranger that he suffered brain damage. Derek found it too hard to break the cycle and lived like this for five years.

Derek said: 'I don't know how I got through it – it was really bad. I knew I couldn't do it anymore.'

He was then referred by Liverpool City Council to Onward Homes. Onward is a North West housing association and one of number of Registered Providers (RPs) who worked together to commit homes and energy to the Liverpool Homelessness Partnership Project. Derek also received help from Crisis, which worked closely with Onward to find a home that would work for Derek long-term.

A suitable home was found at Kelton Park, Aigburth. Onward Neighbourhood Specialist Paula McIntyre helped Derek set up utility accounts and access a furniture package, funded by Fusion21 and coordinated by the Liverpool RPs.

Derek said: "It's given me a big lift in my life, my own freedom, doing what I want to domaking it my home."

However, people with experience of homelessness and rough sleeping still face significant barriers in accessing social housing. Prior to the pandemic, the number of homeless single people and couples without children in social housing decreased faster and further than the total fall in general needs social lets, from 31,411 in 2007-08 to 17,482 in 2017-18. This is a fall of 44%. 120

Due to the lack of social housing supply, local authorities ration their social housing by restricting who can 'qualify' to go on to housing waiting lists. The vast majority have introduced criteria excluding people who have a history of rent arrears, anti-social behaviour, criminal convictions or who haven't lived in an area

for long enough. 121 with 98% of councils having some form of restriction for people with a history of anti-social behaviour and 74% of allocations policies in all areas also have restrictions related to a history of offending or criminal behaviour. 122 This leads to systematic barriers towards letting to people who have experienced homelessness, as these restrictions are likely to have a disproportionate impact on people who have slept rough, given their increased rates of conviction and debt and the fact that many people do not sleep rough near areas where they have a local connection. Only 14% of council allocation policies regard a history of rough sleeping as a reason to prioritise a housing request. 123

There is a further problem of housing associations – which own 60% of social housing ¹²⁴ – having understandable concerns about their own expertise in supporting tenants with high or complex support needs. In consultation with housing associations, it was stressed that one of the primary ways to address this is investment in long term support, where there is an alignment between capital and revenue funds, as recommended in the Commission's interim report.

"There have been a number of positive changes to the design of RSAP this year. It is positive that housing associations can now also lead proposals as this was a barrier in the first year of the programme. Housing associations are very willing to take part in the fund but in the first year it was not always possible to do so if local authorities were constrained by time and could not lead proposals and submit bids.

We recommend that future funding for rough sleeping reflect the RSAP model — a fund that focuses on rough sleeping that is about providing accommodation, where capital and revenue funding are joined up, revenue funding is longer term and funding criteria is flexible to include different proposal leaders. Ultimately, we recommend that there be a sustainable long-term mechanism for the funding of supported housing more generally.

The examples of housing associations leading proposals and providing high numbers of much-needed move-on homes shows that the new fund design is working better. The timescales for completion are still challenging however, especially given the current supply chain challenges, and we recommend making it possible for completion deadlines to roll over as with other funds, instead of the cut-off point being in the financial year in which projects commence. Longer timescales would also support the development of more innovative bids." National Housing Federation and Homes for Cathy.

Recommendations:

- To deliver the sector recommended target of building 90,000 social rented homes a year, the Government must increase grant funding delivered through the Affordable Homes Programme. The Government should increase the supply of supported housing through the continuation of the Affordable Homes Programme, but ensure capital funding is linked to multi-year revenue funding for support services.
- Social rented homes offer a quality and affordable route out of homelessness, but are in dwindling supply. The Government should commit the funds from the Right to Buy scheme to a strategic acquisition programme to deliver more social rented homes, and reforms to be introduced through the upcoming Planning Bill should provide local authorities with financing flexibilities to build more housing of this type.
- To encourage lettings for people with experience of homelessness, social housing providers should operate flexible allocations and eligibility policies which allow individual applicants' unique set of circumstances and housing history to be considered. This can be embedded through allocations guidance issued by Government.

Private rented sector

As access to social housing becomes scarcer, the private rented sector (PRS) is housing an increasing number of people who are moving on from rough sleeping.

However, the insecurity people experience in PRS both causes homelessness and inhibits attempts to resolve it. ¹²⁵ In 2020, the ending of a private sector tenancy was the biggest single cause of statutory homelessness in England. ¹²⁶ In London, 38% of people sleeping rough for the first time had previously been settled in the private rented sector. ¹²⁷

The main challenges faced by PRS include: high rental costs, ¹²⁸, ¹²⁹ insecurity of tenure, ¹³⁰, ¹³¹ low quality, ¹³², ¹³³ and the reluctance of landlords to let to individuals on benefits and/or with a history of homelessness. ¹³⁴, ¹³⁵

PRS tenancies are often short-term, generally lasting just 6-12 months. More than a third of tenants in the PRS went into debt to finance their last move, ¹³⁶ and people with a history of rough sleeping are likely to have lower financial resilience than the general population. Some people also lack a network of family and friends who can provide support, which can make it extremely difficult to fund a deposit, rent advance or moving fees. This is in addition to the anxiety that the instability of the PRS can cause to people who have already experienced homelessness and sleeping rough.

The low quality of PRS which can be afforded at the Local Housing Allowance rate is also problematic. The English Housing Survey (EHS) estimates that in 2019 23% of PRS homes did not meet the Decent Home Standard compared with 18% of owner-occupied homes and 12% of social-rented homes. 137 Research by Shelter found that more than 6 in 10 renters (61%) had experienced at least one of the following problems over the past 12 months: damp, mould, leaking roofs or windows, electrical hazards, animal infestations and

gas leaks. ¹³⁸ The Renters' Reform Coalition point out that currently 'there is no record of who owns the 4.5 million private rented properties in the UK, and no checks on who becomes a landlord. As a result, taking action against landlords who let out unsafe homes or break the law is extremely difficult.' ¹³⁹

These problems not only contribute to homelessness through loss of accommodation but also have a significant impact on health: moving frequently can damage recovery by taking people away from the support they depend on (like mental health or substance use services), poor conditions such as damp and cramped living can have a significant impact on mental and physical health, likewise, the stress caused by insecurity.

"Moving clients via the PRS route has really highlighted the discrimination that people who are on benefits face. There is a lack of local affordable housing within the borough and the local area. There are many landlords who are not willing to consider this cohort of people. In addition, when they are informed that clients are currently living in temporary accommodation they automatically assume that they have a support need." (Housing/S6)

The Kerslake Commission's Interim Report raised the concern that there is a perfect storm coming with the end of the pandemic support measures, including the evictions moratorium, an end to furlough, rescinding the Universal Credit uplift, and expectations of a recession with associated arises in unemployment and household debt. 140 The likely result is an increase in homelessness from the PRS as private renters were vulnerable and insecure even before the pandemic struck, 141 and half a million people are now in rent arrears due to the pandemic. 142

The PRS has a role to play in supporting people's recovery from homelessness, but the Government must urgently bring in its proposed renting reforms, to ensure that tenants are protected from the risk of homelessness.

Recommendations:

 To end the use of 'no fault' evictions, which is the leading cause of statutory homelessness, ¹⁴³ the Government should urgently bring forward the Renters Reform Bill to repeal Section 21 of the Housing Act 1988. These reforms should also increase notice periods from two months in all but the most serious cases.

Chapter 5: Addressing unfairness and inequalities

Single white men who are UK nationals are the most common group found to be homeless or rough sleeping. Since they are over-represented, homelessness support is generally geared to meet their needs. However, many different groups have distinct experiences of homelessness, often requiring different support. Some may require assistance with immigration advice; some may require employment support; and others need women-only services. This chapter looks at some of the inequalities faced by these groups and how they should be addressed to ensure that everyone can access help and support which best meets their specific needs.

Non-UK nationals

Non-UK nationals represent a significant proportion of the people who sleep rough in England. At the time of writing, the latest quarterly data shows non-UK nationals accounted for 47% (1,131 people) of people sleeping rough in London between April and June 2021, and whose nationality was known. I45 According to figures from the DLUHC on the number of people seen sleeping rough on a single night in autumn 2020 in England as a whole, 18% of people were EU nationals and 5% were from outside the EU and the UK. I46 However, this figure is also likely to be an underestimate due to the significance of hidden homelessness amongst non-UK nationals. I47

One reason for this is that some migrants are fearful of engaging with state and third sector organisations:

One non-uk migrant said: "But, some people like refugees, they're scared to hand over themselves to the authority, they want to sleep rough... the Home Office or the government are not going to give them shelter, because they gave them a false name, they gave them false ID, they gave them false thing, not to deport him." 148

Within the wider group of non-UK nationals, there are those for whom their immigration status, and therefore their eligibility for welfare support or homelessness assistance, is unknown or unclear, as well as those who have No Recourse to Public Funds (NRPF) attached to their immigration status. For many individuals, having restricted access to support leaves them destitute. 149

However, there is little accurate data on the number of individuals with NRPF. On May 2021, DLUHC declared that it "is not possible to provide accurate figures on the number of people in the UK who are subject to NRPF at any given time." ¹⁵⁰

As set out in the rapid evidence review by the LSE for the Kerslake Commission, determining whether an individual has NRPF – or has the potential to have their conditions amended – is difficult technically and almost always requires professional support. 151 However, following the cuts to Legal Aid under the Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012 (LASPO), migrants find it difficult to obtain free legal advice and assistance in resolving their immigration issues/status. 152

This means that many vulnerable families, victims of domestic abuse ¹⁵³ and others who also have unclear immigration status, or NRPF, are unable to access essential services. ¹⁵⁴ A report by The Children's Society found that immigration policies, including NRPF, left "thousands of children growing up in long-term

poverty, trapped in cycles of homelessness, destitution and mounting debt." ¹⁵⁵

Research carried out by Portsmouth University found that many migrants with NRPF as well as those without EU settled status lacked knowledge about their immigration status and how to resolve it. ¹⁵⁶

One non-uk migrant said: "So of course I did realise that I need papers, because of course, in any country where you go you need your papers. But to be honest, I just didn't know how to go about it and I didn't have anyone to help me..." 157

People who face destitution can petition to have their NRPF condition legally changed. However, 90% of people surveyed who attempted to have their status changed unassisted were unsuccessful. Of these, 95% were subsequently successful upon receiving help. 158

In addition, resolving immigration matters can often take a long time due to the complexity of the application and the length of time it takes the Home Office to make decisions in these matters. The average number of days in receipt of Local authority support for single adults is 1055, and 629 days for family households. 159 However, benefit entitlements for those who are awaiting a decision from the Home Office on immigration matters are currently unclear, meaning many are unable to access support during this period. This means that the consequences of the lack of speed is falling on the individual or on the local authority. London Councils report that 65% of NRPF expenditure was solely on accommodation (the total annual expenditure average was estimated at nearly £1.7 million per borough). 160 Prior to receiving a decision, the Government should recognise that people need to be able to access support.

In addition to those with no, or limited, access to public funds, there is an additional group who are refugees and have recourse to public funds, but are also pushed into destitution. This is because they are only entitled to 28 days of accommodation and cash support after their notification of being granted refugee status. During this period, refugees who may not have been in the UK for very long, are unfamiliar with

the systems, may speak little English and will not have had access to employment and savings, have to very quickly obtain housing and a means to support and feed themselves and their families. ¹⁶¹ Submissions to this Commission stressed the need to increase the notification period from 28 to 56 days for those leaving the asylum system with a positive decision.

A further avenue of support which can be appropriate in some cases, is providing advice and support regarding international reconnection. For some people, returning to their country of nationality, or another country in which they have entitlements, can be the most sustainable route out of rough sleeping. ¹⁶² However, support to reconnect should always and only be offered on a voluntary basis and should always be preceded by immigration advice to ensure individuals make an informed decision.

The LSE's rapid evidence review highlighted that having NRPF or unclear immigration status is a clear reason behind rough sleeping and destitution. ¹⁶³, ¹⁶⁴ This has been exacerbated over the pandemic as many people with no, or limited, access to public funds, have lost their jobs due to their increased likelihood to working in frontline industries. ¹⁶⁵, ¹⁶⁶ Those who have lost their job during this pandemic are at risk of destitution if they cannot access public funds or are forced to take up less stable, more exploitative employment out of desperation. ¹⁶⁷

The Everyone In initiative introduced during the pandemic shifted the approach towards non-UK nationals as a wider group, as the support that was provided was interpreted as being applicable to everyone, irrespective of immigration status. This was broadly welcomed in the evidence submissions to the Commission and considered to be a key reason behind the success of the emergency response. ¹⁶⁸

"Everybody was housed without question and I think that was a really key point that it didn't matter where you were from, you were put into accommodation and you were fed which we've never experienced anything like...everybody taken off the streets and given a home." 169

However, in May 2020 the Government's position on non-UK nationals access to public funds became less clear, ¹⁷⁰ when the Housing Minister wrote to local authorities, reminding them of the legal restrictions on offering support to those ineligible for benefits. ¹⁷¹

In July 2021, the Government released a letter to local authorities advising that the funding principle of the latest round of RSI funding is that councils should 'ensure that support offered to non-UK nationals who are not eligible for homelessness assistance will comply with any legal restrictions...'. The Government added that it expected councils to exhaust all options to support those who are unable to access homelessness assistance as a result of their immigration status. ¹⁷² This leaves decisions subject to local variation as areas interpret what it means to exhaust all options – for example reconnection, or charitable support not using public funds -- as well as a lack of clarity on actions if a person's options have been exhausted. 173

"Changes in policy for treatment of individuals with no recourse to public funds (NRPF), as well as greater clarity on what support can be provided, would improve on the current situation and the work done during the pandemic. Confusion around NRPF cases has made longer term strategic planning more difficult, and improved access to legal advice on NRPF would go a long way in ensuring councils are well equipped to deal with these cases." (Local Authority/S65)

This variation will be exacerbated by local differences in what level of support is available to people with NRPF or unclear immigration status. Though there has been a significant improvement in collaboration between the range of organisations involved supporting non-UK nationals, ¹⁷⁴ there is still significant variation in advice and support available between areas.

Co-ordinating advice services and support, and sharing best practice, for those with NRPF or unclear immigration status will be a key on-going requirement, as is providing secure accommodation without the use of public funds – for example through housing associations.

Norfolk County Council and Broadland Housing Group: Housing for migrants with No Recourse to Public Funds

Iln Norfolk alone, 72 people with No Recourse to Public Funds were provided accommodation under Everyone In.

However, well before the pandemic, Broadland Housing had worked with Norfolk County Council People from Abroad team to develop the Housing to Work project, which provided two flats at a peppercorn rent to people with nowhere else to go. Broadland's Board had seen the minimal cost of rent loss as one worth paying for the social value, as a way of meeting our Homes for Cathy commitments.

The Housing to Work partnership extended the existing project with two shared homes, housing another eight people at any one time. This accommodation, targeted at European rough sleepers, was offered for a time-limited period, in conjunction with social work support. Health, social care needs and employment support were provided to people, along with help to find private rented accommodation once they had found work.

Although support funding for Housing to Work ended, the partnership has not and Broadland continued to offer homes at a peppercorn rent as part of its commitment to help tackle migrant homelessness.

This is not a new idea. It's not difficult. It does not cost a huge amount. Broadland was providing just 0.8% of its homes to house migrants with No Recourse to Public Funds. This partnership working could make a huge difference to the people it supports.

Recommendations:

- The Government must establish a clear policy position that limiting access to benefits for non-UK nationals should stop short of causing destitution. Destitution can be prevented through investing in good quality independent immigration and welfare advice, and employment support; clear guidance on access to benefits for non-UK nationals whose status is yet to be determined; and simpler and faster processes to clarify people's immigration status. Local authorities should be provided with guidance on what it means to 'exhaust all options within the law' 176 to support those sleeping rough and who are not eligible for statutory homelessness assistance, due to their immigration status. Local authorities should be provided with financial compensation where all other options have been exhausted to prevent destitution. Further, local authorities with a high number of non-UK nationals with unclear immigration status on the streets should look to funding immigration advice as part of their rough sleeping and homelessness prevention services. Collecting data on the number of individuals with no or limited access to public funds experiencing destitution, will help identify what resources are needed to assist this group out of homelessness.
- There are innovative ways that housing associations can respond to the housing and support needs of people with No Recourse Public Funds, or whose status is still to be settled, that are outside of normal business but often part of their charitable objectives. The Commission is encouraging housing associations to:
 - a. Offer peppercorn rent schemes within their existing properties;
 - b. Provide working accommodation for people with NRPF currently working or looking for work
 - c. Offer accommodation with legal advice to people with NRPF who may have a chance of a change in status
 - d. Provide free hostel and refuge spaces. 177

Wider equality issues

Individuals' experiences of homelessness are shaped by the impact of a range of overlapping factors, including race, ethnicity, religion, socioeconomic status, class, sexuality, gender identity, age, disability and immigration status. Social and economic circumstances affect a person's exposure to harmful situations and their access to, and experiences of, resources and support, as well as compounding ill health. It is important that people who are homeless are not treated as one homogenous group, as the distinct needs and experiences of individuals mean a tailored, informed and inclusive offer of support is needed to alleviate homelessness.

This chapter examines the particular issues which arise for certain groups – women, young people, LGBTQ+ and BAME – but it is important to recognise that these interconnect and people do not experience the effects of each one in isolation.

Women

According to government statistics, I 4% of people sleeping rough in England on a single night in autumn 2020 were women (377 people). I 78 However, women are often hidden whilst homeless or rough sleeping: finding secluded sleep sites or using tents, staying with friends or family, sleeping on buses, or with strangers who expect sex in return for shelter, or wearing baggy clothes to hide their gender. I 79

Hiding from harm means that women are hidden from help and missing from homelessness services and rendered statistically invisible. Further, women experiencing homelessness, but sheltered in refuges, are not counted as homeless.

The experiences and needs of women differ from men's. The trauma that women with experience of homelessness face is often rooted in gender-based sexual and domestic abuse – before, during, and after their experience of homelessness. A 2018 evidence review by the University of York reported that "experience of domestic violence and abuse is near-universal among women who become homeless." 180 A 2015 study from Ireland found that as many as 92% of women experiencing homelessness had been exposed to violence or abuse during their lifetime. 181 This connection between violence, abuse and women's homelessness is reinforced by international evidence. 182

This can significantly affect women's attitudes towards, and experiences of, support services and health services, aggravating their problems further and trapping them in a cycle of homelessness and ill health.

Other health needs of women experiencing homelessness also differ from men's: maintaining personal hygiene can be particularly challenging for women experiencing homelessness, who may lack access to sanitary products 183 and safe women-only places to shower. 184 Difficulty accessing sanitary products can be due to cost but also if they are only accessible in a communal space where women do not feel comfortable getting them. The impact of menstruation and menopause on physical and mental health for women experiencing homelessness is rarely considered. 185 Another difficulty specific to women is discussing and making pregnancy and child-care decisions. 186

Despite this, women-specific and gender-informed homelessness services are absent across many areas of England. The Homeless Link Annual Review reveals that in 2019 only 10% of accommodation services provide female-only accommodation – a 1% drop compared with the previous year. ¹⁸⁷ Homeless Link and Mapping the Maze identified between 99 and 155 women only homelessness and accommodation services in England ¹⁸⁸ and 61% of all local authorities in England and most of Wales were reported to have no homelessness services specifically for women. ¹⁸⁹

The No Woman Turned Away (NWTA) project: Women's Aid

The NWTA project had been funded since 2016 by the Ministry of Housing, Communities, and Local Government and run by Women's Aid Federation of England. The project, made up of four specialist domestic abuse practitioners provided emotional support, advocacy, information, referral, and signposting to survivors seeking refuge and safe accommodation. The project was specifically designed to support women fleeing domestic abuse facing structural barriers and inequalities to accessing a refuge space including: No Recourse to Public Funds, a disability, four or more children, language or cultural needs, alcohol or drug dependency needs, along with many more factors that limit a survivors chances of obtaining safe refuge accommodation within a context of a national network of refuges facing significant challenges. Working over the 'phone and through email, the project was able to support women across England and Wales.

The project understood domestic abuse as a form of violence against women, and recognised the misogyny inherent in perpetrators' actions, along with taking into account the inequalities and sexist attitudes women face when they try to flee an abuser(s). For many women the sexism they face intersects with other forms of discrimination and structural inequalities such as racism, disability discrimination, ageism, and sexuality discrimination for lesbian and bisexual women. The service worked to help survivors access specialist domestic abuse services that have an understanding of this, along with exclusive 'by-and-for led' Black and minoritised services, because it recognised the importance of a 'no one-size-fits-all' approach when it comes to helping survivors. The NWTA recognised that a survivor may not feel comfortable directly disclosing domestic and sexual violence to a male professional, 190 and can therefore could advocate for them

in this way. Along with this, the practitioners recognised the importance of single-sex spaces and how vital it is for women to be placed somewhere safe, not forced to be on guard, or re-live previous traumas.

In one case, one survivor's housing application was not accepted because the perpetrator had said that this woman did have a home. Therefore, the woman had no option but to sleep in her car because she did not feel safe staying in the house with the perpetrator. The NWTA worker tried to find a refuge for this woman, however, this proved to be difficult because the woman felt unable to stay in a shared refuge due to her complex mental health needs. The survivor was also limited in terms of where she could travel because her 16-year old son still lived with the perpetrator. The NWTA worker liaised with the local mental health crisis team to appeal the survivor's homelessness application. This was accepted and the survivor is now residing in temporary accommodation. The NWTA team are continuing to support her in accessing permanent accommodation in the area, along with helping her access legal aid for her divorce from the perpetrator.

This case is an example of good gendered practices because it shows how women experiencing domestic abuse are often made to sleep rough because of the abuse. Rather than pressurising this woman to accept an offer in a shared refuge space the worker understood that this would be detrimental to her post-trauatic stress disorder diagnosis and the trauma she had experienced, and worked with the mental health team to find a better solution. The worker then took into account her relationship with her child and ongoing care responsibilities to support her to remain in the area but away from the perpetrator.



As highlighted in the Kerslake Commission's Interim Report, ¹⁹¹ the lack of gender-informed provision continued during the Everyone In initiative, which was geared to meet the needs of people who were most familiar to services: adult men. ¹⁹² The lack of tailored provision meant some women did not come inside or were potentially re-traumatised if they had experienced violence or abuse from a male perpetrator.

"Lack of women-only options meant women have been put at risk in large-scale accommodation shared with men where they risk abuse and violence from perpetrators already known to them or from strangers. Previous and often recent experiences of abuse and violence meant that in some cases women have chosen not to occupy this accommodation as a result." (HomelessnessS19)

The rapid evidence review carried out by Crisis for the Kerslake Commission highlighted that there is little research to understand what happened for women as the pandemic unfolded. There is also little research to understand what happened to the services supporting them, aside from acknowledging the funding constraints they faced. 193

Young people

Centrepoint's Youth Homelessness Databank showed that in the financial year 2019-20, more than 121,000 young people across the UK sought help because they were homeless or at risk of homelessness. 194

Along with women experiencing homelessness, young people are particularly likely to experience hidden homelessness and be less visible to services. ¹⁹⁵

This is a group that is often overlooked. However, looking at earlier prevention – for example local authority commissioned services and pathways which focus on young people – means far fewer people come through the crisis pathway. 196 Yet research by St Basil's on provision for young people in the Everyone In initiative found 'For almost every local area there were significant gaps in services and the supply of suitable housing for young people to move into.' 197

Youth homelessness prevention - Birmingham City Council

Birmingham City Council used the Positive Pathway model as the structure for their City Homelessness Prevention Strategy. The Positive Pathway model was embedded in all of Birmingham City Council's commissioning of services, both for young people at risk of homelessness as well as families and older singles.

The Positive Pathway model was developed by St Basil's and sets out how to support young people to achieve positive outcomes in other areas of their lives alongside housing – for example in education, training and employment, health and emotional wellbeing. The Positive Pathway is a flexible framework for local authorities and their partners to use locally to provide a planned approach to homelessness prevention and housing options for young people. It aims to help public sector commissioners and providers of services to work together in planning and delivering services for young people.

There are five parts of the Pathway:
(I) universal prevention – this includes information and advice for young people and families which is available to everyone in the local area (2) targeted prevention – early help targeted at young people and their families who may be at higher risk of homelessness (3) crisis prevention

and relief – a prevention hub, using a joint approach between Housing, Children's Services and other partners to resolve a housing crisis quickly. This also contains a single access point or gateway to commissioned accommodation and support (4) commissioned accommodation and flexible support – based on what works well and developed according to local needs (5) a range of housing options for young people – affordable and safe housing options when young people are ready to succeed living independently

Crucially, Birmingham City Council shifted the balance from a reactive crisis response to universal prevention, proactively addressing homelessness in all of its forms throughout a person's or family's journey.

The Birmingham City Council Homelessness Prevention Strategy was developed in 2017, and was being updated with even greater attention paid to an integrated community approach to prevention and early intervention. As the youngest City in the country, it has one of the lowest levels of under 25s rough sleeping or needing to use crisis services through 'Everyone In', largely because of the approach taken and the focus on all aspects of the Pathway model.

The main reason for homelessness amongst young people is family relationship breakdown: an estimated 52% of 16-25s presenting as homeless in 2018 was due to parents or others not willing to accommodate them. In the same of issues including mental ill health and cultural differences, as well as changes in family dynamics, such as separation. Structural issues such as poverty and poor housing also have a role in family conflict and breakdown. 200

Policies such as the varying Universal Credit standard allowance for under-25s also mean an increased likelihood of homelessness for those young people who cannot live at home or who have been in care. ²⁰¹, ²⁰² The Government announced in the March 2021 Budget that exemptions to the Shared Accommodation Rate (SAR) – a significant barrier for many young people – would be extended to include people under 25 years who had lived in a homeless hostel. The impact of this on access to the private rented sector should be reviewed.

Many young people who become homeless lack relationship and independent living skills. 203 There is also an increased risk of exploitation, abuse and trafficking, and involvement in gang and/or criminal activity. 204

Experiences of homelessness clearly have a significantly negative impact on education and future employment prospects for young people. A 2018 survey of 227 young people found that 40% said that homelessness had a negative impact on their ability to access or sustain education. ²⁰⁵

It can also have a huge health impact.²⁰⁶ In the same survey, more than a quarter felt pressured to take drugs whilst homeless, 72% said that homelessness had a negative impact on their mental health, and 58% said that homelessness had a negative impact on their physical health.²⁰⁷

The pandemic has had an acute impact on young people experiencing homelessness: 'Between April and June [2020], 449 under-26s were seen sleeping rough, up by over

80% compared to the same period in 2019.' Although by December this number had fallen to 300, this still shows the high numbers sleeping rough during a national pandemic and lockdown.²⁰⁸

During the pandemic, unemployment has risen particularly steeply amongst this group, with many of the sectors that are disproportionately staffed by young people being the hardest hit. 209 582,000 young people aged 16-24 were unemployed in November 2020-January 2021, an increase of 76,000 (or 15%) from the same period the year before; 210 57% of those calling the Centrepoint helpline were job seekers. 211 As noted by Centrepoint, this can have a significant impact on health and wellbeing as well as finances. 212 It is therefore predicted that homelessness amongst young people will rise. 213

Despite the different experiences and causes of youth homelessness, the Kerslake Commission's Interim Report highlighted that young people were another group whose needs were not adequately considered in the Everyone In response. There was a lack of youth specific provision, meaning many did not access emergency accommodation due to concerns over safety, or did enter and were exposed to unsafe situations.²¹⁴

The Crisis rapid evidence review highlighted that it is noted that young people have been disproportionately affected by the pandemic and the numbers of young people rough sleeping has increased. However, there is little research or insight into the specific challenges and experiences this cohort encountered during the early and on-going stages of the pandemic, which is particularly concerning given the economic context and employment.²¹⁵

It is vital that the distinct needs of young people are represented in service provision, or problems may escalate and an opportunity to limit the damage caused by their homelessness may be lost. 216

LGBTQ+

Being LGBTQ+ is an additional lens for many people's experiences of homelessness, and is one of the leading causes of homelessness for young people. Young people who are LGBTQ+ comprise up to 24% of the youth homeless population. However, the Outside Project looked at London CHAIN data from 2017 and found that, after heterosexual, the second largest sexuality was 'prefer not to say' as people often do not feel safe discussing their sexuality or gender identity when rough sleeping. This has a knock-on impact as the lack of data makes it more difficult to commission and develop the appropriate services.

As with young people more widely, family rejection is the most common cause of homelessness, but amongst those identifying as LGBTQ+ this is even more pronounced: 77% of the young people experiencing homelessness say that family rejection and abuse after coming out was the primary cause. Discrimination in the workplace can also lead to people losing their jobs and becoming more likely to be homeless 221

Research shows that, whilst homeless, LGBTQ+ youth are significantly more likely to experience violence, sexual exploitation, and health problems than other homeless youth.²²²

Many LGBTQ+ young people do not seek help from their Local Authority when they become homeless, instead turning to friends. 223 There is also a lower awareness of the support services available to them. 224 When they do reach out to services, many do not feel supported and homophobia, biphobia and/ or transphobia can be perpetrated by services themselves, with experiences of misgendering and deadnaming. 225 More than half of LGBTQ+ young people have faced some form of discrimination or harassment while accessing services.²²⁶ This means some individuals may disengage and leave the service before they are able to start recovery, 227 and mental ill health can be exacerbated.

The generic nature of the Everyone In response meant many did not have the appropriate provision for their needs and therefore faced additional barriers in accessing emergency accommodation — for example, some young LGBTQ+ people did not feel safe in emergency accommodation.

BAME

Over the last five years, statutory homelessness rose by 71% among Asian households and 42% among Black households, compared to 9% across white households.²²⁸

Black people are 3.6 times more likely to experience homelessness than all other ethnic groups and between April 2019 and March 2020, I in 23 Black households became homeless or were threatened with homelessness, versus I in 83 households from all other ethnicities combined.²²⁹

Research suggests that this can partially be accounted for by structural factors linked to socio-economic inequalities. For example BAME communities are more likely to be living in poverty;²³⁰ are more likely to be in overcrowded, inadequate housing in a deprived area;²³¹ are more likely to be in insecure work;²³² and more likely to experience benefit sanctions.²³³

Covid-19 has highlighted existing health inequalities, with Black and minority ethnic groups at higher risk of dying from Covid-19 than the rest of the population.²³⁴ Research suggests that this is due to existing socioeconomic inequalities which play a significant role in health, as outlined previously, and comorbidities such as cardiovascular disease.²³⁵ Racism and discrimination can also have an impact on physical and mental health.²³⁶, ²³⁷ The health inequalities faced by many in the BAME community are then intensified by the health inequalities they face by experiencing homelessness.

There are then difficulties in mainstream provision for people who are BAME. In a survey by Race on the Agenda (ROTA), many of the African and African-Caribbean men described staff as stereotyping them as aggressive. 238

As highlighted in the Kerslake Commission's Interim Report, specialist BAME providers have been particularly hard hit by falling local authority spend.²³⁹ Research by Agenda and AVA has identified that there is only a tiny number of services specifically for BAME women facing multiple disadvantages.²⁴⁰

It is important to note that the experiences of homelessness faced by people who are BAME are not homogenous. The differing issues for differing nationalities need to be recognised. For example, research shows a high number of older people of Irish origin who have previously experienced homelessness have become institutionalised in hostels.²⁴¹ Or, for instance, BAME women who may face discrimination on the grounds of their gender as well as race, and specific community-based difficulties.²⁴²

Recommendations:

- It is clear that the disproportionate impact of poor health and poor housing falls on many communities and groups with protected characteristics. However, there is insufficient research or analysis on the causes and solutions for these groups. To fill this gap, the Government should commission research on groups experiencing homelessness with further lenses of disadvantage, for example women, LGBTQ+ people, people who are BAME and those experiencing youth homelessness. This can be used to develop better designed data collection methodologies for these groups, who have different experiences of homelessness and are more likely to be hidden homeless.
- LGBTQ+ young people may face unique experiences of domestic abuse, familial abuse, homophobic, biphobic and transphobic harassment, and mental and physical harm, which is further compounded among BAME, trans and disabled LGBTQ+ young people. Local authorities must consider these vulnerabilities when establishing priority need and determining intentional homelessness.
- To improve access, experience and outcomes, among people with complex needs, local authorities should work with all services and agencies, including but not limited to homelessness, housing, healthcare, welfare and criminal justice to develop further training to enhance their understanding of complex needs, with a focus on gender, as well as LGBTQ+ and BAME experiences.
- To create more inclusive environments, homelessness organisations should commission training programmes for staff to raise awareness of the needs and experiences of LGBTQ+ people and women who are homeless or at risk of homelessness. This should include a focus on further marginalised groups such as BAME, trans and disabled people.
- Non-UK nationals and BAME groups often face inequalities in the service that they receive
 from homelessness organisations. To help address this, race and nationality should be used
 as feedback points for monitoring service outcomes, ensuring that the questions asked and
 the way data is reviewed involves input from BAME led organisations.
- Everyone In should continue to be financed through the Rough Sleeping Initiative (RSI), delivered through a minimum three-year funding settlement and with an annual spend of £335.5m. The RSI spend should have a focus on rough sleeping prevention, outreach, accommodation and support, and should pay for an increased supply of self-contained, good quality emergency accommodation, with tailored options for women and young people.

Vaccination

An overarching experience of unfairness for many of those who are experiencing homelessness is extreme health inequalities, as addressed in Chapter 3. It was therefore highly positive that people experiencing homelessness were included as one of the priority groups in the vaccine rollout.²⁴³

However, the UK Government is now following a policy response of 'living with Covid-19', which it will be basing on 'a sufficiently high proportion of the population being vaccinated'. There are significant concerns for the impact this will have on a population which has higher rates of clinical vulnerability and lower rates of vaccination when compared to the general

population,²⁴⁶ as well as increased likelihood of outbreaks, due to the lack of a safe home to self-isolate in and the difficulties people sleeping rough or in temporary accommodation face in following sanitation guidance.

It is therefore critical that steps are taken to prevent Covid-19 from becoming a permanent state of health crisis for people who are experiencing homelessness, and exacerbating health inequalities further.

The recommendations below are in addition to the recommendations in Chapter 3, which are a cornerstone in improving the structural health inequalities experienced by this group.

Recommendations:

- To allow for accurate targeting or resources, homelessness organisations should routinely collect Covid-19 and flu vaccination data amongst people experiencing homelessness, including clinical vulnerabilities, demography, locality, and a breakdown of reasons for low vaccine confidence.
- NHS England should work with local authorities and homelessness organisations to develop and implement effective delivery plans to ensure that this cohort are able to access the flu and Covid-19 vaccine. This should include tailored communication, alongside proactive in-reach and outreach programmes.

Criminal Justice System

Spending time in prison increases the risk of homelessness and a lack of stable accommodation then increases the risk of (re-) offending. CHAIN statistics show that 34% of those sleeping rough in London April 2019-March 2020 had experience of prison, which has risen in absolute numbers over the past five years. Alongside this is the negative health impacts that prison can have on both mental health and substance use, which in turn can make it more likely for someone to experience homelessness and rough sleeping.

A Ministry of Justice survey found that nearly two in five prisoners stated that they would need help finding a place to live when they were released. Prisoners who had been sentenced to prison, probation or community orders before were more likely to report needing help finding accommodation than those who had not been sentenced before. Prisoners who reported needing help with a drug or alcohol problem were also more likely to report needing help finding a place to live when they leave prison.²⁵⁰ There are also particular challenges for female offenders, who are more likely than men to lose their accommodation whilst in prison,²⁵¹ and are at greater risk of sexual violence, prostitution or engaging in unhealthy relationships to access accommodation.

Levels of reoffending are much higher among people who are homeless. Evidence suggests that having stable accommodation on release from prison can reduce the risk of re-offending by 20%. As reoffending can cost the economy £13.5bn annually, there is a significant cost saving to be made in investing in better homelessness prevention for prison leavers.

Despite this, ex-offenders and those leaving prison do not always receive the support they need, with some people provided with tents and sleeping bags on release from prison.²⁵⁵ Three in every seven people are released on a Friday afternoon²⁵⁶ which means they are left with a limited window before vital services close for the weekend.²⁵⁷ This can

mean sleeping rough immediately on release if the local authority housing office is closed, or an inability to access specific health services to ensure they are not without essential medication over the weekend.²⁵⁸

The self-perpetuating cycle of homelessness and experience of the criminal justice system is further exacerbated by the criminalisation of rough sleeping. This is through both the existence of the Vagrancy Act 1824, as well as the potential impact of the recent changes to the immigration rules which introduce rough sleeping as a new ground on which the Home Office can refuse or cancel permission to stay in the UK.

Vagrancy Act 1824

The Vagrancy Act criminalises sleeping rough and often drives people further from the support they need. It leads to stigmatisation, loss of trust and therefore loss of engagement²⁵⁹ It does not help to deal with the root causes of rough sleeping and can also cause further problems by displacing people into more dangerous places or riskier activities,²⁶⁰ as well as pushing people into a criminal justice system which can create a vicious cycle of homelessness.

"The Vagrancy Act is simply not fit for purpose. New legislation must recognise there needs to be a combined health and housing approach to tackle rough sleeping." Nickie Aiken MP

Since 2010 rough sleeping has increased by 52%. 261 Alongside this there have been reported rises in anti-social behaviour (ASB) such as "aggressive begging" and street drinking. 262 This has contributed to the increasing use of the Vagrancy Act to tackle rough sleeping and other 'street activities', through arrests, fines and sometimes prison sentences.

The number of cases brought to court for begging under section 3 of the Vagrancy Act increased from 1,626 in 2012-13 to 3,071 in 2014-15, before falling to 1,810 in 2016-17.263 This is only the tip of the iceberg, as many more individuals will have been arrested, but their cases will not have made it to court. Far fewer are prosecuted under section 4, but there are still examples of this outdated law being used to apply criminal sanctions to people for sleeping rough: 14 people were prosecuted for the act of rough sleeping itself in London between 2010 and 2015.264

Nickie Aiken MP has been working closely with the homelessness sector, to draft alternative legislation. The aim of the Vagrancy Act (Repeal) Bill would be to repeal the Vagrancy Act and ensure that an alternative approach is put in place, which incorporates assertive, persistent, but also trauma informed outreach, matched with offers of housing and ongoing support.

This alternative approach also addresses concerns surrounding community safety in regards to, for example, aggressive begging. This would be done through clarifying aspects of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 which set out 'enforcement principles', providing safeguards so that people who simply need help are not criminalised, and that enforcement powers are only used where there is alarm and distress to the community (e.g. aggressive begging) and where there are no other approaches that are reasonably available.²⁶⁵ The Bill would set out that the 2014 Act powers should not be directed at people sleeping rough but rather beggingrelated offences.

Research shows that well targeted enforcement with genuinely integrated support can be effective at stopping anti-social behaviour and be a catalyst for people to move away from rough sleeping. However, if used without accompanying support it can be detrimental, leaving people marginalised and excluded from much needed support services. ²⁶⁶ It was highlighted in submissions to the Commission that the role the police play should be developed to help people who are sleeping rough access support:

"The way the police recognise and respond to homelessness could be improved upon. Some participants found that the police officers were 'considerate', 'friendly' and 'helpful' when they responded to them during homelessness. However, this was not always the case, particularly among young women sleeping rough, who said they felt targeted by the police but were not offered appropriate support... We need to train police officers in trauma-informed approaches so they can appropriately deal with people who experience homelessness. This is an opportunity to invest in diversion to help vulnerable rough sleepers into wrap-around support rather than unnecessarily criminalising and traumatising them with further police action." (Complex Needs/S15)

Immigration rules

On the 22 October 2020, the Government announced changes to the Immigration Rules. Some of these changes took effect on I December 2020, while others came into force at the end of the Brexit transition period on 3 I December 2020.

These changes introduce rough sleeping as a new ground on which the Home Office can refuse or cancel permission to stay in the UK.

On 20 April, the Government published guidance on how the new rules on rough sleeping should be applied. The guidance states:

"The introduction of rough sleeping as a ground for the refusal or cancellation of permission is not intended to criminalise rough sleeping or to penalise those who inadvertently find themselves temporarily without a roof over their head. Instead, the rule will be applied to those who refuse to engage with the range of available support mechanisms and who engage in persistent anti-social behaviour." 267



There remains concern amongst the sector that the new rules will deter people from engaging with outreach and other homelessness services for fear of losing their permission to stay in the UK. In order to avoid detection, people are more likely to stay in unsafe situations, and the risk of exploitation and modern slavery is likely to increase. 268

"These types of rule changes damage trust on the ground and are hardly constructive during a time when people are trying to rebuild their life as we move out of the pandemic." (Homelessness/S44)

Recommendations:

- To ensure people are not released from prison or hospital into homelessness, the Government's rough sleeping strategy must introduce governance around transition points, to ensure planned and timely release, with community support and prior connections established. The Government should also end unplanned Friday releases from prison, to ensure people have adequate time to access vital services before they close for the weekend. 269
- The police can have a positive role in supporting people's recovery from sleeping on the streets, which the Government can support by expanding at a national level the Community Service Treatment Programme, as recommended in the Dame Carol Black Review.
- Anyone who is sleeping rough should be able to reach out for support without fear of losing their right to live and work in this country. The Government should review the new Immigration Rules which include rough sleeping as a grounds for deportation and work with the homelessness sector to deliver more positive and effective alternatives.
- The Vagrancy Act 1842 exacerbates problems linked to sleeping rough, and can drive people away from support. The Government should commit to the Vagrancy Act (Repeal) Bill, which seeks to repeal the Vagrancy Act and replaces it with assertive, persistent and trauma informed outreach, matched with offers of housing and ongoing support. The Government should also clarify aspects of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014, setting out 'enforcement principles' that provide safeguards, to ensure that people who simply need help are not criminalised.

Conclusion

The 'Everyone In' emergency response showed what can be achieved where there is political impetus, a shared overarching goal, and funding to match. However, as many of the submissions to the Commission have stressed, although there were positives, and drastic changes to the ways of working during the pandemic, at times this was in spite of the system, not because of it.

The emergency response must now be commuted to the 'new normal', with prevention, alleviation and recovery at the core of it.

This report has set out a vision for what kind of system there needs to be. It is one with the individual at the centre, where agencies and organisations work to support their needs and priorities, and ensure that support is accessible and inclusive.

It is also a system which recognises that problems cannot be divvied up into distinct boxes, but that they are complex, intersectional and often reinforce one another.

There was a gear shift during the pandemic in collaborative working – the result of which was hugely improved continuity of care with people less likely to slip through the cracks in service provision. This collaboration must be embedded into policy, practice and commissioning, as well as future funding settlements and models.

Right now, there is a crucial opportunity to continue the ways of working developed during the pandemic, which redefined what can be achieved when there is a singular shared goal of saving lives.

Everyone In cannot be allowed to become just a footnote in the history of the battle to end homelessness. It must be a pivotal moment — a catalyst for change — which results in a lasting legacy, not just for those who lived through it, but for generations to come.

To cement the spirit of Everyone In, the Kerslake Commission is committed to continuing to work together to maintain momentum and ensure that there is no going back. The independent Commission's Advisory Board, with experts from across the homelessness, health, housing, political and local government spheres, as well as those with lived experience of homelessness, will come together again to review the implementation of the recommendations contained in this report. There must be ongoing work to end rough sleeping for good.

This is a real opportunity to work together to change society for good – it must be taken.

Recommendations:

Everyone has a responsibility to adopt a consistent and collaborative approach to support people to live their best life. Preventing, alleviating and supporting recovery from homelessness and rough sleeping should be a shared ambition that cuts across all agencies, and cannot fall on one sector. When we work together it is remarkable what can be achieved.

This is very much a collective effort. Although the following recommendations highlight specific actors, this is to illuminate a leading role, not an exclusive one. Every one of these recommendations requires supporting actors to fully engage since – as has been made clear throughout evidence to the Commission – ending rough sleeping requires an integrated, system-wide approach.

Central government

The Everyone In initiative showed the difference it makes when central government embraces its leadership role and provides clear direction to delivery partners. The Government must continue to take ownership of rough sleeping and homelessness.

Better strategy, policy and delivery

- I. A longer term rough sleeping strategy is needed if the Government is to achieve and sustain its goal to end rough sleeping by 2024. Building on the success of Everyone In and the lessons learnt, the new Inter-Ministerial Group on rough sleeping, led by the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC), should set out the overarching vison of the Government, publishing a cross-Government national strategy with clear expectations and strategic engagement with key agencies, and an explicit focus on prevention. The strategy should be accompanied by a published annual review of performance, no later than three months after the annual count. This annual performance review should be carried out by DLUHC, working with regional and local government, and be used to analyse national trends and identify gaps in provision and strategy. A key responsibility for the Inter-Ministerial group in its terms of reference must be to push for cross government investment, to enable delivery of the strategy.
- 2. A joint Health and Homelessness Unit, akin to the Joint Health and Work Unit, should be established to ensure that cross-departmental working is carried through at a civil service level. The unit should have joint priorities and shared data to support the removal of barriers to effective working.
- 3. To support a whole systems approach to street homelessness, the Government should extend the Homelessness Reduction Act's Duty to Refer, to a Duty to Collaborate with relevant public agencies to both prevent and respond to homelessness. This should include the Department for Health and Care (DHSC), the NHS and Public Health England, Department of Work and Pensions and its agencies; the Home Office, and Ministry of Justice and its agencies and other government agencies with an involvement in homelessness and rough sleeping services. An example of this would be the sharing of data within Caldicott Principles.

- 4. The challenge of local variation, where this leads to differences in performance, can be addressed through the Government commissioning tripartite reviews of performance in homelessness services, including prevention and long term provision and support. Driving this system requires joined up performance management involving (1) local authorities, (2) local delivery partners, and (3) cross Governmental departments and bodies, namely DLUHC, DHSC, the NHS and the Office for Health Improvement and Disparities. The aim should be to find what has and has not worked for partner agencies, where there are issues of resourcing, and support improvement using examples of good practice. This should build on the successful DLUHC advisers model and be supplemented by direct offers of support, including the option of peer review. The Local Government Association has a role in supporting the development of good practice.
- 5. There should be a national review of how an individual's needs, strengths and aspirations are assessed and what data is collected. This should use an outcomes-based approach, and work with people with experience of homelessness, providers, and commissioners. This will ensure assessments and data collection have a clear purpose. This will be crucial in helping identify what action, support and resources are required to end rough sleeping, and enable successful outcomes to be measured by genuinely useful data.
- 6. There should be a cross-departmental focus on homelessness prevention. By investing in preventative measures such as arrears/debt recovery, employment support, training on budgeting and knowledge of tenancy rights and responsibilities the resilience of families and individuals will improve. This should be supported by a similar approach to early mental health support which would further underpin a prevention culture and would result in fewer households in crisis. These measures would reduce the number of people rough sleeping in the future.

Roles of accommodation and service models

- 7. Meaningful employment can play a crucial role in a person's recovery from rough sleeping, but only if it does not destabilise other parts of it. The Department of Work and Pensions should allow people living in supported housing to experience the positive effects of work without putting their benefits at risk, by re-introducing a 'work allowance' for people living in this type of accommodation.
- **8.** Quality accommodation, provided with the right levels of support, has a material impact upon on a person's recovery journey. Poor accommodation, and inadequate support has the opposite impact. The Government should introduce a quality assurance framework for homelessness accommodation, with a national register that requires evidence that providers are meeting minimum standards set by the framework as a condition of registration. This is to ensure that accommodation is safe, decent and appropriate, and creates a better definition of the standard of care, support and supervision required. The work to regulate must be supported by funding for local authority teams to enforce homelessness standards.
- 9. In its vision for scaling up Housing First provision for people with complex needs, Government must drive cross-departmental collaboration and should establish a joint ministerial funding stream, as well as cementing a shared understanding of what Housing First is in practice.

- 10. Members of the public have a role to play in ending rough sleeping and have been able to help by using StreetLink, an innovative and effective referral mechanism that connects people sleeping rough with the local services that can support them. This system should be recommissioned at a national level.
- II. Social rented homes offer a quality and affordable route out of homelessness, but are in dwindling supply. The Government should commit the funds from the Right to Buy scheme to a strategic acquisition programme to deliver more social rented homes, and reforms to be introduced through the upcoming Planning Bill should provide local authorities with financing flexibilities to build more housing of this type.
- 12. To end the use of 'no fault' evictions, which is the leading cause of statutory homelessness, ^{27I} the Government should urgently bring forward the Renters Reform Bill to repeal Section 21 of the Housing Act 1988. These reforms should also increase notice periods from two months in all but the most serious cases.

Preventing inequalities and unfairness

- 13. The Government must establish a clear policy position that limiting access to benefits for non-UK nationals should stop short of causing destitution. Destitution can be prevented through investing in good quality independent immigration and welfare advice, and employment support; clear guidance on access to benefits for non-UK nationals whose status is yet to be determined; and simpler and faster processes to clarify people's immigration status. Local authorities should be provided with guidance on what it means to 'exhaust all options within the law'²⁷² to support those sleeping rough and who are not eligible for statutory homelessness assistance, due to their immigration status. Local authorities should be provided with financial compensation where all other options have been exhausted to prevent destitution. Further, local authorities with a high number of non-UK nationals with unclear immigration status on the streets should look to funding immigration advice as part of their rough sleeping and homelessness prevention services. Collecting data on the number of individuals with no or limited access to public funds experiencing destitution, will help identify what resources are needed to assist this group out of homelessness.
- 14. It is clear that the disproportionate impact of poor health and poor housing falls on many communities and groups within the protected characteristics. However, there is insufficient research or analysis on the causes and solutions for these groups. To fill this gap, the Government should commission research on groups experiencing homelessness with further lenses of disadvantage, for example women, LGBTQ+ people, people who are BAME and those experiencing youth homelessness. This can be used to develop better designed data collection methodologies for these groups, who have different experiences of homelessness and are more likely to be hidden homeless.
- 15. The police can have a positive role in supporting people's recovery from sleeping on the streets, which the Government can support by expanding at a national level the Community Service Treatment Programme, as recommended in the Dame Carol Black Review.²⁷³
- 16. Anyone who is sleeping rough should be able to reach out for support without fear of losing their right to live and work in this country. The Government should review the new Immigration Rules which include rough sleeping as a grounds for deportation and work with the homelessness sector to deliver more positive and effective alternatives.

- 17. The Vagrancy Act 1842 exacerbates problems linked to sleeping rough, and can drive people away from support. The Government should commit to the Vagrancy Act (Repeal) Bill, which seeks to repeal the Vagrancy Act and replaces it with assertive, persistent and trauma informed outreach, matched with offers of housing and ongoing support. The Government should also clarify aspects of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014, setting out 'enforcement principles' that provide safeguards, to ensure that people who simply need help are not criminalised.
- **18.** To make sure that people are not released from prison or hospital into homelessness, the Government's rough sleeping strategy must introduce governance around transition points, to ensure planned and timely release, with community support and prior connections established. The Government must also end unplanned Friday releases from prison, to ensure people have adequate time to access vital services before they close for the weekend.²⁷⁴

Spending Review

- 19. To prevent an increased flow of people onto the streets, the Government must retain the welfare changes that have kept people afloat during the pandemic, whereby Local Housing Allowance rates were raised to the 30th percentile of local rents and Universal Credit was increased to £20 a week. In addition, the Government should review the benefit cap and seek to increase it in areas with high affordability pressure, and provide a financial package of support for people in arrears due to the pandemic.
- 20. To deliver the sector recommended target of building 90,000 social rented homes a year, the Government must increase grant funding delivered through the Affordable Homes Programme. The Government should increase the supply of supported housing through the continuation of the Affordable Homes Programme, but ensure capital funding is linked to multi-year revenue funding for support services.
- 21. Everyone In should continue to be financed through the Rough Sleeping Initiative (RSI), delivered through a minimum three year funding settlement and with an annual spend of £335.5m. The RSI spend should have a focus on rough sleeping prevention, outreach, accommodation and support, and should pay for an increased supply of self-contained, good quality emergency accommodation, with tailored options for women and young people.
- 22. The Rough Sleeping Accommodation Programme should be continued for the duration of the Rough Sleeping Initiative. The viability of this model can be improved, and take up increased, by aligning capital and revenue funding, allowing capital funding to roll over into subsequent years and drawing on continuous market engagement approaches. Strategic partnership working should be built into the programme and there should be flexibility to increase the maximum length of stay beyond two years.
- 23. The Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) should reverse the disinvestment in drug treatment and wider recovery services, increasing funding by up to £552 million annually over the next five years, on top of the baseline annual expenditure from the public health grant, as recommended in the Dame Carol Black Review.²⁷⁵

Local authorities

Local authorities and regional authorities have a key role in convening services and agencies, to ensure the effective delivery of homelessness services.

Better strategy, policy and delivery

- 24. To prevent homelessness, and respond to it quickly where it does occur, local authorities should be expected to produce long term, integrated homelessness and health strategies, and rapid rehousing plans. This work should require a local assessment of need, conducted using local homelessness partnerships and based on a standardised methodology set by DLUHC. This assessment of need would aim to quantify the level of central government funding needed to ensure the most appropriate accommodation is available for the individual, and there are sustainable long term recovery options, with wraparound support where needed.
- 25. To encourage partnership working, local authorities and integrated care systems should put in place joint processes for commissioning services. This should include exploring longer contracts to give time to build practice and a culture of integrated working, where needed, whilst maintaining the ability to test and pilot initiatives to respond to changing circumstances. This must be supported through longer-term funding settlements.
- **26.** To ensure that an appropriate offer of support is always available, local authorities should make greater use of pan-regional commissioning of specialised services.
- 27. Improving consistency and comparability of datasets will improve integrated working between local authorities and their delivery partners. Local authorities should collaborate with their partners, to maximise the potential of what data is collected and how it is then used.

Roles of accommodation and service models

- 28. Requiring verification that a person is sleeping rough before they can access a service, inhibits efforts to prevent rough sleeping. Local authorities should remove verification as a necessary step for accessing services, and instead incorporate it as part of the assessment process, in order to determine the appropriate offer of support and pathway.
- 29. To maximise resources, capacity and expertise in outreach services, local authorities should either embed specialist workers such as drug and alcohol and mental health workers in generic outreach teams; and/or develop specific accreditation for outreach workers who might specialise in particular areas. This should include working with the new integrated care systems to commission and coordinate effective specialist services, which are embedded into outreach teams. This may require additional and designated resourcing from public health grants.
- **30.** Winter comes round every year but preparedness for its implications on rough sleeping amongst local authorities varies. Local authorities, in partnership with homelessness organisations, should conduct long term, strategic planning for peaks in weather, including extreme cold or severe heat, and other contingencies. This strategy should be grounded in prevention, to ensure that people supported through severe weather emergency protocol (SWEP) are kept to a minimum, and supported through long-term funding. The aim should be to reduce reliance on communal night shelters.

31. Local authorities must ensure that all commissioning, services and support – from health, to housing, to benefits advice – are person centred, trauma informed and psychologically informed, where the individual is supported to make their own choices and supported to identify what is important to them.

Preventing inequalities and unfairness

- 32. LGBTQ+ young people face unique experiences of domestic abuse, familial abuse, homophobic, biphobic and transphobic harassment, and mental and physical harm, which is further compounded among BAME, trans and disabled LGBTQ+ young people. Local authorities must consider these vulnerabilities when establishing priority need and determining intentional homelessness.
- 33. To improve access, experience and outcomes, among people with complex needs, local authorities should work with all services and agencies, including but not limited to homelessness, housing, healthcare, welfare and criminal justice to develop further training to enhance their understanding of complex needs, with a focus on gender, as well as LGBTQ+ and BAME experiences.

Homelessness organisations

Homelessness organisations are a key delivery agent, which should have a focus on improving client experience.

Better strategy, policy and delivery

34. Homelessness organisations are at the coal face of homelessness and rough sleeping, and should feed this wealth of experience into strategies and solutions developed by central and local government. They should also ensure that people using their services are supported to inform solutions through their wealth of lived experience.

Roles of accommodation and service models

- 35. Staff in the homelessness sector support very vulnerable people, often with complex needs, and it essential that they have the right skills and experience to do this job. To recognise the challenging job that they do, it is recommended that Homeless Link convene a consultation on professional accreditation. This should cover all areas of the workforce and include understanding the integration of specialist support, such as mental health and immigration advice.
- **36.** Homeless service providers, charities and agencies have a responsibility to make sure that any accommodation model is safe and Covid secure using the following principles:
 - a. Operated from buildings that can be made Covid secure, for example can be well ventilated and are able to test temperature on entry.
 - b If communal spaces, are part of an established pathway that allows for people to be given self-contained emergency accommodation if they need to isolate or test Covid positive.
 - c. If providing a shelter or communal space, the accommodation must have in place a testing regime where people are tested on entry and then are regularly tested when in the building.
 - d. Have a continuity plan that allows for managing an outbreak and decanting the space.

- e. Where shelters are not reopening, ways of harnessing the community response to homelessness and other forms of disadvantage should be considered; these range from floating support to large-scale food provision to smaller contributions.
- f. Regardless of shelter models, space to store possessions and access to showers should be provided where possible.

Preventing inequalities and unfairness

- 37. To create more inclusive environments, homelessness organisations should commission training programmes for staff to raise awareness of the needs and experiences of LGBTQ+ people and women who are homeless or at risk of homelessness. Who are homeless or at risk of homelessness. This should include a focus on further marginalised groups such as BAME, trans and disabled LGBTQ+ people.
- **38.** Non-UK nationals and BAME groups often face inequalities in the service that they receive from homelessness organisations. To help address this, race and nationality should be used as feedback points for monitoring service outcomes, ensuring that the questions asked and the way data is reviewed involves input from BAME led organisations.
- 39. There are reportedly lower rates of vaccination among people experiencing homelessness and rough sleeping, though vaccination varies by demography, as do the reasons why people have not been vaccinated. To allow for accurate targeting or resources, homelessness organisations should routinely collect Covid-19 and flu vaccination data amongst people experiencing homelessness, including clinical vulnerabilities, demography, locality, and a breakdown of reasons for low vaccine confidence. The purpose of this is to address vaccine hesitancy, including where and how support organisations should target resources.

Housing providers

Safe and secure housing can be transformational in preventing and alleviating homelessness, and there is an opportunity for housing providers to expand on the good practice already taking place in the sector.

Better strategy, policy and delivery

40. Housing associations are not public bodies, and therefore do not have a legal duty to address homelessness. However, housing associations do have a social responsibility, and an important role to play in the provision of secure and safe accommodation, and support for people who are homeless or at risk of homelessness. The Commission recommends that the National Housing Federation, working with Homes for Cathy, continues to promote the positive work done by housing associations and drives forward this commitment to collaborate with their members to prevent and relieve homelessness. The Commission also recommends that the LGA continues to promote the benefits of local authorities and housing associations working together to develop solutions and longer-term strategies. To incentivise housing associations to prevent and contribute to homelessness solutions, the Regulator of Social Housing should monitor performance in this area.

Roles of accommodation and service models

41. To encourage lettings for people with experience of homelessness, social housing providers should operate flexible allocations and eligibility policies which allow individual applicants' unique set of circumstances and housing history to be considered. This can be embedded through allocations guidance issued by Government.

Preventing inequalities and unfairness

- **42.** There are innovative ways that housing associations can respond to the housing and support needs of people with No Recourse Public Funds, or whose status is still to be settled, that are outside of normal business but often part of their charitable objectives. The Commission is encouraging housing associations to:
 - a. Offer peppercorn rent schemes within their existing properties;
 - b. Provide working accommodation for people with NRPF currently working or looking for work
 - c. Offer accommodation with legal advice to people with NRPF who may have a chance of a change in status
 - d. Provide free hostel and refuge spaces. 276

Health organisations

The health sector has an important role to play in reducing health inequalities among people with experience of rough sleeping and homelessness, which can then help prevent and alleviate further homelessness.

Better strategy, policy and delivery

- 43. The forthcoming integrated care systems in England will play a crucial role in embedding health within local delivery agencies. Guidance for the integrated care systems should stipulate that Integrated Care Boards, Integrated Care Partnerships and Health and Wellbeing Boards have a dedicated focus on tackling health inequalities for inclusion health populations, including people experiencing homelessness and rough sleeping, and ensure that both mainstream and inclusion health services deliver trauma informed and psychologically informed services for this cohort, who may struggle to engage. This focus must also be shared by the new Office on Health Promotion. There should be an assessment of need and capacity within inclusion health services, to ensure that people are able to access care and support. As part of the Care Quality Commission's (CQC) system review framework, there should be a specific focus on whether integrated care systems explicitly reference homelessness and rough sleeping as part of their health inequality strategy. This should be used as a litmus test for the quality of integrated care systems' population health plans.
- 44. The existing specialist rough sleeping programme within NHS England and Improvement should continue to be delivered. The wider Long Term Plan mental health transformation must be inclusive of people experiencing rough sleeping and homelessness in line with the NHS Mental Health Implementation Plan. This should have a continued focus on reducing barriers to access and quality of care. Future expansion of existing programmes should be funded beyond the Long Term Plan so that services can reach people in every part of the country.
- **45.** To effectively meet people's heath and housing needs, there must be robust and effective cross sector data sharing. NHS England should put support and guidance in place to enable local systems to share data successfully, including vaccination uptake amongst people experiencing rough sleeping and homelessness. This should include providing examples of good practice, for example, the sample Data Protection Impact Assessments (DPIAs) and Data Sharing Agreements (DSAs) that have been developed to support data linkage around homelessness. This should then be supported at the local level through the duty to collaborate.

Preventing inequalities and unfairness

- **46.** It has been reported has been lower uptake of the Covid-19 vaccine among people with experience of homelessness, in comparison to the general population. This poses a serious risk to public health. NHS England should work with local authorities and homelessness organisations to develop and implement effective delivery plans to ensure that this cohort are able to access the flu and Covid-19 vaccine. This should include tailored communication, alongside proactive in-reach and outreach programmes.
- 47. It is crucial that the healthcare organisations at a local and neighbourhood level prioritise the needs of people experiencing homelessness and rough sleeping. NHS England and Improvement have released service requirements asking Primary Care Networks (PCNs) to 'work from October 2021 to identify and engage a population experiencing health inequalities within their area, and to codesign an intervention to address the unmet needs of this population. Delivery of this intervention will commence from March 2022.'

 As people experiencing homelessness and rough sleeping experience some of the worst health inequalities in society, PCNs should identify them as a population to engage with as part of these service requirements.
- **48.** Health organisations should ensure that mainstream services are accessible to people experiencing homelessness and rough sleeping. This can be improved upon by providing flexible appointment times and training for staff to increase understanding of issues related to homelessness.

Appendices

Appendix A: Glossary

Housing and accommodation

Emergency accommodation – accommodation often administered on a nightly basis so a person does not have to sleep rough e.g. night shelters.

Temporary accommodation – accommodation usually provided to people/families who the local authority have accepted as having a duty to house but haven't made a decision on what housing should be offered, or do not have appropriate housing available.

Interim accommodation – accommodation offered to someone whilst a local authority considers their homelessness application and subsequent duties to them.

Move-on accommodation – 'move-on' is the process of moving on from short term accommodation e.g. temporary/emergency or other homelessness services, into more permanent tenancies. This may be done through move-on accommodation, but could also refer to a long term or permanent tenancy without support.

Supported accommodation – a housing service where housing, support and/or care services are provided as a package to help people to live as independently as possible.

Social housing – social homes are provided by housing associations (not-for-profit organisations that own, let, and manage rented housing) or a local council, with rents based on average local incomes so that they are affordable.

General needs housing – housing provided to those with no specific support needs.

Housing Options – an information and advice process or team that councils use when someone approaches them with a housing problem.

Direct allocations/direct lets — a process where a housing applicant is directly assigned a specific property. This system is often used for specific and vulnerable groups e.g. those with disabilities, in need of sheltered housing, care leavers etc. Direct allocations and lets are an alternative to choice based lettings.

Choice based lettings – a system where applicants for social housing are able to look at the available vacant properties online, and place a bid for a property that they wish to live in.

Registered Providers – a social housing provider registered with the Regulator of Social Housing.

HA nominations – the nomination by local authorities of prospective tenants for vacant properties in partner housing associations.

LHA – the Local Housing Allowance is determined by Valuation Office Agency Rent Officers to calculate housing benefit rates for tenants renting from private landlords.

Help to Rent – projects to support homeless people, vulnerable tenants and their landlords. These projects help fund services that will match tenants with landlords, and provide financial guarantees for deposits and rent, as well as ongoing support for both parties. From 2010 Government funding helped deliver more than 150 Help to Rent projects across England. However the Government ended funding for these services in 2016.

Shared Accommodation Rate – Most single private renters under 35 can only get the shared accommodation rate of LHA. This applies even if you do not share your home with others. The shared accommodation rate is lower than other LHA rates.

People and ways of working

Trauma informed — an approach which seeks to improve awareness of trauma and its impact, to ensure that services provided offer effective support and, above all, that they do not retraumatise those accessing or working in services.

Gender-informed – a way of working which acknowledges how gender may affect someone's needs and necessitate a tailored way of working.

Psychologically informed environments — services that are designed and delivered in a way that takes into account the emotional and psychological needs of the individuals using them.

Wraparound support – a comprehensive package of support that does not focus just on one immediate issue of need but considers the whole person, and all their needs and aspirations. e.g. support with accessing the correct benefits, attending health appointments etc.

Upstream interventions – a focus on addressing structural issues that, in this context, may make a person facing homelessness more susceptible to further issues e.g. supply, access and affordability of housing, and the welfare system, for example the availability and level of benefits, employment protection etc.

Complex needs – individuals with complex needs have multiple related physical and mental health conditions, often including substance use.

Multiple disadvantage — a state in which someone experiences a combination of problems that negatively affects their life chances, for example homelessness, substance misuse, contact with the criminal justice system and mental ill health.

Multi-disciplinary team – workers from different professions/teams e.g. Adult Social Care, Housing providing services to the same clients.

Deadnaming – calling someone by their birth name after they have changed their name. This term is often associated with people who are trans who have changed their name as part of their transition.

Services

Floating support – usually targeted at people with low to medium needs and exists to support people to live independently in their own home. Focused on preventing the loss of housing and, in the case of people who have slept rough, a return to the street.

Mixed provision – services which are not offered based on characteristics such as gender, age, sexuality etc.

SWEP – Severe Weather Emergency Protocol, the process by which extra shelter spaces are opened for people sleeping rough when there is an increased risk of death due to the weather e.g. temperatures falling near or below freezing or extreme heat.

Community-based services — services delivered in a wide range of settings e.g. homes, community clinics, centres and schools to help people live independently.

StreetLink – a service which enables members of the public to connect people sleeping rough with the local services that can support them.

Combined Homelessness and Information Network (CHAIN) – CHAIN is a multi-agency database recording information about people sleeping rough and the wider street population in London. The system, which is commissioned and funded by the Mayor of London and managed by St Mungo's, represents the UK's most detailed and comprehensive source of information about rough sleeping. It allows users to share information about work done with rough sleepers and about their needs, ensuring that they receive the most appropriate support and that efforts are not duplicated. Reports from the system are used at an operational level by commissioning bodies to monitor the effectiveness of their services, and at a more strategic level by policy makers to gather intelligence about trends within the rough sleeping population and to identify emerging needs.

Pathway – services and interventions made available to an individual to provide a route to resolve their issues e.g. a local authority homelessness pathway could comprise services such as emergency and supported accommodation.

Single service offer – a process whereby a rough sleeper is offered a single route away from the streets which they are expected, and encouraged, to take up. Usually, the individual is denied further assistance if the identified single service offer is refused.

Duties

Duty to Refer – introduced as part of the Homelessness Reduction Act as a duty on specified public authorities to refer service users who they think may be homeless or threatened with homelessness to local authority homelessness/housing options teams.

Duty to collaborate – a requirement on relevant public body agencies working with those experiencing homelessness to support local authorities in their duty to end and prevent homelessness.

Commitment to collaborate - a commitment on housing associations to support local authorities in their duty to end and prevent homelessness.

Somewhere Safe to Stay duty – a duty that requires local authorities to provide a safe place to stay, such as emergency accommodation, so that no one has to sleep rough after seeking help from their local authorities.

Definitions

Caldicott Principles – The Caldicott Principles are eight principles to ensure people's information is kept confidential and used appropriately.

Everyone In – the name of the Government's policy to help all people sleeping rough into accommodation during the Covid-19 pandemic.

Local connection — one of the criteria to determine whether an individual is eligible for support within a specific local authority area, based on their current or past residency, employment, family connections in the area or special circumstances. Those who are determined not to have a local connection may be determined ineligible for support by that local authority.

Intentionality criteria – the local authority does not have to provide longer-term housing if they decide someone is in priority need but intentionally homeless. This could be because of something that someone deliberately does, or something that someone fails to do.

Verification – people who have been seen and recorded as rough sleeping by outreach workers.

Statutory homelessness – a statutory homeless person/household is one who has been accepted by the local authority as having a duty to house them.

Homelessness Code of Guidance – Government guidance on how local authorities should exercise their homelessness powers and responsibilities.

Benefit Cap – a limit on the total amount of benefit someone can get. It applies to most people aged 16 or over who have not reached State Pension age.

Annual count – the process by which local authorities across England take a snapshot of people sleeping rough on a single night in autumn. They either use a count-based estimate of visible rough sleeping, an evidence-based estimate meeting with local agencies or an an estimate informed by a spotlight street count, where a street count is undertaken in hotspot locations on the chosen 'typical' night.

Secure Estate – This includes prisons, approved premises, bail accommodation and youth detention accommodation.

Tripartite review – a review between three stakeholders, in this case local authorities, the homelessness sector and DLUHC.

Places

Pan-London – services which are commissioned for use across London.

Combined authority – a legal body set up using national legislation that enables a group of two or more councils to collaborate and take / collective decisions across council boundaries.

Funding

Capital funding – funding for the purpose of purchasing assets or making significant repairs to existing assets.

Revenue funding – funding used where there is no lasting asset e.g. staffing costs.

Bridge funding – temporary or intermediate funding to cover short term expenses until long term funding can be secured.

Rough Sleeping Initiative – central government funding programme for rough sleeper services applied for/awarded to local authorities, charities and other organisations.

Health

Population health – an approach that aims to improve physical and mental health outcomes, promote wellbeing and reduce health inequalities across an entire population.

Public health — all organised measures (whether public or private) to prevent disease, promote health, and prolong life among the population as a whole.'

Inclusion health — a 'catch-all' term used to describe the approach to working with people who are socially excluded, typically experiencing multiple overlapping risk factors for poor health (such as poverty, violence and complex trauma), experiencing stigma and discrimination, and are not consistently accounted for in electronic records (such as healthcare databases). These experiences frequently lead to barriers in access to healthcare and extremely poor health outcomes.

Non-clinical outreach workers – those who do not provide direct health treatment, diagnosis or care for patients, and do so in non-clinical settings e.g. schools, community centres etc.

Co-morbidities – a state where a person suffers from more than one long term condition at a time, which may or may not be related.

Non-UK migrants

Non-UK national – someone who possesses no type of British nationality e.g. citizen, overseas citizens, subject.

No Recourse to Public Funds – a condition applied to someone subject to immigration control meaning they have no entitlement to the majority of welfare benefits, including income support, housing benefit and a range of allowances and tax credits.

Settled status – Settled status is the grant of indefinite leave to EU nationals who can evidence continuous UK residence for at least five years.

Pre Settled Status/Limited Leave to Remain — Pre-Settled Status is the immigration status granted under the EU Settlement Scheme (EUSS) to European citizens (EU, EEA or Swiss citizens) and their non-European family members who have not yet lived in the UK for a continuous 5-year period at any point in the past. It is the status that allows those individuals to work towards meeting the requirements for Settled Status.

Appendix B: Bilateral meetings

Councillor James Jamieson and Jo Allchurch (Local Government Association); Councillor Alex Phillips (The Big Issue); the Rough Sleeping Strategy Group; the Step Down Recovery Group; Pratichi Chatterjee (Crisis); Elsa Corry-Roak, Anna Henry and Zahra Wynne (Revolving Doors); Sam Rodger (NHS Race and Health Observatory); Ian Canadine (CHAIN), Petra Salva (St Mungo's) and Bobby Sandhu (St Mungo's); Jon Sparkes (Crisis) and Rick Henderson (Homeless Link); Tom Copley (GLA) and Darren Rodwell (London Councils); Councillor Sharon Thompson (Birmingham Cabinet Member for Vulnerable Children and Families) and Jean Templeton (St Basil's); the NHS Health Inequalities Board Meeting (attended by Dr Bola Owolabi); Catherine Ryder (National Housing Federation) and David Bogle (Homes for Cathy); Molly Bishop (GMCA); Lucy Sutton (Association of Directors of Public Health); Sarah Pickup and Paul Ogden (LGA); Gill Leng (National Health and Homelessness Advisor) and Olivia Butterworth (Head of Public Participation for NHSE/I); Charlotte Bates (Expert Citizens); Lucy Sutton (Association of Directors of Public Health); Verena Hutcheson (Reading Borough Council Housing); Ruth Rankine and Karen Higgins (NHS Confederation); Nickie Aiken MP; Heather Clarke and Sarah Risby (Westminster City Council).

References

- The King's Fund (2020) Public health: our position https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/projects/positions/public-health
- Homeless Link (2021) Supporting people with no recourse to public funds (NRPF): Guidance for homelessness services https://www.homeless.org.uk/our-work/resources/supporting-people-with-no-recourse-to-public-funds

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2018) Homelessness: duty to refer

Inside Housing news (2021) Government tells councils to close 'Everyone In' hotels as a condition of rough-sleeper funding https://www.insidehousing.co.uk/news/news/government-tells-councils-to-close-everyone-in-hotels-as-a-condition-of-rough-sleeper-funding-71426

HMTreasury (2020) Spending Review 2020 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/spending-review-2020-documents/spending-review-2020

- Department for Health and Social Care (2021) Review of drugs: phase two report https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/review-of-drugs-phase-two-report
- 5t Mungo's (2020) Knocked back: Failing to support people sleeping rough with drug and alcohol problems is costing lives https://www.mungos.org/publication/knocked-back-full-research/

The Health Foundation (2020) Better housing is crucial for our health and the COVID-19 recovery

- https://www.health.org.uk/publications/long-reads/better-housing-is-crucial-for-our-health-and-the-covid-19-recovery Lankelly Chase (2015) Hard Edges: Mapping Severe and Multiple Disadvantage in England https://lankellychase.org.uk/publication/hard-edges/
- Centre for Housing Policy, University of York/Crisis (2015) At what cost? An estimation of the financial costs of single homelessness in the UK https://www.crisis.org.uk/ending-homelessness/homelessness-knowledge-hub/cost-of-homelessness/at-what-cost-2015/
- Lankelly Chase Foundation (2015) Hard Edges Mapping severe and multiple disadvantage https://lankellychase.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/Hard-Edges-Mapping-SMD-2015.pdf
- The King's Fund (2018) A vision for population health: Towards a healthier future https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/vision-population-health
- St Mungo's (2020) Home for Good: The role of social housing in ending rough sleeping https://www.mungos.org/publication/home-for-good-the-role-of-social-housing-in-ending-rough-sleeping-summary-report/
- National Housing Federation/Crisis (2018) Housing supply requirements across Great Britain: for low-income households and
- homeless people https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/239700/crisis_housing_supply_requirements_across_great_britain_2018.pdf
 Housing, Communities and Local Government Committee Protecting the homeless and the private rented sector: MHCLG's
 response to Covid-19 HC 1329 2019-21 https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/5342/documents/53217/default/
- 16 St Mungo's (2020) Home for Good: The role of social housing in ending rough sleeping https://www.mungos.org/publication/home-for-good-the-role-of-social-housing-in-ending-rough-sleeping-summary-report/
- Shelter/Crisis (2014) A Roof Over My Head: The final report of the Sustain project https://www.crisis.org.uk/ending-
- homelessness/homelessness-knowledge-hub/housing-models-and-access/a-roof-over-my-head-2014/
 Shelter/British Gas (2014) Safe and Decent Homes: Solutions for a better private rented sector https://www.readkong.com/page/safe-and-decent-homes-solutions-for-a-better-private-9559868
- Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (2020) English Housing Survey: Headline Report, 2019-20 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-housing-survey-2019-to-2020-headline-report
- St Mungo's (2020) Home for Good:The role of social housing in ending rough sleeping https://www.mungos.org/publication/home-for-good-the-role-of-social-housing-in-ending-rough-sleeping-summary-report/
- National Housing Federation/Shelter (2018) Stop DSS Discrimination: Ending prejudice against renters on housing benefit https://england.shelter.org.uk/professional_resources/policy_and_research/policy_library/briefing_stop_dss_discrimination
- Department for Health and Social Care (2021) Review of drugs: phase two report https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/review-of-drugs-phase-two-report
- Government (2021) Work and Health Unit https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/work-and-health-unit

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2018) Homelessness: duty to refer

- The Kerslake Commission on Homelessness and Rough Sleeping (2021) When We Work Together learning the lessons (Interim Report) https://www.commissiononroughsleeping.org/
- Oxford City Council (2018) Supporting Rough Sleepers with No Local Connection https://mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk/documents/s44838/Appendix%201%20-%20Final%20Report%20of%20the%20No%20Local%20Connection%20Review%20Group.pdf
- Shared Intelligence (2020) An Independent Evaluation of Sector-Led Improvement in Local Government https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/independent-evaluation-sector-led-improvement-local-government
- NHS England and NHS Improvement (2021) Primary Care Networks plans for 2021/22 and 2022/23
- Manchester City Council (2021) What we're doing to help homeless people: A Bed Every Night scheme
- https://secure.manchester.gov.uk/info/200117/homeless_people/7586/what_were_doing_to_help_homeless_people/2
 Watts, B, McMordie, L, Espinoza, M, Welker, D & Johnsen, S (2021) Greater Manchester's A Bed Every Night programme: An independent evaluation (Summary Report) https://researchportal.hw.ac.uk/en/publications/greater-manchesters-a-bed-every-night-programme-an-independent-ev-2
- Midlands and Lancashire NHS Commissioning Support Unit (2021) Homelessness and the response to COVID-19: learning from lockdown: Data and data sharing (Final report) https://www.strategyunitwm.nhs.uk/publications
- Greater London Authority (2021) Rough sleeping in London (CHAIN reports) https://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/chain-reports
- Greater Manchester Combined Authority (2021) Draft Greater Manchester Homelessness Prevention Strategy https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/homelessness/
- Midlands and Lancashire NHS Commissioning Support Unit (2021) Homelessness and the response to COVID-19: learning from lockdown: Data and data sharing (Final report) https://www.strategyunitwm.nhs.uk/publications
- Healthy London (2021) London Homeless Health Covid-19 Response Resources https://www.healthylondon.org/our-work/homeless-health/covid-19-resources/#heading11

- 36 St Mungo's (2020) Knocked back: Failing to support people sleeping rough with drug and alcohol problems is costing lives https://www.mungos.org/publication/knocked-back-full-research/
- Fitzpatrick, S., Mackie, P., Pawson, H., Watts, B., Wood, J. (2021) The COVID-19 Crisis Response to Homelessness in Great Britain:

 Interim Report https://housingevidence.ac.uk/publications/the-covid-19-crisis-response-to-homelessness-in-great-britain/ UK

 Collaborative Centre for Housing Evidence
- The Kerslake Commission on Homelessness and Rough Sleeping (2021) When We Work Together learning the lessons (Interim Report) https://www.commissiononroughsleeping.org/
- The King's Fund (2021) Integrated care systems explained: making sense of systems, places and neighbourhoods https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/integrated-care-systems-explained
- Groundswell (2016) More than a Statistic https://groundswell.org.uk/publications/
- NHS (2019) How to register with a GP practice https://www.nhs.uk/using-the-nhs/nhs-services/gps/how-to-register-with-a-gp-practice/
- Society Of Local Authority Chief Executives (2021) Delivering Together for Residents https://solace.org.uk/policy/reports-guides/
- NHS (2019) The NHS Long Term Plan https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/
- NHS (2019) Rough sleepers in homeless hotspots to benefit from NHS mental health outreach
- https://www.england.nhs.uk/2019/10/rough-sleepers-in-homeless-hotspots-to-benefit-from-nhs-mental-health-outreach/ NHS (2019) NHS Mental Health Implementation Plan 2019/20 — 2023-24 https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-mental-health-implementation-plan-2019-20-2023-24/
- St Mungo's (2016) Stop the Scandal: an investigation into mental health and rough sleeping https://www.mungos.org/publication/stop-scandal-investigation-mental-health-rough-sleeping/
- Homeless Link/Public Health England (2014) Preventing homelessness to improve health and wellbeing: Putting the Evidence into Practice https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/preventing-homelessness-to-improve-health-and-wellbeing
- ONS (2020) Deaths of homeless people in England and Wales: 2019
 https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/ bulletins/
 deathsofhomelesspeopleinenglandandwales/2019registrations
- 49 St Mungo's (2020) Knocked back: Failing to support people sleeping rough with drug and alcohol problems is costing lives https://www.mungos.org/publication/knocked-back-full-research/
- Bowen M., Marwick S., Marshall T., Saunders K., Burwood S., Yahyouche A., et al. (2019) Multimorbidity and emergency department visits by a homeless population: a database study in specialist general practice https://bjgp.org/content/69/685/e515#xref-ref-6-1
- Centre for Housing Policy, University of York/Crisis (2015) At what cost? An estimation of the financial costs of single homelessness in the UK https://www.crisis.org.uk/ending-homelessness/homelessness-knowledge-hub/cost-of-homelessness/at-what-cost-2015/
- 52 Society Of Local Authority Chief Executives (2021) *Delivering Together for Residents* https://solace.org.uk/news_and_press/delivering-together-for-residents-a-joint-solace-nhs-report/
- Crisis (2020) A foot in the door: Experiences of the Homelessness Reduction Act https://www.crisis.org.uk/ending-homelessness/homelessness-knowledge-hub/services-and-interventions/a-foot-in-the-door-experiences-of-the-homelessness-reduction-act-2020/
- MHCLG (2018) Rough Sleeping Strategy https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-rough-sleeping-strategy
- St Mungo's (2018) Dying on the Streets: The case for moving quickly to end rough sleeping https://www.mungos.org/publication/dying/
- Figures published by CHAIN and H-CLIC show continued new flow of people experiencing homelessness during the pandemic; GLA (2021) CHAIN annual report Greater London April 2020 March 2021 https://data.london.gov.uk/ dataset/chain-reports; MHCLG (2021) Statutory homelessness in England: October to December 2020 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/statutory-homelessness-in-england-october-to-december-2020
- MHCLG (2021) Coronavirus (COVID-19) emergency accommodation survey data: January 2021 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-COVID-19-emergency-accommodation-survey-data-january-2021
- Greater Manchester NHS Foundation Trust Poor mental health affects most homeless people to help we need to know them
- https://www.gmmh.nhs.uk/news/poor-mental-health-affects-most-homeless-people-to-help-we-need-to-know-them-28 | Sanders B., Albanese, F., (forthcoming) The homelessness response to the COVID-19 pandemic what works and what have we leant? A rapid evidence review to support the Kerslake Commission on homelessness and rough sleeping. Crisis
- 60 St Mungo's (2018) Dying on the Streets: The case for moving quickly to end rough sleeping https://www.mungos.org/publication/dving/
- Department for Health and Social Care (2021) Review of drugs: phase two report https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/review-of-drugs-phase-two-report
- The Kerslake Commission on Homelessness and Rough Sleeping (2021) When We Work Together learning the lessons (Interim Report) https://www.commissiononroughsleeping.org/
- 63 Crisis (2017) Ending rough sleeping: what works? An international evidence review https://www.crisis.org.uk/ending-homelessness/homelessness-knowledge-hub/services-and-interventions/ending-rough-sleeping-what-works-an-international-evidence-review/
- Homeless Link (2018) The Future Hostel: The role of hostels in helping to end homelessness https://www.homeless.org.uk/facts/our-research/supported-housing-and-hostels
- Homeless Link (2014) No Second Night Across England https://www.homeless.org.uk/our-work/campaigns/policy-and-lobbying-priorities/no-second-night-out-campaign#:~:text=No%20second%20night%20out%20across,Night%20Out%20services%20are%20working
- House of Commons Library (2021) Rough sleeping (England) Briefing Paper Number 02007 https://commonslibrary. parliament.uk/research-briefings/sn02007/
- Turley, H. Scullion L., Brown, P. (2014) No Second Night Out Greater Manchester and Street Buddies: An Evaluation for Riverside https://pure.hud.ac.uk/en/publications/no-second-night-out-greater-manchester-and-street-buddies-an-eval
- Homeless Link (2014) No Second Night Across England https://www.homeless.org.uk/our-work/campaigns/policy-and-lobbying-priorities/no-second-night-out-campaign#:~:text=No%20second%20night%20out%20across,Night%20Out%20services%20are%20working
- Fitzpatrick, S., Mackie, P., Pawson, H., Watts, B., Wood, J. (2021) The COVID-19 crisis response to homelessness in Great Britain (Interim Report) https://housingevidence.ac.uk/publications/the-covid-19-crisis-response-to-homelessness-in-great-britain/. UK Collaborative Centre for Housing Evidence

- 70 Crisis (2021) The homelessness monitor: England 2021 https://www.crisis.org.uk/ending-homelessness/homelessness-knowledge-hub/homelessness-monitor/
- Inside Housing (2020) Communal shelters for homeless people cannot belong in our future https://www.insidehousing.co.uk/
- 72 Coalition for the homeless (2020) Covid-19 and homelessness in New York City https://www.coalitionforthehomeless.org/covid-19/
- Housing Justice (2021) A New Season for Night Shelters: Research Report https://housingjustice.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/ANewSeason-Spreads-LR.pdf
- Cookson, E. Orchard, B (2021) Housing and health: Working together to respond to rough sleeping during Covid-19. St Mungo's https://www.mungos.org/publication/housing-and-health-working-together-to-respond-to-rough-sleeping-during-covid-19/
- 76 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2021) COVID-19: provision of night shelters https://www.gov.uk/guidance/covid-19-provision-of-night-shelters
- Healthy London Partnership (2021) Webinar: Covid-19 infection control in homeless accommodation settings https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=oTN7b1OCplg
- 78 Crisis (2021) The homelessness monitor: England 2021 https://www.crisis.org.uk/ending-homelessness/homelessness-knowledge-hub/homelessness-monitor/
- Homeless Link The Supported Housing Alliance https://www.homeless.org.uk/supported-housing-alliance
- National Housing Federation (2021) Spring Budget 2021: National Housing Federation submission: Building back safer, better and stronger https://www.housing.org.uk/globalassets/files/resource-files/spring-budget-2021---nhf-submission.pdf
- National Housing Federation Supported Housing https://www.housing.org.uk/our-work/supported-housing/
- Sitra (2015) Estimating the Need for Supported Housing http://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/pub.housing.org.uk/Sitra_ Supported_Housing_Needs_Assessment_Report.pdf
- National Housing Federation/Housing LIN (2020) Supported housing for people with long-term care and support needs https://prod.housing.org.uk/globalassets/files/long-term-delivery-of-supported-housing.pdf
- Homeless Link (2018) The Future Hostel: The role of hostels in helping to end homelessness https://www.homeless.org.uk/sites/default/files/site-attachments/The%20Future%20Hostel_June%202018.pdf
- Centre for Homelessness Impact (2020) Accommodation-based programmes for individuals experiencing or at risk of homelessness: a systematic review and network meta-analysis https://www.homelessnessimpact.org/post/systematic-review-on-accommodation
- Crisis (2018) Everybody In: How to end homelessness in Great Britain https://www.crisis.org.uk/ending-homelessness/ homelessness-knowledge-hub/international-plans-to-end-homelessness/everybody-in-how-to-end-homelessness-in-great-britain-2018/
- Healthwatch Hackney and City/Hackney Mind (2018) Single homelessness and mental health in Hackney: An insight into the experiences of single homeless people with mental health needs https://www.healthwatch.co.uk/reports-library/single-homelessness-and-mental-health-hackney
- Centre for Homelessness Impact (2020) This is what it's like to stay in a 'high risk homeless hostel' https://www.homelessnessimpact.org/post/this-is-what-its-like-to-stay-in-a-high-risk-homeless-hostel
- Homeless Link (2018) The Future Hostel: The role of hostels in helping to end homelessness https://www.homeless.org.uk/facts/our-research/supported-housing-and-hostels
- Homeless Link (2020) Support for people experiencing single homeless in England: Annual Review 2019 https://www.homeless.org.uk/facts/our-research/annual-review-of-single-homelessness-support-in-england
- Homeless Link (2014) Evidence Review on Homeless Hostels
- 92 Ibid
- Department for Work and Pensions (2010) 'Exempt' and supported accommodation https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/exempt-and-supported-accommodation-rr714
- 94 Ihid
- Commonweal Housing (2019) Exempt from Responsibility? Ending Social Injustice in Exempt Accommodation https://www.commonwealhousing.org.uk/unregulated-exempt-accommodation
- Inside Housing (2021) The Wild West exempt accommodation sector requires urgent and joined-up accountability https://www.insidehousing.co.uk/comment/comment/the-wild-west-exempt-accommodation-sector-requires-urgent-and-joined-up-accountability-71268
- The Guardian (2021) 'I have survived, literally': a teenager's experience of unregulated housing https://www.theguardian.com/society/2021/jan/06/i-have-survived-literally-a-teenagers-experience-of-unregulated-housing
- Commonweal Housing (2019) Exempt from Responsibility? Ending Social Injustice in Exempt Accommodation https://www.commonwealhousing.org.uk/unregulated-exempt-accommodation
- Department for Work and Pensions and the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (2021) Pilots to improve supported housing for vulnerable people extended https://www.gov.uk/government/news/pilots-to-improve-supported-housing-for-vulnerable-people-extended
- Inside Housing (2021) As the housing sector's trade body, we are concerned about the rise in exempt accommodation providers https://www.insidehousing.co.uk/comment/as-the-housing-sectors-trade-body-we-are-concerned-about-the-rise-in-exempt-accommodation-providers-72066
- 101 accommodation-providers-72066
 102 Pleace, N., Bretherton, J. (2019) The cost effectiveness of Housing First in England https://eprints.whiterose.ac.uk/145440/
 The Centre for Social Justice (2021) Close to home: Delivering a national Housing First programme in England https://www.centreforsocialjustice.org.uk/library/close-to-home-delivering-a-national-housing-first-programme-in-england
- load libid.

 Housing First England/Homeless Link (2020) The picture of Housing First in England 2020 https://hfe.homeless.org.uk/picture-housing-first
- 105 Ibid.
- Burnham, A., Rotheram S., Street, A. (2021) Scheme that breaks cycle of homelessness is blueprint for future https://www.thetimes.co.uk/article/scheme-that-breaks-cycle-of-homelessness-is-blueprint-for-future-f887r5bd3TheTimes
- 107 Crane et al., (2016) Rebuilding Lives: Formerly homeless people's experiences of independent living and their longer-term outcomes https://www.kcl.ac.uk/scwru/res/roles/rebuilding
- Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (2019) Policy statement on rents for social housing https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/781746/Policy_Statement.pdf

- 109 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2019) Rents for social housing from 2020: Government response to the consultation setting: social housing (England) https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/rents-for-social-housingfrom-2020-to-2021
- Crane et al., (2016) Rebuilding Lives: Formerly homeless people's experiences of independent living and their longer-term outcomes https://www.kcl.ac.uk/scwru/res/roles/rebuilding
- Jones K., Gibbons A., Brown P. (2019) Assessing the impact of Housing First in Brighton and Westminster https://www.mungos.org/publication/housing-first-research-full/
- Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (2021) Social Housing Lettings: April 2019 to March 2020, England – April 2021 Update https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/announcements/social-housing-lettings-in-england-april-2019-to-march-2020-april-2021-update
- National Housing Federation (2020) People in Housing Need: A comprehensive analysis of the scale and shape of housing need in England today https://www.housing.org.uk/resources/people-in-housing-need/
- Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (2021) Social Housing Lettings: April 2019 to March 2020, England – April 2021 Update https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/announcements/social-housing-lettings-in-england-april-2019-to-march-2020-april-2021-update
- Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (2020) Live tables on Affordable Housing Supply https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-affordable-housing-supply
- Housing, Communities and Local Government (2020) Building more social housing https://committees.parliament.uk/committee/17/housing-communities-and-local-government-committee/publications/reports-responses/
- House of Commons Library (2021) What is affordable housing?, Briefing Paper Number 07747 https://researchbriefings.files.
- Housing, Communities and Local Government (2020) Building more social housing https://committees.parliament.uk/committee/17/housing-communities-and-local-government-committee/publications/reports-responses/
- The Kerslake Commission on Homelessness and Rough Sleeping (2021) When We Work Together learning the lessons (Interim Report) https://www.commissiononroughsleeping.org/
- This data is available at individual tenancy-level social housing data from the Continuous Record of Social Housing (CORE). This dataset is collated by DLUHC and made available through the UK Data Service (https://beta.ukdataservice.ac.uk/datacatalogue/studies/study?id=7603)
- St Mungo's (2020) Home for Good: The role of social housing in ending rough sleeping https://www.mungos.org/publication/home-for-good-the-role-of-social-housing-in-ending-rough-sleeping-summary-report/
- l22 Ibid.
- 123 Ibid.
- Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2021) The charter for social housing residents: social housing white paper https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-charter-for-social-housing-residents-social-housing-white-paper/the-charter-for-social-housing-residents-social-housing-white-paper
- Crisis (2018) Everybody In: How to end homelessness in Great Britain https://www.crisis.org.uk/ending-homelessness/ homelessness-knowledge-hub/international-plans-to-end-homelessness/everybody-in-how-to-end-homelessness-in-great-britain-2018/
- Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2020) Statutory Homelessness Annual Report, 2019-20, England https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/923123/Annual_ Statutory_Homelessness_Release_2019-20.pdf
- Greater London Authority (2020) CHAIN Annual Report Greater London: April 2019 March 2020 https://data.london.gov. uk/ dataset/chain-reports
- Bramley, G. (2018) Housing supply requirements across Great Britain https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/239700/crisis_housing_supply_requirements_across_great_britain_2018.pdf
- Housing, Communities and Local Government Committee Protecting the homeless and the private rented sector: MHCLG's response to Covid-19 HC 1329 2019-21 https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/5342/documents/53217/default/
- St Mungo's (2020) Home for Good: The role of social housing in ending rough sleeping https://www.mungos.org/publication/home-for-good-the-role-of-social-housing-in-ending-rough-sleeping-summary-report/
- Shelter/Crisis (2014) A Roof Over My Head:The final report of the Sustain project https://www.crisis.org.uk/ending-homelessness/homelessness-knowledge-hub/housing-models-and-access/a-roof-over-my-head-2014/
- Shelter/British Gas (2014) Safe and Decent Homes: Solutions for a better private rented sector https://www.readkong.com/page/safe-and-decent-homes-solutions-for-a-better-private-9559868
- Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (2020) English Housing Survey Headline Report, 2019-20 https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/english-housing-survey
- St Mungo's (2020) Home for Good: The role of social housing in ending rough sleeping https://www.mungos.org/publication/home-for-good-the-role-of-social-housing-in-ending-rough-sleeping-summary-report/
- National Housing Federation/Shelter (2018) Stop DSS Discrimination: Ending prejudice against renters on housing benefit https://england.shelter.org.uk/professional_resources/policy_and_research/policy_library/briefing_stop_dss_discrimination
- 136 YouGov for Shelter, base: English private renters: 3792. Survey 2010 for the late of t
- Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2021) English Housing Survey 2019-2020 https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/english-housing-survey
- Shelter (2014) Can't complain: why poor conditions prevail in the private rented sector https://england.shelter.org.uk/professional_resources/policy_and_research/policy_library/report_cant_complain
- The Renters Reform Coalition (2021) Safety https://rentersreformcoalition.co.uk/safety#:~:text=At%20present%2C%20 there%20is%20no,on%20who%20becomes%20a%20landlord.&text=A%20national%20register%20of%20all,authorities%20 to%20target%20criminal%20landlords
- The Kerslake Commission on Homelessness and Rough Sleeping (2021) When We Work Together learning the lessons (Interim Report) https://www.commissiononroughsleeping.org/
- Housing, Communities and Local Government Committee Protecting the homeless and the private rented sector: MHCLG's response to Covid-19 HC 1329 2019-21 https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/5342/documents/53217/default/
- Citizens Advice (2021) New Year, Same Arrears: How the pandemic is leaving private renters with unmanageable debt https://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/Global/CitizensAdvice/Housing%20Publications/New%20year,%20same%20arrears.pdf
- National Audit Office (2017) Department for Communities and Local Government Homelessness HC308 2017-19 https://www.nao.org.uk/report/homelessness/

- Office for National Statistics (2021) Rough sleeping in the UK: 2002 to 2021 https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/housing/articles/roughsleepingintheuk/2002to2021
- Greater London Authority (2021) Rough Sleeping in London (CHAIN Reports) https://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/chain-reports
- Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (2021) Rough sleeping snapshot in England: autumn 2020 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/rough-sleeping-snapshot-in-england-autumn-2020/rough-sleeping-snapshot-in-england-autumn-2020/
- 147 Crisis (2019) A Home For All: Understanding Migrant Homelessness in Great Britain https://www.crisis.org.uk/ending-homelessness/homelessness-knowledge-hub/types-of-homelessness/a-home-for-all-understanding-migrant-homelessness-in-great-britain-2019/
- 148 Stewart S. and Sanders, C. (forthcoming). Cultivated Invisibility and Migrants' Experiences of Homelessness During the COVID-19 Pandemic
- Homeless Link (2021) Supporting people with no recourse to public funds (NRPF): Guidance for homelessness services https://www.homeless.org.uk/our-work/resources/supporting-people-with-no-recourse-to-public-funds
- MHCLG (2021) Government Response to the Housing, Communities and Local Government Select Committee report on protecting the homeless and the private rented sector https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/protecting-the-homeless-and-the-private-rented-sector-government-response-to-the-select-committee-report/protecting-the-homeless-and-the-private-rented-sector-government-response-to-the-select-committee-report
- Whitehead, C., Rotolo, M. 2021. Support for homeless non-UK nationals with no access to public funds during COVID-19

 A Rapid Evidence Review. London School of Economics
- Homeless Link (2021) Supporting people with no recourse to public funds (NRPF): Guidance for homelessness services https://www.homeless.org.uk/our-work/resources/supporting-people-with-no-recourse-to-public-funds
- The Children's Society/Project 17/The Unity Project (2020) Domestic Abuse in Families with No Recourse to Public Funds (NRPF) Briefing for the Domestic Abuse Bill 2020 https://www.project17.org.uk/policy/briefings-and-reports/briefings/domestic-abuse-in-families-with-no-recourse-to-public-funds-(nrpf)/
- 154 St Martin in the Fields Frontline Network (2019) Access Denied: The Cost Of The 'No Recourse To Public Funds' Policy https://firontlinenetwork.org.uk/news-and-views/2019/06/access-denied-the-cost-of-the-no-recourse-to-public-funds-policy/
- The Children's Society (2020) A Lifeline for All https://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/information/professionals/resources/lifeline-for-all#findings
- Stewart S. and Sanders, C. (forthcoming). Cultivated Invisibility and Migrants' Experiences of Homelessness During the COVID-19 Pandemic
- 157 Ibid.
- Woolley, A. (2019) Access Denied: The cost of the 'no recourse to public funds policy https://static1.squarespace.com/static/590060b0893fc01f949b1c8a/t/5d0bb6100099f70001faad9c/1561048725178/Access+Denied+-+the+cost+of+the+No+Recourse+to+Public+Funds+policy.+The+Unity+Project.+June+2019.pdf
- NRPF Network (2020) NRPF Connect Annual data report 2019-2020: Local Authority support for people with no recourse to public funds (NRPF) https://www.nrpfnetwork.org.uk/-/media/microsites/nrpf/documents/nrpf-connect/data-report-201920. pdf?la=en&hash=A9FAB301F6FA51DC7F6F42F79236150C8DC568DA
- London Councils No Recourse to Public Funds (NRPF) Accessed 24 May 2021. https://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/our-key-themes/asylum-migration-and-refugees/no-recourse-public-funds
- Refugee Council (2014) 28 days later: experiences of new refugees in the UK https://www.refugeecouncil.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/28_days_later.pdf
- 162 Crisis (2018) Everybody In: How to end homelessness in Great Britain https://www.crisis.org.uk/ending-homelessness/the-planto-end-homelessness-full-version/solutions/chapter-12-ending-migrant-homelessness/
- Shelter (2006) Street Homelessness https://england.shelter.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0011/48458/Factsheet_Street_ Homelessness_Aug_2006.pdf
- Whitehead, C., Rotolo, M. 2021. Support for homeless non-UK nationals with no access to public funds during COVID-19 A Rapid Evidence Review. London School of Economics
- Citizens Advice (2020a), Citizens Advice Reveals Nearly 1.4m Have No Access to Welfare Safety Net. Accessed 8 June 2021. http://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/about-us/about-us/media/press-releases/citizens-advice-reveals-nearly-14m-have-no-access-to-welfare-safety-net/
- Stewart S. and Sanders, C. (forthcoming). Cultivated Invisibility and Migrants' Experiences of Homelessness During the COVID-19 Pandemic
- The Joint Council for the Welfare of Immigrants (2021) Migrants with No Recourse to Public Funds' Experiences During the COVID-19 Pandemic https://www.jcwi.org.uk/Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=17805c35-d3bc-4251-9ada-6dfdae8dbca6
- 168 Kerslake Commission on Homelessness and Rough Sleeping (2021) When We Work Together learning the lessons (Interim Report) https://usercontent.one/wp/www.commissiononroughsleeping.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/KRSC_Interim_Report_0721.pdf
- 169 Stewart S. and Sanders, C. (forthcoming). Cultivated Invisibility and Migrants' Experiences of Homelessness During the COVID-19 Pandemic
- MHCLG (2021) Protecting the homeless and the private rented sector: MHCLG's response to Covid-19
- https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/5342/documents/53217/default/
- MHCLG (2021) Protecting the homeless and the private rented sector: MHCLG's response to Covid-19
- https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/5342/documents/53217/default/
- Inside Housing (2021) Government tells councils to close 'Everyone In' hotels as a condition of rough-sleeper funding https://www.insidehousing.co.uk/news/news/government-tells-councils-to-close-everyone-in-hotels-as-a-condition-of-rough-sleeper-funding-71426
- Housing, Communities and Local Government Committee Protecting the homeless and the private rented sector: MHCLG's response to Covid-19 HC 1329 2019-21 https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/5342/documents/53217/default/
- Whitehead, C., Rotolo, M. (2021) Support for homeless non-UK nationals with no access to public funds during COVID-19 A Rapid Evidence Review. London School of Economics
- Homes for Cathy (2019) Our Commitments https://homesforcathy.org.uk/commitments/
- Inside Housing news (2021) Government tells councils to close 'Everyone In' hotels as a condition of rough-sleeper funding https://www.insidehousing.co.uk/news/news/government-tells-councils-to-close-everyone-in-hotels-as-a-condition-of-rough-sleeper-funding-71426

- National Housing Federation (2020) Helping people with No Recourse to Public Funds avoid homelessness
- https://www.housing.org.uk/globalassets/files/resource-files/helping-people-with-no-recourse-to-public-funds.pdf
 Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (2020) Rough sleeping snapshot in England: Autumn 2020
 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/rough-sleeping-snapshot-in-england-autumn-2020/rough-sleeping-snapshot-in-england-autumn-2020#demographics
- Bretherton J., Pleace N. (2018) Women and Rough Sleeping: A Critical Review of Current Research and Methodology https://www.mungos.org/publication/women-and-rough-sleeping-a-critical-review/
- 180 Ibid.
- Maycock et al (2015) Women, Homelessness and Service Provision http://womenshomelessness.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/Women-Homelessness-and-Service-Provision.pdf
- Bretherton and Pleace (2018) Women and Rough Sleeping: A Critical Review of Current Research and Methodology https://www.mungos.org/publication/women-and-rough-sleeping-a-critical-review/
- No More Taboo (2016) The experiences of menstruation by homeless women: a preliminary report
- https://menstrualhygieneday.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/Homeless-Menstruation-Report.pdf
- St Mungo's (201) Women at St Mungo's https://www.mungos.org/app/uploads/2019/03/St-Mungos-Womens-Strategy-2019-22-web.pdf?x74044
- Vora S. (2020) The Realities of Period Poverty: How Homelessness Shapes Women's Lived Experiences of Menstruation https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-981-15-0614-7_4
- St Mungo's (2014) Rebuilding Shattered Lives https://www.mungos.org/publication/rebuilding-shattered-lives-final-report Homeless Link (2019) Support for people experiencing single homeless in England: Annual Review 2019 https://www.homeless.org.uk/sites/default/files/site-attachments/Single%20Homelessness%20Support%20in%20England%20-%20Annual%20
- Review%202019.pdf
 Holly, J. (2017) Mapping the Maze https://weareagenda.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/Mapping-the-Maze-final-report-for-publication.pdf
- 189 Ibid.
- Women's Aid Federation of England (2020) The Domestic Abuse Report 2020: The Hidden Housing Crisis https://www.womensaid.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/The-Domestic-Abuse-Report-2020-The-Hidden-Housing-Crisis-Summary.pdf
- Kerslake Commission on Homelessness and Rough Sleeping (2021) When We Work Together learning the lessons (Interim Report) https://usercontent.one/wp/www.commissiononroughsleeping.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/KRSC_Interim_
 Report_0721.pdf
- 192 Ibid.
- Sanders B., Albanese, F., The homelessness response to the COVID-19 pandemic what works and what have we leant? A rapid evidence review to support the Kerslake Commission on homelessness and rough sleeping. Crisis
- Centrepoint Youth Homelessness Databank (2020) Beyond the numbers: The scale of youth homelessness in the UK https://centrepoint.org.uk/media/4598/databank-report-2020.pdf
- Local Government Association (2017) The Impact of Homelessness on Health: A Guide for Local Authorities https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/22.7%20HEALTH%20AND%20HOMELESSNESS_v08_WEB_0.PDF
- Centrepoint Preventing youth homelessness: What works? https://centrepoint.org.uk/youth-homelessness/
- St Basil's (2021) Young People In a report on young people who were assisted by the Everyone In programme across the West Midlands during the first national lockdown https://stbasils.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/Young-People-In-St-Basils-Deep-Dive-report-FINAL-pdf.pdf
- Centrepoint (2018) Making Homeless Young People Count: The Scale of Youth Homelessness in the UK
- https://centrepoint.org.uk/media/3069/making-homeless-young-people-count.pdf
- Centrepoint (2019) No place to stay: Experiences of youth homelessness https://centrepoint.org.uk/media/4204/2-no-place-to-stay-experiences-of-youth-homelessness.pdf
- Shelter (2005) Young people and homelessness https://assets.ctfassets.net/6sxvmndnpn0s/1BEUFVA11Zd4zv8ouXymgS/e41965484db762d12074cc74d8218e6c/Factsheet_Young_People_and_Homelessness_Nov_2005.pdf
- Z2K Fighting poverty (2020) Blunt, bureaucratic and broken: How Universal Credit is failing people in vulnerable situations https://www.z2k.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/Blunt-bureaucratic-and-broken-double-page.pdf
- Centrepoint (2020) Chance to Move On: make Universal Credit fair for young people living independently https://centrepoint.org.uk/media/4170/chance-to-move-on-2020-briefing.pdf
- Homeless Link (2018) Young and Homeless 2018 https://www.homeless.org.uk/sites/default/files/site-attachments/
- Centrepoint (2019) Escaping the Trap: Supporting homeless young people affected by youth violence and criminal exploitation https://centrepoint.org.uk/media/4206/4-escaping-the-trap-supporting-homeless-young-people-affected-by-youth-violence-and-criminal-exploitation.pdf
- 205 Centrepoint (2019) No place to stay: Experiences of youth homelessness https://centrepoint.org.uk/media/4204/2-no-place-to-stay-experiences-of-youth-homelessness.pdf
- Centrepoint (2021) The mental health needs of homeless young people https://centrepoint.org.uk/media/4650/prevalence-of-mental-health-need-report.pdf
- Centrepoint (2019) No place to stay. Experiences of youth homelessness https://centrepoint.org.uk/media/4204/2-no-place-to-stay-experiences-of-youth-homelessness.pdf
- Centrepoint (2021) A year like no other: Youth homelessness during the COVID pandemic https://centrepoint.org.uk/media/4773/a-year-like-no-other.pdf
- 209 Institute for Public Policy Research (2020) Building a Post-Brexit Immigration System for the Economic Recovery https://www.ippnorg/files/2020-11/post-brexit-migrationnov20.pdf
- Centrepoint (2021) A year like no other: Youth homelessness during the COVID pandemic https://centrepoint.org.uk/media/4773/a-year-like-no-other:pdf
- 211 Ibid.
- 212 Ibic
- Local Government Association (2017) The Impact of Homelessness on Health: A Guide for Local Authorities
- https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/22.7%20HEALTH%20AND%20HOMELESSNESS_v08_WEB_0.PDF Kerslake Commission on Homelessness and Rough Sleeping (2021) When We Work Together learning the lessons (Interim Report) https://usercontent.one/wp/www.commissiononroughsleeping.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/KRSC_Interim_Report_0721.pdf

- Sanders B., Albanese, F., (forthcoming) The homelessness response to the COVID-19 pandemic what works and what have
- we leant? A rapid evidence review to support the Kerslake Commission on homelessness and rough sleeping. Crisis Local Government Association (2017) The Impact of Homelessness on Health: A Guide for Local Authorities
- https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/22.7%20HEALTH%20AND%20HOMELESSNESS_v08_WEB_0.PDF
 The Albert Kennedy Trust (2014) LGBT Youth Homelessness: A UK National Scoping of Cause, Prevalence, Response and
- Outcome https://www.akt.org.uk/Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=c0f29272-512a-45e8-9f9b-0b76e477baf1
 Stonewall and YouGov (2018) LGBT in Britain Home and Communities: www.stonewall.org.uk/lgbt-britain-home-and-communities
- Greater London Authority (2018) CHAIN Annual Report Greater London: April 2017-March 2018 https://airdrive-secure.s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/london/dataset/chain-reports/2018-06-28T08%3A39%3A00/Greater%20London%20full%20 2017-18.pdf?X-Amz-Algorithm=AWS4-HMAC-SHA256&X-Amz-Credential=AKIAJJDIMAIVZJDICKHA%2F20210913%2 Feu-west-1%2Fs3%2Faws4_request&X-Amz-Date=20210913T105939Z&X-Amz-Expires=300&X-Amz-Signature=83b7b 365194b7df95121595cf782be01712eddfda031c88993338c1df902ffe6&X-Amz-SignedHeaders=host
- The Albert Kennedy Trust (2014) LGBT Youth Homelessness: A UK National Scoping of Cause, Prevalence, Response and
- Outcome https://www.akt.org.uk/Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=c0f29272-512a-45e8-9f9b-0b76e477baf1 Independent (2016) More than one third of trans employees have 'quit their job due to work discrimination' https://www.
- independent.co.uk/news/business/news/transgender-discrimination-gender-equality-quit-job-work-a6983706.html
 The Albert Kennedy Trust (2014) *LGBT Youth Homelessness: A UK National Scoping of Cause, Prevalence, Response and Outcome* https://www.akt.org.uk/Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=c0f29272-512a-45e8-9f9b-0b76e477baf1
- The Albert Kennedy Trust. (2021) The lgbtq+ youth homelessness report. https://www.akt.org.uk/Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=59eae91c-ee80-4b6b-8ecb-158edfeeaccd
- 224 Ibid.
- 225 Ibid.
- 226 Ibid
- The Outside Project/Homeless Link (2020) Supporting LGBTIQ+ people in homelessness services: An introduction for frontline staff https://www.homeless.org.uk/sites/default/files/site-attachments/Supporting%20LGBTIQ%2B%20people%20in%20 homelessness%20services%20June2020.pdf
- Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2020) Ethnicity facts and figures: Statutory homelessness https://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk/housing/homelessness/statutory-homelessness/latest
- Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (2021) Live tables on homelessness https://www.gov.uk/
- government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-homelessness#statutory-homelessness-live-tables
 Social Metrics Commission (2020) Measuring Poverty 2020 https://socialmetricscommission.org.uk/wp-content/
 uploads/2020/06/Measuring-Poverty-2020-Web.pdf
- The Human City Institute (2016) Forty Years of Struggle: A Window on Race and Housing, Disadvantage and Exclusion https://bmenational.files.wordpress.com/2016/10/forty-years-of-struggle-a-window-on-race-and-housing-disadvantage-and-exclusion1.pdf
- TUC (2020) BME women and work https://www.tuc.org.uk/sites/default/files/2020-10/BMEwomenandwork.pdf
- The London School of Economics and Political Science (2017) Inequalities in the application of welfare sanctions in Britain https://www.lse.ac.uk/International-Inequalities/Assets/Documents/Working-Papers/III-Working-Paper-15-Inequalities-in-the-application-of-welfare-sanctions-in-Britain-de-Vries-Reeves-and-Geiger.pdf
- Elwell-Sutton, T., Deeny, S., Stafford, M. (2020) Emerging findings on the impact of COVID-19 on black and minority ethnic people. https://www.health.org.uk/news-and-comment/charts-and-infographics/emerging-findings-on-the-impact-of-covid-19-on-black-and-min
- Raleigh, V., Holmes, J. 202 I. The health of people from ethnic minority groups in England. https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/health-people-ethnic-minority-groups-england
- Race Equality Foundation (2007) Ethnic inequalities in health: the impact of racism https://raceequalityfoundation.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/03/health-brief3.pdf
- Muennig, P., Murphy, M. (2011) Does Racism Affect Health? Evidence from the United States and the United Kingdom. Journal of Health Politics Policy and Law 36(1):187-214. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/51056666_Does_Racism_Affect_Health_Evidence_from_the_United_States_and_the_United_Kingdom
- ROTA. (2007) Barriers in accessing homeless provision and service needs of Black, Asian and minority ethnic groups in London https://www.rota.org.uk/sites/default/files/webfm/researchpublications/interim_report__-_phase_2-__interviews_with_individuals_2.pdf
- The Bureau of Investigative Journalism (2017) Funding cuts to domestic violence refuges 2010-17 https://www.thebureauinvestigates.com/projects/refuges/open-resources
- Holly (2017) Mapping the Maze: Services for women experiencing multiple disadvantage in England and Wales https://www.mappingthemaze.org.uk/resources/
- Cox, D., Gavrielides, T., Momoh-Abu, R., Shah, S., Smith, D. (2007) The Visible and Hidden Dimension of London's Homelessness, a Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic Account. Addressing the Gaps in Service Provision, Policy and Practice. ROTA.
- https://www.rota.org.uk/sites/default/files/webfm/researchpublications/homelessness_report_final_executive_summary.pdf Siddiqui, H. (2018) Counting the cost: BME women and gender-based violence in the UK https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/newe.12076
- Kerslake Commission on Homelessness and Rough Sleeping (2021) When We Work Together learning the lessons (Interim Report) https://usercontent.one/wp/www.commissiononroughsleeping.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/KRSC_Interim_Report_0721.pdf
- Cabinet Office (2021) COVID-19 Response: Summer 2021. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-response-summer-2021-roadmap/covid-19-response-summer-2021
- Cookson, E. Orchard, B (2021) Housing and health: Working together to respond to rough sleeping during Covid-19. St Mungo's. https://www.mungos.org/publication/housing-and-health-working-together-to-respond-to-rough-sleeping-during-covid-19/
- National Immunisation Management Service (NIMS), Public Health England 8th December 2020 to 30th June 2021 https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2021/07/COVID-19-monthly-announcedvaccinations-08-July-2021.xlsx (8th July 2021) Homeless data London Estimate July 2021

- Brunton-Smith, I. Hopkins, K. (2013) The factors associated with proven re-offending following release from prison: findings from Waves 1 to 3 of SPCR Results from the Surveying Prisoner Crime Reduction (SPCR) longitudinal cohort study of prisoners). Ministry of Justice. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/491119/re-offending-release-waves-1-3-spcr-findings.pdf
- Greater London Authority (2020) Rough sleeping in London (CHAIN reports) https://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/chain-reports
- Greater London Authority (2016) Rough sleeping in London (CHAIN reports) https://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/chain-reports
 Williams, K., Pysner, J., Hopkins, K. (2012) Accommodation, homelessness and reoffending of prisoners: Results from the Surveying Prisoner Crime Reduction (SPCR) survey. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/278806/homelessness-reoffending-prisoners.pdf
- Prison Reform Trust (2016) Home truths: Housing for women in the criminal justice system
- Homeless Link (2011) Better Together: Preventing reoffending and homelessness https://www.homeless.org.uk/facts/our-research/all-research-reports/better-together-preventing-re-offending-and-homelessness
- Social Exclusion Unit (2002) Reducing re-offending by ex-prisoners http://www.prisonstudies.org/resources/reducing-re-offending-ex-prisoners
- National Audit Office (2010) Managing Offenders on Short Custodial Sentences
- Communities and Local Government Committee (2016) Homelessness (Third Report Session 16-17) para. 77 and 85. https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201617/cmselect/cmcomloc/40/40.pdf
- HM Inspectorate of Probation (2020) Accommodation and support for adult offenders in the community and on release from prison in England. https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmiprobation/wp-content/uploads/sites/5/2020/07/FINAL-Accomodation-Thematic-inspection-report-v1.0.pdf
- Nacro (October, 2019) 'People released from prison on a Friday face an almost impossible challenge to get the support they need before the weekend' https://www.nacro.org.uk/news/nacro-news/people-released-from-prison-on-friday-face-almost-impossible-challenge-before-weekend/
- Nacro (2018) Barriers to effective resettlement: Friday prison releases. https://3bx16p38bchl32s0e12di03h-wpengine.netdna-ssl.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/Nacro-Policy-Briefing-Friday-Releases.pdf
- Crisis (2018) Scrap the Act: The Case for Repeal https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/240635/scrap_the_vagrancy_act_2018.pdf
 Lee, S (2019) Why it is time to repeal the Vagrancy Act of 1824 https://www.crimeandjustice.org.uk/resources/why-it-time-
- Lee, S (2019) Why it is time to repeal the Vagrancy Act of 1824 https://www.crimeandjustice.org.uk/resources/why-it-time repeal-vagrancy-act-1824
- House of Commons. (2021) Rough sleeping (England) https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/sn02007/
 Sanders, B. Albanese, F. (2017) An examination of the scale and impact of enforcement interventions on street homeless people in England and Wales. https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/237532/an_examination_of_the_scale_and_impact_of_
- enforcement_2017.pdf
 House of Commons (2021) Rough Sleepers: Enforcement Powers (England) https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/CBP-7836/CBP-7836.pdf
- No national data on prosecutions under section 4 is available. In response to a Freedom of Information Request, the Metropolitan Police disclosed figures for London https://www.met.police.uk/SysSiteAssets/foi-media/metropolitan-police/disclosure_2016/october_2016/information-rights-unit---arrestsprosecutionsconvictions-under-section-4-of-the-vagrancy-act-1824
- Crisis (2020) Vagrancy Act (Repeal) Bill https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/244951/draft-vagrancy-act-repeal-bill-17-november-2020.pdf
- Sanders, B. Albanese, F. (2017) An examination of the scale and impact of enforcement interventions on street homeless people in England and Wales. https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/237532/an_examination_of_the_scale_and_impact_of_enforcement_2017.pdf
- 267 Home Office (2021) Grounds for refusal: rough sleeping https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/grounds-for-refusal-rough-sleeping
- Homeless Link (2021) Stand against the rough sleeping Immigration Rules. https://www.homeless.org.uk/stand-against-rough-sleeping-immigration-rules
- Nacro (October, 2019) 'People released from prison on a Friday face an almost impossible challenge to get the support they need before the weekend' https://www.nacro.org.uk/news/nacro-news/people-released-from-prison-on-friday-face-almost-impossible-challenge-before-weekend/
- Department for Health and Social Care (2021) Review of drugs: phase two report https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/review-of-drugs-phase-two-report
- National Audit Office. (2017) Homelessness Summary https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/Homelessness-Summary.pdf
- Inside Housing news (2021) Government tells councils to close 'Everyone In' hotels as a condition of rough-sleeper funding https://www.insidehousing.co.uk/news/news/government-tells-councils-to-close-everyone-in-hotels-as-a-condition-of-rough-sleeper-funding-71426
- Department for Health and Social Care (2021) Review of drugs: phase two report https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/review-of-drugs-phase-two-report
- Nacro (October, 2019) 'People released from prison on a Friday face an almost impossible challenge to get the support they need before the weekend' https://www.nacro.org.uk/news/nacro-news/people-released-from-prison-on-friday-face-almost-impossible-challenge-before-weekend/
- Department for Health and Social Care (2021) Review of drugs: phase two report https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/review-of-drugs-phase-two-report
- National Housing Federation (2020) Helping people with No Recourse to Public Funds avoid homelessness https://www.housing.org.uk/globalassets/files/resource-files/helping-people-with-no-recourse-to-public-funds.pdf

Acknowledgements

The Kerslake Commission is chaired by Lord Bob Kerslake.

Thanks go to the Advisory Board and their supporting officers for their expert advice on this report:

Lord Victor Adebowale, Chair of the NHS Confederation

Dr Ansaf Azhar, Director of Public Health, Oxfordshire County Council

Nickie Aiken MP, Member of Parliament for Cities of London and Westminster, and former leader of Westminster City Council

Cllr Keith Aspden, Leader of City of York Council

Charlotte Bates, Expert Citizens

Bob Blackman MP, Co-chair of the All Party Parliamentary Group on homelessness

David Bogle, CEO of Hightown Housing Association, and Homes for Cathy representative

Andy Burnham, Mayor of Greater Manchester

Tom Copley, Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development (Greater London Authority)

Christina Gray FFPH, Director for Communities and Public Health, Bristol City Council

Rick Henderson, Chief Executive, Homeless Link

Cllr James Jamieson, Chair of the Local Government Association

Taishon Jones, St Mungo's Client Advisory Board member

Gill Leng, National Health and Homelessness Adviser, Public Health England

Dr Bola Owolabi MB BS DFFP MRCGP MSc, Director – Health Inequalities at NHS England and NHS Improvement

Cllr Thomas Renhard, Cabinet Member for Housing Delivery and Homes, Bristol City Council

Cllr Darren Rodwell, London Councils – Housing lead & Leader of Barking and Dagenham Council and Deputy Chair Housing and Planning, London Councils

Catherine Ryder, Director of Policy and Research, National Housing Federation

Jon Sparkes, Chief Executive of Crisis

Cllr Sharon Thompson, Lead Member for Homelessness and Cabinet Member for Vulnerable Children and Families, Birmingham City Council. Chair of West Midlands Combined Authority

Members Advisory Group on Homelessness

Adviser to the Commission Steve Douglas CBE. Chief Executive, St Mungo's

Special thanks to:

Ben Sanders and Francesca Albanese at Crisis for their rapid evidence review on the response to rough sleeping during Covid-19 Christine Whitehead, Martina Rotolo and Jacob Karlsson at the London School of Economics for their rapid evidence review of support for non-UK nationals rough sleeping during Covid-19 All those who contributed evidence to the Kerslake Commission

Our thanks also go to those who contributed their insights and expertise during consultation meetings on the final report:

Jo Allchurch (LGA Senior policy adviser on housing, planning and homelessness); Molly Bishop (GMCA); Olivia Butterworth (Head of Public Participation for NHSE/I); lan Canadine (CHAIN); Pratichi Chatterjee (Crisis); Heather Clarke and Sarah Risby (Westminster City Council); Elsa Corry-Roak, Anna Henry and Zahra Wynne (Revolving Doors); Verena Hutcheson (Reading Borough Council Housing); Councillor Alex Phillips (Head of Campaigns at the Big Issue); Sarah Pickup and Paul Ogden (LGA); Ruth Rankine and Karen Higgins (NHS Confederation); Sam Rodger (NHS Race and Health Observatory); Bobby Sandhu (St Mungo's); Jean Templeton (St Basil's); Lucy Sutton (Association of Directors of Public Health); the NHS Health Inequalities Board Meeting (attended by Dr Bola Owolabi); the Rough Sleeping Strategy Group; Suzannah Young (NHF)

Report authors: Emma Cookson, Liz McCulloch

Thanks to the following for their contributions: Dipika Kulkarni, James Lally, Petra Salva OBE, Holly Smith, Barry Wilson

The
Kerslake Commission
on Homelessness and
Rough Sleeping

www.commissiononroughsleeping.org Kerslake.commission@mungos.org